University of New Hampshire University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository

Doctoral Dissertations

Student Scholarship

Winter 2009

Tracking diet and movement of Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus) using carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes

John Logan University of New Hampshire, Durham

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.unh.edu/dissertation

Recommended Citation

Logan, John, "Tracking diet and movement of Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus) using carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes" (2009). *Doctoral Dissertations*. 516. https://scholars.unh.edu/dissertation/516

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. For more information, please contact nicole.hentz@unh.edu.

TRACKING DIET AND MOVEMENT OF ATLANTIC BLUEFIN TUNA (*THUNNUS THYNNUS*) USING CARBON AND NITROGEN STABLE ISOTOPES

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

JOHN LOGAN BA, Colby College, 2001

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the University of New Hampshire In Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy In Zoology

> > December 2009

UMI Number: 3400342

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3400342 Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

Ues

ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 This thesis has been examined and approved.

M Ant. can

Thesis Director, Maryellen M. Lutcavage Research Associate Professor of Biological Sciences

Richard W. Brill Affiliate Faculty and Director of CMER, The College of William and Mary

le

Erik A. Hobbie Research Associate Professor of Earth, Oceans and Space and Affiliate Associate Professor of Natural Resources

Howed

W. Huntting Howell Professor of Biological Sciences

Simon R. Thorrold Senior Scientist, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution

12/14 09

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Molly Lutcavage for providing me with the opportunity to pursue this research and for all of her guidance throughout this project. I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. Erik Hobbie, Dr. Hunt Howell, Dr. Simon Thorrold, and Dr. Rich Brill for their additional advice and input.

Funding for my research and stipend were provided by several sources. My stipend was initially funded through a U.N.H. Marine Fellowship administered by the Northeast Consortium and then through a grant from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA grant no. NA04NMF4550391) to M. Lutcavage. Additional research funding was provided by the U.N.H. Marine Program.

The collection of samples used in this project was the result of collaborations with members of the fishing industry and academic partners. Among fishing and industry partners, I would like to thank Robert Campbell of Yankee Fisherman's Cooperative, Jamie Foote of Jensen Tuna, Jack Stallings of the FV *Grumpy*, as well as Edward "Cookie" Murray, Jr. and Anthony Mendillo, Jr. of the FV *Cookie Too*. Among academic collaborators, I would like to thank Droplaug Olafsdottir (the Marine Institute of Iceland), Enrique Rodríguez-Marín (Instituto Español de Oceanografía), Steve Turner (NOAA), and Chris Butler (North Carolina State University).

I also received assistance with many of the laboratory and analytical components of this project. For isotope work, I would like to thank several U.N.H. undergraduate students for their help with sample preparation. Richard Doucett and Andrew Ouimette

iii

of the Colorado Plateau and University of New Hampshire Stable Isotope Laboratories assisted with isotope analyses and offered technical insight throughout the project. Rebecca Toppin and Walter Golet also aided me in stomach content analyses. Ben Galuardi provided valuable assistance with several statistical components and sample maps for this project. Finally, I would like to thank the other members of the Large Pelagics Research Center that helped me in various aspects of my research: Marcella Bean-Logan, Erik Chapman, Kara Dodge, Nuno Fragoso, Jennifer Goldstein, Gilad Heinisch, Jessie Knapp, Tim Miller, Andrew Myers, François Royer, and Steve Wilson.

Several components of this dissertation are the product of collaborations towards peer-reviewed manuscripts. Through such collaborations, Tim Jardine, Tim Miller, Stuart Bunn, and Rick Cunjak all provided valuable input to the lipid analysis components of the first chapter of the dissertation. Enrique Rodríguez-Marín and Santiago Barreiro (Instituto Español de Oceanografía) as well as Nicolas Goñi and Haritz Arrizabalaga (AZTI Tecnalia) provided input to the feeding analysis of young bluefin tuna and performed stomach content analyses on samples from the Bay of Biscay. Walter Golet also edited drafts of this latter section. I am thankful to editors and anonymous peer-reviewers for the Journal of Animal Ecology and Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry that provided critical review of these sections.

Finally, I would like to thank all of my family and friends for their support throughout this entire process. In particular, I am grateful to my parents for encouraging my interest in marine science from a young age and to my girlfriend, Sarah, for her unconditional love and support throughout this process.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ack	nowledgementsiii
List	of Tables vi
List	of Figures
Abs	tractx
CH	APTER PAGE
	Introduction1
1	Methods Development and Validation
	Lipid Corrections in Carbon and Nitrogen Stable Isotope Analyses9
2	Trophic Ecology of Atlantic Bluefin Tuna50
	Diet of Young Atlantic Bluefin Tuna in Eastern and Western Atlantic Forage
	Grounds
	Diet of Atlantic Bluefin Tuna in NW Atlantic forage grounds
3	Using Stable Isotopes to Track Atlantic Bluefin Tuna Movements
	Tracking Migratory Routes of Atlantic Bluefin Tuna into Gulf of Mexico Spawning
	Grounds
	How Long Do Bluefin Tuna spend in the Gulf of Maine?149
	Conclusions
	List of References

v

}

LIST OF TABLES

•

Table 1: Marine fish and invertebrate species and tissue types analyzed for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N
as bulk tissue and following lipid extraction using chloroform-methanol
Table 2: Freshwater and marine fish and invertebrate species and tissue types used in
lipid-correction-modeling exercises
Table 3: Model estimates of C:N _{lipid-free} and protein-lipid discrimination for fish liver.
muscle, and whole bodies
Table 4: Statistical comparisons of literature lipid-correction models fit to a dataset of
aquatic species
Table 5: Statistical comparisons of nested lipid-correction models fit to a dataset of
aquatic species
Table 6: Sample collection summary for Atlantic bluefin tuna from the Mid-Atlantic
Bight (MAB)
Table 7: Sample collection summary for Atlantic bluefin tuna from the Bay of Biscay
(BYB)
Table 8: Mean \pm SD prey composition for Bay of Biscay Atlantic bluefin tuna stomach
samples collected during summer and fall from 2000-2006
Table 9: Morisita Horn values for individual prey groups of Atlantic bluefin tuna from
the Mid-Atlantic Bight and Bay of Biscay
Table 10: Mean \pm SD for Bay of Biscay liver and muscle carbon and nitrogen values
from Atlantic bluefin tuna
Table 11: Mean \pm SD prey item carbon, nitrogen, and C:N values from the Mid-Atlantic
Bight and Bay of Biscay73
Table 12: Mixing model estimates of prey contributions to Atlantic bluefin tuna from the
Bay of Biscay75
Table 13: Mean ± SD prey composition for Mid-Atlantic Bight Atlantic bluefin tuna
stomach samples76
Table 14: Mixing model estimates of prey contributions to Atlantic bluefin tuna from the
Mid-Atlantic Bight77
Table 15: Mean \pm SD for Mid-Atlantic Bight liver and muscle carbon and nitrogen
values from Atlantic bluefin tuna79
Table 16: Sampling summary of liver, muscle, and stomach samples from Atlantic
bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Maine
Table 17: Sampling summary of liver and muscle samples from Atlantic bluefin tuna
from the Mid-Atlantic Bight (North Carolina)94
Table 18: Gulf of Maine prey item carbon, nitrogen, and CN values (\pm SD)103
Table 19: Size distributions of prey from school and large Atlantic bluefin tuna from the
Gulf of Maine
Table 20: Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB; North Carolina) prey item carbon, nitrogen, and
CN values (\pm SD)
Table 21: Stomach contents from school Atlantic bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Maine 108

Table 22: Stomach contents from large Atlantic bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Maine109								
Table 23: Mean \pm SD Atlantic bluefin tuna carbon and nitrogen data for the Gulf of								
Maine								
Table 24: Mixing model estimates of prey contributions for adult Atlantic bluefin tuna								
for the Gulf of Maine113								
Table 25: Mixing model estimates of prey contributions for school Atlantic bluefin tuna								
for the Gulf of Maine114								
Table 26: Mixing model estimates of common Atlantic bluefin tuna prey species in Mid-								
Atlantic Bight (North Carolina) forage grounds115								
Table 27: Sampling summary for Atlantic bluefin tuna from the Gulf of Mexico 134								
Table 28: Mean \pm SD carbon and nitrogen data from Atlantic bluefin tuna and Atlantic								
swordfish pooled by sampling region								
Table 29: Mean \pm SD monthly Atlantic bluefin tuna carbon and nitrogen data from the								
Gulf of Mexico								
Table 30: Classification success among shelf and offshore region isotope values based								
on linear discriminant analysis (LDA)141								
Table 31: Classification of Gulf of Mexico Atlantic bluefin tuna as migrants from shelf								
or offshore regions141								
Table 32: Tissue isotope discrimination and C:N grouped by migratory classification for								
individual Atlantic bluefin tuna from the Gulf of Mexico with both liver and muscle								
data142								
Table 33: Sampling summary of liver and muscle samples from Atlantic bluefin tuna								
from the Gulf of Maine152								
Table 34: Mean \pm SD adult Atlantic bluefin tuna carbon and nitrogen data from the Gulf								
of Maine grouped by muscle lipid content155								

÷

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Bulk and lipid-extracted δ^{13} C values for marine fish and invertebrate samples
Figure 2: Bulk and lipid-extracted δ^{15} N values for marine fish and invertebrate samples
Figure 3: Mean ± SD C:N of a) Atlantic bluefin tuna liver b) Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle and c) whole body Atlantic herring samples of bulk tissue and following lipid extraction with hexane diethyl ether chloroform or chloroform-methanol 20
Figure 4: Mean \pm SD δ^{13} C of a) Atlantic bluefin tuna liver b) Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle and c) whole body Atlantic herring samples of bulk tissue and following lipid extraction with hexane, diethyl ether, chloroform, or chloroform-methanol22
Figure 5: Mean \pm SD δ^{15} N of a) Atlantic bluefin tuna liver b) Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle and c) whole body Atlantic herring samples of bulk tissue and following lipid extraction with hexane, diethyl ether, chloroform, or chloroform-methanol23
Figure 6: Bulk and lipid-corrected δ^{13} C values of a) liver and b) white muscle from adult Atlantic bluefin tuna in Gulf of Maine forage grounds
Figure 7: Relationship between bulk C:N and % lipid content ± SD for Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle
Figure 8: Model fits to differences in fish tissue bulk δ^{13} C and lipid-free δ^{13} C following lipid extractions with 2:1 chloroform-methanol. Models were fit a) to a general dataset of fish muscle, liver, and whole body paired δ^{13} C samples and b-d) to tissue-specific datasets 40
Figure 9: Model fits to differences in whole body invertebrate bulk δ^{13} C and lipid-free δ^{13} C following lipid extractions with 2:1 chloroform-methanol
 Figure 10: Maps of Mid-Atlantic Bight and Bay of Biscay study sites
 Figure 12: Cumulative prey curves (mean ± SD) for Bay of Biscay stomach samples based on a) the entire dataset b) all summer and c) all fall stomach samples
Figure 14: Map of Mid-Atlantic Bight study site. Samples were collected from the boxed region south of Cape Lookout, North Carolina
Figure 15: Mean ± SD carbon and nitrogen isotope values for Atlantic bluefin tuna and representative prey species in the Gulf of Maine
Figure 16: Mean ± SD carbon and nitrogen isotope values for Atlantic bluefin tuna and representative prey species in the Mid-Atlantic Bight
observed across increasing sample sizes for a) school bluefin tuna b) all large bluefin tuna pooled across sampling years and c-g) for individual sampling years (2004 - 2008)

Figure 18: Map of sampling locations from western Atlantic shelf (Nova Scotia (NS). Gulf of Maine (GOM), and Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB)) and offshore (western Figure 19: Box plots of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N data from adult Atlantic bluefin tuna grouped by Figure 20: Theoretical changes in liver and muscle $\delta^{15}N$ values and tissue isotope discrimination for a fish shifting from equilibration with a, b) offshore to shelf and Figure 21: Map of sampling locations from the Gulf of Mexico for Atlantic bluefin tuna Figure 22: Ouantile regressions of a) liver C:N b) liver δ^{13} C c) liver δ^{15} N d) muscle C:N e) muscle δ^{13} C and f) muscle δ^{15} N values from Atlantic bluefin tuna sampled in the Figure 23: Linear regressions of a) liver and b) muscle δ^{15} N values relative to tissue C:N Figure 24: Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna liver C:N values for a) 2004 b) Figure 25: Ouantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna muscle C:N values for a) 2004 Figure 26: Ouantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna liver δ^{13} C values for a) 2004 b) Figure 27: Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna muscle δ^{13} C values for a) 2004 Figure 28: Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna liver δ^{15} N values for a) 2004 b) Figure 29: Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna muscle δ^{15} N values for a) 2004 Figure 30: Muscle C:N values across sampling dates for Atlantic bluefin tuna sampled from a) the eastern central Atlantic b) Gulf of Maine c) Mid-Atlantic Bight d) Nova Scotia e) Prince Edward Island and f) Gulf of Mexico......173

C

ix

ABSTRACT

TRACKING DIET AND MOVEMENT OF ATLANTIC BLUEFIN TUNA (*THUNNUS THYNNUS*) USING CARBON AND NITROGEN STABLE ISOTOPES

by

John Logan

University of New Hampshire, December 2009

Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) are important top predators in pelagic ecosystems. Understanding their diet and movements is necessary for proper management, but existing methods are costly and logistically challenging. Naturally occurring stable isotopes have been used to study diet and movement in many aquatic ecosystems and offer a novel approach for studying these large pelagic fishes.

Lipids, which have lower carbon isotope values than protein, can affect isotope analyses of bulk tissue. Both chemical and mathematical corrections were used to address lipid effects on ABFT and their prey. All chemical extraction methods altered nitrogen isotope values. Mathematical corrections closely replicated chemically extracted carbon values while preserving nitrogen isotope and C:N values and were applied to all ABFT samples.

Combined stomach content and stable isotope analyses were performed on ABFT in coastal forage grounds, revealing a diet based on aggregations of small fish and crustaceans. The largest prey components of adult ABFT were Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) and sand lance (*Ammodytes* spp.) in the Gulf of Maine and Atlantic menhaden

х

(*Brevoortia tyrannus*) and swimming crabs (*Portunus* spp.) in the Mid-Atlantic Bight. Juvenile bluefin tuna fed at a lower trophic level than adult conspecifics due to higher dietary proportions of crustaceans and smaller fishes. Diet composition of ABFT in the western Atlantic was similar to historical observations while juveniles in the Bay of Biscay fed on higher proportions of crustacean prey relative to past observations.

Isotope gradients detected between shelf and open ocean forage grounds were used to infer movements of adult ABFT into Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds and to estimate residency in Gulf of Maine forage grounds in relation to results from tagging experiments. Residency and arrival times varied among individuals in the Gulf of Maine, with late season arrivals having reduced body condition similar to early season fish. Most fish in the Gulf of Mexico had previously fed on shelf forage grounds, demonstrating connectivity between productive coastal waters and this western Atlantic spawning area. Results provide important trophic and migratory information for use in ecosystem-based management strategies and validations for future isotope studies of large pelagic fishes.

INTRODUCTION

Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) and other tuna species are important predators in pelagic food webs, capable of influencing ecosystem functions through top down controls (Hinke et al. 2004; Overholtz 2006). ABFT are commercially important (Mather et al. 1995), and while the extent of fishery removals is still being debated (Fromentin and Powers 2005; Safina and Klinger 2008), recent stock assessments estimate spawning stock biomass to be < 40 % of historical levels (ICCAT 2009). Any reductions in abundance of top predators has the potential to alter food web dynamics and trophic structure in marine systems (Paine 1966; Scheffer et al. 2005).

Prey distribution, abundance, type, and quality can also affect top predator communities (Bertrand et al. 2002; Bearzi et al. 2006). Commercial harvest of mid- and low trophic level species (Pauly et al. 1998) could alter available prey bases. ABFT have wide thermal tolerances (Carey and Teal 1969; Carey and Lawson 1973). Adult feeding migrations would not likely be affected by small temperature shifts induced by climate change, although spawning (Schaefer 1998; Schaefer 2001; Young et al. 2003) and larval survival (Miyashita et al. 2000; Tanaka et al. 2007) are highly temperature dependent, with both generally restricted to 24°C isotherms (Schaefer 2001). Climate shifts should affect lower trophic level prey species (Roessig et al. 2004; Perry et al. 2005; Poulard and Blanchard 2005), and as a result alter ABFT distribution. Shifts towards less energetically favorable prey bases, through reduced density or food quality, could also

impact body condition and reproductive potential (Rosen and Trites 2000; Litzow et al. 2002; Golet et al. 2007).

Understanding diet and movement is important for proper management of ABFT, but also costly and logistically challenging. Diet is commonly determined through stomach content analysis (SCA) while movement is assessed through tracking. Naturally occurring stable isotopes have been used to study diet and movement in many aquatic ecosystems (Fry and Sherr 1984; Hobson 1999), and stable isotope analysis (SIA) offers a novel approach to these fundamental ecological questions that could complement existing monitoring techniques for large pelagic fishes. Stable isotope values in consumer tissues are transferred from diet items providing a chemical tracer for food web analysis (Peterson and Fry 1987). Spatial differences in isotope values incorporated in consumer tissues can then further act as chemical tags to track movement (Hobson 1999; Hobson 2007b).

Stable isotope analysis (SIA) is emerging as an important tool for identifying animal diet, trophic position, and movement (Peterson and Fry 1987; Hobson 1999), including highly migratory and cryptic marine species (Best and Schell 1996; Reich et al. 2007). Isotopes are atoms of a common element that share the same number of protons and electrons, but differ in number of neutrons (Thomson et al. 1921). Differences in neutron number create different atomic masses, which can be measured with an isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Stable isotopes, unlike radioactive isotopes, have combinations of protons and neutrons that are resistant to decay over time. Heavy stable isotopes are rare and comprise a small percentage of total natural abundance for a given element, but are useful as tracers of ecological processes. For carbon and nitrogen, the heavy stable

isotopes ¹³C and ¹⁵N comprise about 1.11 and 0.37 %, respectively, of total percent abundance, while lighter isotopes make up the remainder (Sulzman 2007). Stable isotope values are reported as parts per thousand differences from standard reference material in delta notation, according to the equation:

$$\delta = [(R_{\text{sample}}/R_{\text{standard}})-1] \times 10^3,$$

where R is the ratio of heavy and light isotopes in a sample (e.g., ${}^{15}N/{}^{14}N$ and ${}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$) (Peterson and Fry 1987). Reference materials are Pee Dee Belemnite and atmospheric nitrogen.

Stable isotopes of different elements transfer through food webs with fairly consistent trophic level alterations, providing a natural tracer of food web linkages (Peterson and Fry 1987). This isotopic separation between consumer tissue and diet is known as a discrimination factor (Martínez del Rio and Wolf 2004). Stable isotope values reflect an integrated diet over a time scale determined by the metabolic activity of the tissue and organism analyzed (Peterson and Fry 1987). In this way, SIA provides a broader representation of diet and trophic position than standard SCA, which gives a detailed, but time-limited dietary snapshot. SCA is not always a viable method as stomach samples and the taxonomic expertise required to identify contents are often unavailable. A combination of stable isotope and stomach content analyses provides two temporal scales of dietary information. Multiple tissue SIA (e.g., slow and fast turnover tissues) may further inform analyses when isotope data are integrated over different time scales.

Carbon $({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)$ stable isotope ratio discrimination across trophic levels is typically minimal (0 - 1 ‰), and can be used to infer sources of primary production

(DeNiro and Epstein 1978; Fry and Sherr 1984). In marine systems, δ^{13} C varies among benthic, pelagic, and inshore and offshore regions (Hobson et al. 1994; France 1995) and across latitudinal gradients (Rau et al. 1989). Consequently, spatial variations in δ^{13} C can be used to determine animal movements (Hobson 1999).

Nitrogen (15 N/ 14 N) stable isotope ratios become enriched in 15 N with trophic transfers, presumably due to preferential excretion of light isotopes (14 N) in nitrogenous waste and incorporation of heavier isotopes (15 N) in consumer tissues (Steele and Daniel 1978). Average trophic discrimination for nitrogen is usually more pronounced than carbon discrimination, providing a more robust measure of trophic position, with trophic enrichment typically ranging from 2 to 4 ‰ (DeNiro and Epstein 1981; Minagawa and Wada 1984; Gannes et al. 1998; Post 2002). Trophic position (TP) can be calculated based on δ^{15} N according to the equation,

 $TP = \lambda + (\delta^{15}N_{secondary\ consumer} \text{-}\ \delta^{15}N_{base}) \, / \, \Delta n,$

where $\delta^{15}N_{\text{base}}$ is the $\delta^{15}N$ of a lower trophic level organism used for comparison, λ is the TP of this baseline organism, and Δn is the discrimination factor for the secondary consumer (Post 2002). Similar to carbon, nitrogen stable isotopes also vary across oceanographic regions and can be used to trace animal movements (Hobson 1999).

Stable isotopes and other chemical tracers have been used to study ABFT physiology (Radtke et al. 1987), stock structure (Secor and Zdanowicz 1998; Rooker et al. 2008a; Rooker et al. 2008b; Dickhut et al. 2009), and trophic ecology (Estrada et al. 2005; Sara and Sara 2007). Early analyses of otolith carbon (δ^{13} C) and oxygen (δ^{18} O) stable isotope values demonstrated that δ^{18} O values were affected by tuna brain temperatures and thus could be used to reconstruct tuna physiological life histories[/]

(Radtke et al. 1987). However, the isotopic estimates of tuna physiology could be confounded by geographic shifts linked to ambient sea water temperature (Campana 1999; Rooker et al. 2008a). These geographic baseline shifts in otolith δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O were later used to identify natal origins of Atlantic bluefin tuna based on isotopic differences between Gulf of Mexico and Mediterranean Sea spawning grounds (Rooker et al. 2008a; Rooker et al. 2008b). Geographic variability in otolith isotope values proved to have more resolving power than previous efforts to use trace elements to delineate stock structure (Secor and Zdanowicz 1998; Rooker et al. 2001). Unique chemical signatures in metabolically-active soft tissues have also been used to infer bluefin tuna stock structure and trophic ecology (Estrada et al. 2005; Sara and Sara 2007; Dickhut et al. 2009). Observed gradients in organochlorine ratios between fishes occupying western Atlantic shelf and Mediterranean Sea forage grounds have been used to track recent movements of bluefin tuna across these regions (Dickhut et al. 2009). Known increases in δ^{15} N values in consumer tissues relative to diet have been used to estimate bluefin tuna trophic position in forage grounds in the NW Atlantic and Mediterranean Sea (Estrada et al. 2005; Sara and Sara 2007).

Chemical tracers clearly show potential to inform diverse aspects of tuna ecology, but all approaches also have potential pitfalls. Estimates of movement and stock structure are challenged by the highly migratory lifestyle of bluefin tuna. Failure to validate spatial signatures of a given tracer for all geographic regions occupied by bluefin tuna can bias results. For analyses using otoliths, values could be biased by physiological differences across ages and regions (Radtke et al. 1987). For soft tissues, which experience metabolic turnover, chemical signatures of past locations could be lost as

tissues equilibrate towards the values reflected in local sampling locations.

Understanding physiological aspects surrounding the incorporation of these chemical tags in tuna is critical to proper interpretation in ecological applications (Gannes et al. 1997; Campana 1999).

To apply stable isotope techniques to ABFT ecological studies, several isotope dynamics must first be determined: 1) the timescale of information incorporated in consumer tissues; 2) isotope differences between consumer tissues and diet items; and 3) variability in isotope values among major tissue fractions (e.g., lipids and proteins) (Gannes et al. 1997). Once these are accounted for, stable isotopes can complement stomach content data by providing dietary information over longer time scales.

If the turnover rate of a given tissue or compound used for isotope analysis is unknown, results could be confounded by temporal shifts in diet or habitat. These problems are particularly relevant to large, long-lived pelagic fishes like ABFT, which could occupy multiple habitat types across a broad geographic range during the timescale incorporated in a tissue isotope value.

Discrimination factors are assumed to be ~ 0.4 ‰ for δ^{13} C and 3.4 ‰ for δ^{15} N (DeNiro and Epstein 1978; DeNiro and Epstein 1981; Minagawa and Wada 1984; Peterson and Fry 1987), but vary between species and tissue types (Macko et al. 1982; Pinnegar and Polunin 1999). Incorrect discrimination factors could cause errors in estimates of trophic position (Post 2002) and diet (Phillips and Gregg 2003).

Lipids have lower carbon isotope values than protein (DeNiro and Epstein 1977) and can affect isotope analyses of bulk tissue. For many large pelagic fish tissues (e.g., bluefin tuna muscle), some form of lipid correction is needed to prevent bias of bulk

carbon isotope values (Logan et al. 2008). Many chemical extraction methods that correct tissue δ^{13} C values can also incidentally alter δ^{15} N values in other fish species, which could then create error in nitrogen isotope data (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Sotiropoulos et al. 2004; Sweeting et al. 2006). Mathematical corrections exist, but their applicability to a diverse range of species and tissue types has been called into question (Kiljunen et al. 2006; Post et al. 2007). To effectively implement stable isotope approaches for ABFT, these fundamental aspects of isotope dynamics need to be better understood.

Atlantic bluefin tuna are highly migratory, have high energetic demands, and are heavily exploited by both commercial and recreational fisheries (Mather et al. 1995). Understanding their diet preferences is important given their high metabolic demands and potentially changing influence as a top predator with fluctuations in population abundance. Observed declines in somatic condition for this species (Golet et al. 2007; Neilson et al. 2007) further warrant detailed dietary analyses as diet shifts are a plausible explanation for such declines.

Stable isotopes can provide a complement to conventional and electronic tagging approaches (Cunjak et al. 2005) to also reveal connectivity among regional forage grounds. While isotope values cannot provide the level of detail captured by electronic tags, the lower costs and logistic challenges associated with SIA relative to electronic tagging could allow this technique to provide increased sample sizes. For regions where tagging is not possible, isotope values can be used to estimate past movements. Recent declines in ABFT abundance in U.S. NW Atlantic shelf waters have limited tagging operations in these regions while observed declines in condition for this assemblage

(Golet et al. 2007) have demonstrated a need for understanding residency and migration schedules for these forage grounds. While ABFT are known to spawn in the Gulf of Mexico (Baglin 1982; Mather et al. 1995), only a small percentage of tagged fish have actually been observed occupying this region (e.g., Lutcavage et al. 1999; Block et al. 2005; Wilson et al. 2005; Galuardi et al. submitted). Understanding connectivity between spawning grounds and regional forage grounds throughout the north Atlantic is important for understanding stock structure and linkages. Stable isotope techniques could help to resolve these movement questions.

Overall, my research objective was to help develop these evolving techniques and apply them to ecological studies of ABFT. Validation approaches will help to reduce uncertainty and ambiguity in future studies while applied components will help provide benchmarks for comparison with past and future studies. Jointly, these components will improve understanding of the trophic ecology of ABFT in the north Atlantic.

CHAPTER 1

METHODS DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION

Lipid Corrections in Carbon and Nitrogen Stable Isotope Analyses
Chemical Approaches

Introduction

Carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes are chemical tracers used to study food web dynamics (Peterson and Fry 1987; Kelly 2000) and recently, they have been used to identify previously unknown whereabouts and foraging patterns of highly mobile marine species (Krahn et al. 2007; Reich et al. 2007). Carbon stable isotope ratios ($^{13}C/^{12}C$; $\delta^{13}C$) tend to remain constant through trophic transfers (< 1 ‰ increase in $\delta^{13}C$) and provide information on food web primary production sources (Fry and Sherr 1984). Nitrogen stable isotope ratios ($^{15}N/^{14}N$; $\delta^{15}N$) tend to increase with trophic transfers (~ 3.4 ‰) and provide a more robust measure of trophic position (DeNiro and Epstein 1981; Post 2002). Small changes in $\delta^{13}C$ values from trophic transfers can be obscured by changes in biochemical composition by factors such as lipid content. Fish lipid $\delta^{13}C$ values are ~ 7 ‰ lower than protein (Sweeting et al. 2006), and high or variable lipid content can alter or obscure dietary $\delta^{13}C$ dynamics.

To remove potential bias, biological samples are treated by chemical lipid extraction prior to stable isotope analysis or corrected after using arithmetic normalization techniques (Kiljunen et al. 2006; Sweeting et al. 2006; Post et al. 2007). Common lipid extractions include soxhlet extractions with chloroform (Godley et al. 1998; Thompson et al. 1999; Hodum and Hobson 2000; Forero et al. 2002) or ether (Lawson and Hobson 2000), exposure to chloroform-methanol mixtures (Hebert et al. 1999; Das et al. 2000; Takai et al. 2000; MacNeill et al. 2005), and hexane (Fry et al. 2003). Extractions using different solvents and techniques prior to SIA can produce significantly different δ^{13} C values for freshwater and marine fishes and invertebrates (Schlechtriem et al. 2003; Søreide et al. 2006). This variability makes it difficult to compare results from studies using different extraction methods. Differences in the amount of lipid removed among extraction methods (De Boer 1988; Smedes 1999; Iverson et al. 2001) likely causes variability in δ^{13} C values among methods, with more negative δ^{13} C values produced by less exhaustive methods relative to methods with higher lipid yields.

Chemical extraction methods also alter δ^{15} N for fish tissues (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Sotiropoulos et al. 2004; Murry et al. 2006; Sweeting et al. 2006). Since both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N can be determined from a single sample with continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometry (CFIRMS), duplicate samples must be analyzed to derive accurate δ^{13} C (lipid-free tissue) and δ^{15} N (bulk tissue) values. The specific source of δ^{15} N alteration has not been determined, but removal of proteins attached to structural lipids by polar solvents has been proposed as a possible mechanism (Sotiropoulos et al. 2004; Sweeting et al. 2006; Bodin et al. 2007). Non-polar solvent extractions could provide reliable δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values from a single sample (Sotiropoulos et al. 2004).

I applied several chemical extraction approaches to tissue samples from Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) and associated prey species to better understand

how these methods affect sample δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. To assess the impact of lipid content on δ^{13} C values and to test for possible δ^{15} N effects, samples were analyzed in duplicate (bulk tissue and lipid extracted with chloroform-methanol). To compare isotope values using chloroform-methanol extractions with a range of non-polar solvents (chloroform, hexane, and diethyl ether), aliquots of ABFT liver and white muscle and whole Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) were analyzed without pre-treatment and following four different extraction methods. Sample C:N ratio (a proxy for lipid content in animal tissues) (Schmidt et al. 2003; Bodin et al. 2007; Post et al. 2007) was used to assess lipid removal for these different methods.

To test for possible impacts of nitrogenous waste removal on δ^{15} N values, samples of dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*) white muscle (n = 5) were analyzed in triplicate. Dogfish and other elasmobranchs retain urea in their tissues for osmoregulation (Smith 1929; Smith 1936), and provide a good model for urea effects on δ^{15} N values. Samples were analyzed as bulk tissue, following chloroform-methanol lipid extraction, and following urea extraction.

Methods

Sample Collection and Preparation

Samples of 168 marine fishes and invertebrates representing six families were analyzed for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N with and without chloroform-methanol lipid extraction treatment (Table 1). Additional aliquots of ABFT liver and muscle and whole Atlantic herring were also analyzed following extraction with three different non-polar solvents. All samples were stored frozen before analysis. Comparisons of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N between lipid-extracted and bulk tissue samples were based on aliquots of dried, homogenized samples subjected to identical frozen storage conditions.

Liver and muscle samples were collected from ABFT and dogfish, thawed, lightly rinsed with deionized water, transferred to glass scintillation vials and dried at 60°C for at least 48 h while the remaining fishes and all invertebrates were dried whole (Table 1). Larger whole Atlantic herring, Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*), silver hake (*Merluccius bilinearis*), sand lance (*Ammodytes* spp.), bluefish (*Pomatomus saltatrix*), and shortfin squid (*Illex illecebrosus*) were lightly rinsed with deionized water, then finely minced and dried in aluminum weigh boats at 60°C for at least 48 h until they reached a constant weight over three hours. Dried samples were then homogenized with a Wig-L-Bug[®] ball and capsule amalgamator (Crescent Industries, Auburn, Maine, U.S.A), Mixer/Mill[®] (SPEX SamplePrep, LLC Metuchen, New Jersey, U.S.A) and stainless steel grinding vials or a mortar and pestle, depending on tissue volume.

Two aliquots were removed from each homogenized sample; one aliquot was immediately prepared for SIA (see below), while the second underwent lipid extraction using a modification of the Bligh and Dyer (1959) method. Samples were dried at 60°C for 24 h to remove remaining solvent. Euphausiid samples also underwent acid washing after lipid extraction and drying to remove exoskeletal carbonates. Acid washing consisted of addition of 1 N HCl until bubbling ceased (Jacob et al. 2005), and the samples were re-dried at 60°C for 24 h.

Taxa '	n	Tissue	Bulk C:N	δ ¹³ C	δ ¹⁵ N
			Range	p-value	p-value
Fishes					
Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus)	82	М	3.1-6.5	< 0.001 +*	< 0.001 ⁺
Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus)	44	L	3.9-12.0	< 0.001 +	0.242
Atlantic herring (<i>Clupea harengus</i>)	29	W	3.9-12.5	< 0.001 +	1.000
Atlantic mackerel (Scomber scombrus)	8	W	3.5-9.2	< 0.001 ⁺	0.206
Silver hake (Merluccius bilinearis)	25	W	3.1-4.3	< 0.001 ⁺	1.000
Sand lance	10	W	4.4-6.1	< 0.001 +	< 0.001 ⁺
Bluefish (Pomatomus saltatrix)	8	W	3.8-6.3	< 0.001 +	1.000
Spiny dogfish	5	Μ	4.4 - 6.1	< 0.001 ⁺	0.0267^{+}
Spiny dogfish (Squalus acanthias)	5	L	27.5 - 41.7	< 0.001 ⁺	0.9676
Invertebrates					
Krill (Euphausiidae)	10	W	3.7-4.3	< 0.001 ⁺	0.008^{+}
Shortfin squid (Illex illecebrosus)	13	W	3.8-4.5	< 0.001 ⁺	1.000

Table 1. Marine fish and invertebrate species and tissue types (L = liver, M = muscle, W = whole body) analyzed for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N as bulk tissue and following lipid extraction using chloroform-methanol.

* P – values are Holm-adjusted for multiple comparisons and indicate significant increases (⁺) or decreases (⁻) in δ^{13} C or δ^{15} N following lipid extraction with an overall α of 0.05.

Chemical Extractions

Aliquots of all samples were extracted using a modification of the Bligh and Dyer (1959) method. Dried homogenized samples were immersed in a 2:1 ratio of chloroformmethanol with a solvent volume \sim 3-5 times > sample volume. Samples were then mixed for 30 s, left undisturbed for approximately 30 min, and centrifuged for 10 min at 3400

RPMs, and the supernatant containing solvent and lipids was then removed. This process was repeated at least three times or more until the supernatant was clear and colorless following centrifugation. Samples were re-dried at 60°C for 24 h to remove any remaining solvent.

Individual homogenized ABFT liver (n = 10), white muscle (n = 5), and whole Atlantic herring (n = 11) were each also extracted using a Goldfisch[®] apparatus (Labconco Corporation, Kansas City, Missouri, U.S.A) (a soxhlet-type refluxing instrument) with chloroform, diethyl ether, and hexane. Dried powdered aliquots of each sample were repeatedly flushed with a single solvent for 6-8 h. Samples were then allowed to dry in a fume hood for > 16 h, and transferred to a drying oven to be re-dried at 60°C for 24 h to remove any remaining solvent.

Individual homogenized samples of dogfish white muscle (n = 5) were also extracted with deionized water (Mathew et al. 2002). The deionized water extractions were performed on wet tissue samples, and samples were immersed in ~ 3:1 ratio v/v of deionized water to dogfish tissue for five min. The supernatant was then decanted, and the process was repeated two more times. Samples were then dried at 60°C and were prepared for stable isotope analysis following the same standard methods used for all samples.

Stable Isotope Analysis (SIA)

Aliquots of bulk tissue (non-treated) and lipid-extracted tissue of each sample ranging from 0.6 to 1.2 mg were packed into 4 x 6 mm tin cups. Samples were then analyzed for δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, % carbon, and % nitrogen through CFIRMS using a DELTA ^{plus} isotope ratio mass spectrometer at the Colorado Plateau Stable Isotope Laboratory of

Northern Arizona University or the University of New Hampshire Stable Isotope Laboratory. All C:N values are reported as uncorrected percent weight calculations. Measurements of commercially available reference materials across all runs were both accurate and precise with mean \pm SD of -25.9 \pm 0.1 ‰ for δ^{13} C and 2.0 \pm 0.2 ‰ for δ^{15} N for NIST 1547 (peach leaves, n = 117) and -25.9 \pm 0.1 for δ^{13} C and 1.0 \pm 0.2 for δ^{15} N for acetanilide (n = 7). Replicate analyses of samples produced SD of 0.1 ‰ for δ^{13} C and 0.1 ‰ for δ^{15} N (n = 45).

All isotope data are reported in δ notation according to the following equation: $\delta X = [(R_{sample}/R_{standard}) - 1] * 1000$ where X is ¹³C or ¹⁵N and R is the ratio ¹³C/¹²C or ¹⁵N/¹⁴N (Peterson and Fry 1987). Values are reported relative to international standards of Vienna Pee Dee belemnite (VPDB) for carbon and atmospheric N₂ (AIR) for nitrogen. All δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values were normalized on the VPDB and AIR scales with IAEA CH6 (-10.4 ‰), CH7 (-31.8 ‰), N1 (0.4 ‰), and N2 (20.3 ‰).

Statistical Methods

Differences in mean changes in C and N isotopes (δ^{13} C' - δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N' - δ^{15} N) between lipid-extracted (denoted as δ^{13} C' and δ^{15} N') and bulk tissue δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N samples were tested for all samples. Levene's homogeneity of variance test was applied to each pairwise comparison. If no significant differences were detected between sample variances, differences were then determined using paired t-tests ($\alpha = 0.05$) and a subsequent Holm test to reduce the probability of committing type I errors as a result of multiple comparisons. If significant differences were detected between sample variances, subsequent comparisons were made using Welch's t-test.

For comparisons among extraction methods, C:N ratios were also statistically compared using paired t-tests with Holm-adjusted p-values ($\alpha = 0.05$). For δ^{13} C values and C:N ratios, paired comparisons were made within each tissue type among non-treated samples and samples chemically extracted using all four methods. For δ^{15} N values, paired comparisons were made between non-treated samples and samples pre-treated using each extraction method. Lipid content was compared between tissue types for the non-polar solvent analysis by using Δ C:N (C:N_{bulk tissue} – C:N_{lipid-free}) as a proxy for lipid content to account for differences in baseline C:N_{lipid-free} between tissue types (Sweeting et al. 2006). Changes in C:N between bulk tissue and samples extracted using chloroform-methanol were used for lipid content comparisons since this method consistently caused the greatest C:N and δ^{13} C changes. An ANOVA and subsequent pairwise t-tests were used for lipid content comparisons between tissue types. These same statistical tests were performed to compare bulk, urea-extracted, and lipid-extracted dogfish sample δ^{15} N values. All analyses were performed using the program R (R Development Core Team 2008).

Results

Chloroform-methanol

Carbon stable isotope values were significantly enriched in ¹³C following lipid extraction for all datasets analyzed (Figure 1; Table 1).



Figure 1. Isotope difference between bulk and lipid-extracted $\delta^{13}C$ values ($\Delta \delta^{13}C$) for marine fish and invertebrate samples relative to bulk tissue C:N.

Mean enrichment ranged from 1.0 ± 0.3 for whole euphausiids to 6.4 ± 0.3 for dogfish liver among tissue types analyzed (Table 1). Lipid-extracted C:N ranged from 3.1 (whole bluefish) to 3.6 (ABFT liver).

Among fish tissues, ABFT muscle and whole sand lance were significantly enriched in ¹⁵N following extractions (Table 1). No other datasets were significantly altered. Alteration of δ^{15} N ranged from 0.0 ± 0.6 for whole shortfin squid to 0.7 ± 0.6 for ABFT muscle (Table 1). Overall, there was a small δ^{15} N alteration associated with lipid extraction across the complete dataset with a best fit relationship of δ^{15} N_{lipid-free} = 0.948 * δ^{15} N_{bulk} + 0.907 (Figure 2; Table 1).



Figure 2. Bulk and lipid-extracted $\delta^{15}N$ values for marine fish and invertebrate samples. A 1:1 line is included to highlight shifts in $\delta^{15}N$ values following lipid removal.

For whole body invertebrates, C:N following extraction ranged from 3.2 - 3.4 (n = 23). Euphausiids were significantly enriched in ¹⁵N following extractions while whole shortfin squid were not significantly altered (Table 1).

Solvent Comparisons

Homogeneity of variance

Lipid extractions did not significantly alter sample variance for any paired analyses of sample C:N, δ^{13} C, or δ^{15} N (Levene's test, p > 0.05 using Holm adjustment). Paired t-tests were used for all comparisons between extracted and bulk tissue samples since assumptions of homogeneity of variance were not violated.

C:N ratios

C:N values were consistently lower for chloroform-methanol and chloroformextracted samples than liver and whole herring samples extracted with diethyl ether or hexane (Figure 3). For bluefin tuna liver (bulk C:N = 6.3 ± 0.7 SE), C:N values were significantly different among all treated and non-treated pairs (Figure 3a). For bluefin tuna white muscle (bulk C:N = 3.3 ± 0.1 SE), only chloroform and diethyl ether samples were significantly different from each other (Figure 3b). In whole Atlantic herring (bulk C:N = 7.7 ± 0.6 SE), all extraction methods produced C:N values significantly lower than bulk tissue (Figure 3c). Chloroform-methanol and chloroform samples were both significantly different from diethyl ether and hexane, but not from each other, and diethyl ether was not significantly different from hexane (Figure 3c).

Differences in C:N between bulk tissue samples and samples extracted with chloroform-methanol were significantly different among the three tissue groups analyzed in this study (ANOVA, p < 0.001). Using these differences as proxies for bulk tissue lipid content, white muscle samples had significantly lower lipid content than liver (pairwise t-test, p < 0.05) and whole herring (pairwise t-test, p < 0.001), and liver had significantly lower lipid content than whole herring (pairwise t-test, p < 0.05).



Figure 3. Mean \pm SD C:N of a) Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver (n = 10) b) Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle (n = 5) and c) whole body Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) (n = 11) samples of bulk tissue (BT) and following lipid extraction with hexane (HX), diethyl ether (DE), chloroform (C), or chloroform-methanol (CM). Bars labeled with different letters are significantly different while bars with the same letter are not significantly different from each other.

Among the solvents analyzed, chloroform and chloroform-methanol extractions produced the highest δ^{13} C values (Figure 4). For bluefin tuna liver, all extraction methods produced significantly greater δ^{13} C values relative to bulk tissue samples, while values for all solvent types were also significantly different from each other (Figure 4a). For bluefin tuna muscle, no solvents significantly altered δ^{13} C relative to bulk tissue samples, nor were there significant differences among solvent types (Figure 4b). For whole Atlantic herring, all extraction methods produced significantly greater δ^{13} C values relative to bulk tissue samples (Figure 4c). Chloroform-methanol samples were also significantly greater than diethyl ether and hexane samples, with no significant difference from chloroform samples. Chloroform was not significantly different from diethyl ether or hexane, and diethyl ether was not significantly different from hexane (Figure 4c).



Figure 4. Mean \pm SD δ^{13} C of a) Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver (n = 10) b) Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle (n = 5) and c) whole body Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) (n = 11) samples of bulk tissue (BT) and following lipid extraction with hexane (HX), diethyl ether (DE), chloroform (C), or chloroform-methanol (CM). Bars labeled with different letters are significantly different while bars with the same letter are not significantly different from each other.

Extraction effects on δ^{15} N values varied by tissue and solvent type (Figure 5). For example, in ABFT liver, chloroform and hexane significantly decreased δ^{15} N values relative to non-treated samples while chloroform-methanol and diethyl ether had no significant effect (Figure 5a). In ABFT muscle, all solvent types significantly altered bulk tissue δ^{15} N (Figure 5b), while significant differences were not caused by any solvent in whole Atlantic herring (Figure 5c).



Figure 5. Mean \pm SD δ^{15} N of a) Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver (n = 10) b) Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle (n = 5) and c) whole body Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) (n = 11) samples of bulk tissue (BT) and following lipid extraction with hexane (HX), diethyl ether (DE), chloroform (C), or chloroform-methanol (CM). Significant differences from bulk tissue samples are indicated by *.
Assumptions of homogeneity of variance were not violated for any group of dogfish muscle samples (Levene's test, p > 0.05 using Holm adjustment), and muscle δ^{15} N values were significantly higher for lipid-extracted samples than bulk tissue samples (p = 0.0267). Muscle δ^{15} N values did not significantly differ between bulk tissue and urea-extracted samples (p = 0.4727) or between urea- and lipid-extracted samples (p = 3916).

Discussion

Lipid extractions caused significant increases in δ^{13} C for almost all species and tissue types, indicating the need to correct for lipid carbon isotope effects, especially when fine scale δ^{13} C differences are compared. While lipid extractions caused statistically significant increases in δ^{13} C relative to bulk tissue samples, observed differences were not always biologically significant, with some tissues showing limited δ^{13} C change. Fish white muscle, for example, typically contains minimal lipids and may not benefit from lipid correction or extraction (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999). In fish muscle samples, bulk C:N values < 3.4 generally produced δ^{13} C changes < 0.7 ‰. In contrast, fish liver has high lipid content and should be lipid corrected (Sweeting et al. 2006); ABFT liver samples had C:N > 10 and lipid extraction changed δ^{13} C > 5 ‰. For highly migratory fish species like ABFT, lipid corrections may be necessary for both liver and white muscle, as lipid stores can vary seasonally with migration schedules (Mourente et al. 2001).

Bulk liver and white muscle tissue δ^{13} C values vary seasonally in ABFT in Gulf of Maine forage grounds, with a range of > 4 % in late season (Figure 6). Lipid

corrected values are instead fairly constant over time, with both tissues having values of ~ -18 ‰ (Figure 6). Failure to account for lipid effects for ABFT in this region would result in false detections of seasonal diet shifts, high individual variability in diet, and low trophic position.



Figure 6. Bulk and lipid-corrected δ^{13} C values of a) liver and b) white muscle from adult Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in Gulf of Maine forage grounds.

Since lipid content of whole body fish and invertebrate samples are highly variable, bulk C:N provided a less clear predictor of change in δ^{13} C from lipid removal. Lipid-free C:N varied by species and certain tissues showed a moderate δ^{13} C response to extraction despite high C:N_{bulk}. For example, euphausiids have bulk C:N ~ 4, but lipid extraction increased δ^{13} C by ~ 1 ‰.

Given the broad range of ecological studies that use carbon isotopes, the biological significance of δ^{13} C changes will vary by study and the ecological questions being posed. With estimation of marine vs. terrestrial (Bearhop et al. 1999) or C-3 vs. C-4 or CAM primary producer contributions to diet (Peterson et al. 1985; Wolf et al. 2002), δ^{13} C end members may be sufficiently distinct, and lipid correction will not alter isotope data interpretation. Where end-members are less isotopically distinct (e.g., Abend and Smith 1997), proper lipid correction may be critical in determining food sources for consumers. Decisions regarding lipid correction will ultimately be decided by the scientific questions being addressed in a given study.

Overall, each tissue dataset had greater than a per mil mean increase in δ^{13} C following extraction, deviations that would alter interpretations of results in many food web studies. The implication is that an analysis of bulk tissue C:N values and correction of δ^{13} C through chemical extractions or modeling approaches may be necessary. Alternatively, transitioning from bulk δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N analyses to compound-specific analyses (Hammer et al. 1998; Fantle et al. 1999) could remove variability due to isotopic heterogeneity.

Lipid extractions with chloroform-methanol altered sample $\delta^{15}N$ to varying degrees (e.g., sample $\delta^{15}N$ range relative to nontreated samples of -2.4 – +2.9 ‰).

Increases in δ^{15} N occurred for ABFT white muscle and fish and invertebrate whole body samples. Fish liver δ^{15} N values were not significantly altered by chloroform-methanol extractions, and the total dataset had minimal δ^{15} N alteration. Previous studies for individual species have found significant increases in δ^{15} N associated with lipid extraction, including tissues such as fish white muscle, whole bodies, and liver (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Sotiropoulos et al. 2004; Murry et al. 2006). These conflicting results support caution in subjecting all samples to lipid extraction prior to δ^{15} N analysis and the need for additional studies to determine the specific mechanism for δ^{15} N alteration.

For chemical lipid extractions applied to fish tissues for carbon and nitrogen SIA, non-polar solvents also caused δ^{15} N alteration previously observed in chloroformmethanol extractions (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Sotiropoulos et al. 2004; Sweeting et al. 2006). This latter method actually has less impact on δ^{15} N than chloroform and hexane, significantly altering only one (white muscle) of the three tissue types examined. Chloroform-methanol extractions are also more effective than the single nonpolar solvents chloroform, hexane, or diethyl ether, as chloroform-methanol extractions produced the lowest C:N ratios and highest δ^{13} C values.

Using C:N as a proxy for sample lipid content, more significant differences were found among methods for higher lipid content liver tissue and whole herring relative to low lipid white muscle, suggesting that choice of extraction method is more critical for higher lipid content samples. Similarly, no significant differences in lipid estimates were detected among methods for low lipid (~ 1 %) fish muscle (Honeycutt et al. 1995), but differences were detected between methods for higher lipid content (> 2 %) marine fishes and invertebrates (Iverson et al. 2001). Among all methods, differences in δ^{13} C were

greatest for liver tissue, and showed about a 1 ‰ separation among extraction methods, a range typically identified as a full trophic position shift (DeNiro and Epstein 1978; Fry and Sherr 1984; Peterson and Fry 1987). Chloroform-methanol extractions also produced higher percent lipid estimates for bluefish livers relative to semipolar and nonpolar solvent systems (Randall et al. 1998). This variability among methods is also reflected in the range of mean C:N values (3.6 - 4.1) for lipid extracted liver samples. Whole Atlantic herring had a separation across methods of about 0.5 ‰ and a narrower mean C:N range (3.1 - 3.3).

As expected, low lipid white muscle samples had minimal variation in δ^{13} C while higher lipid content liver and whole herring had significant differences between nontreated and chemically extracted samples. Lipid-extracted white muscle from this study (mean C:N_{lipid-extracted} = 3.1) and from other marine and freshwater fish species (mean C:N_{lipid-extracted} = 3.1 (Kiljunen et al. 2006) and 3.2 (Logan et al. 2008)) are only slightly lower than bulk C:N values observed in this study. Variation in δ^{13} C values among all methods was about 0.2 ‰, similar to analytical precision. Consequently, these results suggest that lipid extractions may not be necessary for low lipid tissues such as fish white muscle. However, larger sample sizes may yield a broader range of bulk C:N values and call for lipid correction of outlier samples (see Figure 6). All extraction methods produced δ^{13} C values more than 2 ‰ above bulk tissue for liver and 4 ‰ for whole herring, values which could be interpreted as indicative of multiple trophic level transfers (DeNiro and Epstein 1978; Fry and Sherr 1984; Peterson and Fry 1987). These larger variations between extracted and bulk tissue samples indicate that lipid correction should

be used in these tissue types when source end member δ^{13} C values are within the range of variability caused by lipid content.

Significant differences in δ^{13} C between samples analyzed with chloroformmethanol and single nonpolar solvent extractions were not surprising, because these solvents do not remove complex or "polar" lipids, but δ^{13} C values did not vary between methods strictly in relation to total lipid content. Given that liver samples had lower lipid contents than herring samples, and greater changes in δ^{13} C were observed for liver samples than herring, tissue-specific differences in attributes such as relative proportions of polar and nonpolar lipids are also likely to affect extraction efficiency. Polar lipids comprised approximately 15 % of total lipids in liver tissues from hatchery reared lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*), while carcass total lipids contained less than 1 % polar lipids (Hoffman et al. 1999). Percent lipid removed should increase for nonpolar solvents as the percentage of polar lipids decreases.

Nonpolar solvents also removed N-containing compounds despite there being reduced lipid removal relative to chloroform-methanol. While observed δ^{15} N alteration (1-2 ‰) was less than typical trophic level discrimination factors (DeNiro and Epstein 1981; Post 2002), changes in δ^{15} N were similar to many measured fish diet-tissue discrimination factors (Herzka and Holt 2000; Logan et al. 2006), and could create errors in isotope mixing models (Phillips and Gregg 2001; McCutchan Jr et al. 2003). Alteration of δ^{15} N occurred with weak single nonpolar solvents. This suggests that while removal of amino acids associated with polar structural lipids may account for δ^{15} N alteration. Shifts in δ^{15} N following extractions were greatest for the low lipid content white muscle

sample dataset, similar to negative relationships observed between bulk tissue lipid content and extraction-induced $\delta^{15}N$ changes within fish white muscle (Ingram et al. 2007) and liver (Sweeting et al. 2006) datasets. These results indicate that $\delta^{15}N$ changes cannot simply be normalized based on total lipid content. Since $\delta^{15}N$ changes are greatest when little lipid is removed, the $\delta^{15}N$ value of the extract component must vary widely from the remaining pool to create a detectable shift in the extracted sample.

Removal of nitrogenous waste products by lipid extraction procedures may also alter δ^{15} N values (Bearhop et al. 2000). If observed δ^{15} N increase following chloroformmethanol and diethyl ether extractions is mainly due to removal of nitrogenous waste, bulk δ^{15} N values would be less accurate than lipid extracted δ^{15} N. Significant increases in δ^{15} N values were only observed for white muscle samples extracted with chloroformmethanol and diethyl ether. Observed decreases in δ^{15} N values following chloroform and hexane extractions of bluefin tuna liver and white muscle suggest that other nitrogenous compounds are being removed, since nitrogenous waste has lower δ^{15} N values relative to consumer tissues (Steele and Daniel 1978; Peterson and Fry 1987). Given that $\delta^{15}N$ values of dogfish white muscle were significantly higher in samples lipid extracted with chloroform-methanol than bulk tissue samples, but urea-extracted sample δ^{15} N values did not differ from bulk values, observed differences between lipid-extracted and bulk samples are not caused solely by removal of nitrogenous waste. Relative to bulk tissue values, individual amino acid δ^{15} N values vary widely (Hare and Estep 1983; McClelland and Montoya 2002; Montoya et al. 2002; Schmidt et al. 2004), and preferential removal of different amino acids by different extraction methods could produce significant $\delta^{15}N$ increases (e.g., threonine removal) and decreases (e.g., glutamic acid removal) for a given

tissue type as observed in this study. Following these results, alteration of protein nitrogen is a more likely explanation of extraction-induced $\delta^{15}N$ alteration than nitrogenous waste removal.

In summary, extraction methods produced different δ^{13} C values, and all methods altered δ^{15} N for some subsets of tested fish tissues. For these reasons, 2:1 chloroformmethanol extractions appear to offer the most exhaustive extraction approach, but these methods should follow initial paired analysis of bulk tissue and treated samples to test whether extractions will induce δ^{15} N alteration. Future studies should directly test for mechanisms of δ^{15} N alteration following chemical extractions and further examine modeling alternatives to better resolve this central problem of lipid correction for ecological studies using carbon and nitrogen SIA.

Mathematical Approaches

Introduction

Several different mathematical normalization equations have been applied in stable isotope studies of food webs (Kelly 2000), but a standard protocol for lipid correction does not exist. Most mathematical corrections use elemental carbon to nitrogen ratios (C:N) of bulk tissue as a proxy for lipid content in estimating δ^{13} C of lipid-free tissue (McConnaughey and McRoy 1979; Fry 2002; Kiljunen et al. 2006; Sweeting et al. 2006; Post et al. 2007). Through the use of an elemental analyzer, solid biological samples are combusted at high temperature and converted into CO₂ and N₂ gases (Jardine and Cunjak 2005), a process that also allows for quantification of sample % C and % N. Since lipids are composed mainly of carbon and most lipid classes contain no nitrogen, increases in C:N ratios closely track increases in lipid content in animal tissues (Schmidt et al. 2003; Bodin et al. 2007; Post et al. 2007; Logan et al. 2008).

Lipids are a major component of energy flow in food webs, and valuable ecological information is lost when they are extracted (Arts et al. 2001). Since C:N ratios increase linearly with lipid content, analysis of bulk tissue samples can provide information on body condition (Estrada et al. 2005) in addition to diet and movement. Given observed effects of chemical extractions on δ^{15} N values and the importance of lipid data in many ecological studies, alternative mathematical approaches to lipid correction for δ^{13} C were explored.

Methods

To determine the relationship between bulk tissue C:N and % lipid for marine fishes, a quantitative modification of the Folch et al. (1957) method was performed on Atlantic bluefin tuna white muscle samples. Frozen samples were thawed and homogenized. Two aliquots of the homogenate, each weighing ~ 1.5 g, were weighed (\pm 0.0001 g) and immersed in 30 ml of 2:1 chloroform-methanol for ~ 16 hours. Contents were then poured over Whatman filter paper into glass centrifuge tubes. Deionized water with 0.88 % NaCL (7 ml) was added, and the centrifuge tube was capped and inverted to mix the solution. Each tube was then centrifuged (~ 1,000 RPMs) for 20 minutes, and the upper aqueous phase was then removed. The remaining solvent phase was then pipetted over NaSO₄ into a pre-weighed glass centrifuge tube. The tube was then immersed in a water bath (~ 24°C), and the surface was agitated with a constant stream of N₂ gas until all solvent was removed. The remaining lipid fraction was then weighed \pm 0.0001 g and % lipid was calculated using the formula

$$\% lipid = \frac{lipid weight (g)}{wet weight (g)} * 100$$

Statistical Models and Analyses

The accuracy of various mathematical correction approaches was assessed by comparing model fits and estimations of lipid-free δ^{13} C using paired δ^{13} C data from the chloroform-methanol fish and invertebrate dataset (Table 1) and additional paired data (Table 2) using the same extraction method derived from the literature (Sweeting et al. 2006; Logan et al. 2008).

To compare lipid extraction results with those expected by applying several models previously described in the literature, log-likelihood values (assuming normally distributed errors) were calculated for models described by McConnaughey and McRoy (1979), Kiljunen et al. (2006), Fry (2002), and Sweeting et al. (2006). The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC_c) value was also calculated for each model. AIC_c values were determined according to the equation

$$AIC_{c} = -2 * log - likelihood + 2k + \frac{2k(k+1)}{n-k-1}$$

where k equals the number of parameters and lower AIC_c values correspond to improved model fits. AIC_c values are also presented as AIC differences (Δ_i) according to the equation

$$\Delta_i = AIC_{ci} - minAIC_c,$$

where AIC_{ci} corresponds to the AIC_c value for model *i* and min AIC_c is the model with the lowest AIC_c value among tested models (Burnham and Anderson 1998). AIC_c differences were calculated between individual models. Models with Δ_i of about 0-2 have substantial support as best model fits, Δ_i of 4-7 indicates considerably less support, and $\Delta_i > 10$ provide essentially no support for a given model (Burnham and Anderson 1998). All tested models use bulk tissue C:N as a predictor of δ^{13} C' - δ^{13} C.

Taxa	n	Habitat	Tissue	Bulk C:N Range
Fishes				
American eel $(Anguilla rostrata)^a$	50	FW	М	3.3-9.8
Brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) ^a	12	FW	М	3.1-3.6
Bony bream (Nematalosa erebi) ^a	36	FW	W	2.9-8.0
Golden perch (Macauaria ambigua) ^a	36	FW	W	3.2-6.4
Silver tandan (Porochilus argenteus) ^a	36	FW	W	3.3-12.1
(1 elopetheranon unicolor) ^a	29	FW	W	2.7-9.3
Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thunnus)	82	Μ	Μ	3.1-6.5
Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus)	44	Μ	L	3.9-12.0
Atlantic herring	11	Μ	W	6.3-12.5
Silver hake (Merluccius hilinearis)	12	М	W	3.5-4.1
European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) ^b	47	Μ	L	6.4-21.7
European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) ^b	53	Μ	М	3.3-4.1
Invertebrates				
Mayflies (Hentageniidae) ^a	26	FW	W	5.2-10.7
Stoneflies (Perlidae) ^a	15	FW	W	4.3-5.3
Water pennies (Psephenidae) ^a	12	FW	W	4.3-7.5
Water striders (Aquarius remigis) ^a	12	FW	W	4.1-6.0
Krill (Euphausids)	10	М	W	3.7-4.3

Table 2. Freshwater (FW) and marine (M) fish and invertebrate species and tissue types (L = liver, M = muscle, W = whole body) used in lipid correction modeling exercises.

* Data for model fitting were partly derived from literature values published in Logan et al. (2008)^a and Sweeting et al. (2006)^b.

The first tested model form is based on the McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) model (eq. 1),

$$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = D(\theta + \frac{3.90}{1 + \frac{287}{L}})$$

(1)

where

$$L = \frac{93}{1 + (0.246 * C : N - 0.775)^{-1}}$$

and *L* and *D* represent sample lipid content and protein-lipid discrimination, respectively. McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) assumed *D* and θ (a constant term relating to the xintercept) are known (D = 6 and θ = -0.207). These values set C:N_{lipid-free} to equal four, forcing any bulk tissue C:N values less than four to predict δ^{13} C' - δ^{13} C as negative values. The Kiljunen et al. (2006) model (eq. 1a) is the same as the original McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) model (eq. 1), but where D and θ are based on a dataset of fish muscle tissue with values of 7.018 and 0.048, respectively. These values set C:N_{lipid-free} to equal 3.003. The McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) model (eq. 1) was also fit with D and θ based on a dataset of aquatic fishes and invertebrates (Table 2) as eq. 1b. A new generalized model based on eq. 1 was developed that maintains the nonlinear relationship of the difference in δ^{13} C between bulk tissue and lipid-extracted tissue, but aggregates assumed values into three parameters,

$$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \frac{a * C : N + b}{C : N + c}$$

(1c)

The y-asymptote, or *D* in eq. 1, corresponds to *a* in eq. 1c. The model estimate C:N_{lipid}. free is represented by -b/a (x-intercept), whereas b/c (y-intercept) is the δ^{13} C difference corresponding to a C:N value of zero (Table 3).

The second tested model form is based on the Fry (2002) model (eq. 2),

$$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = P - \frac{P * F}{C:N}$$
(2)

where P and F represent protein-lipid discrimination and $C:N_{lipid-free}$, respectively. The Fry (2002) model (eq. 2) assigns a value of six for P and 3.7 for F. The Sweeting et al. (2006) model (eq. 2a) is

$$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \frac{B(C:N_{sample} - C:N_{protein})}{C:N_{sample}}$$

(2a)

with protein-lipid discrimination (*B*) assumed to be 7.08 and C:N_{protein} and C:N_{sample} corresponding to lipid-extracted and bulk tissue C:N, respectively. If B and C:N_{protein} are assigned values equal to P and F, the Sweeting et al. (2006) model (eq. 2a) condenses to equal the Fry (2002) model (eq. 2). The Fry (2002) model (eq. 2) was also fit with P and F based on a dataset of aquatic fishes and invertebrates (Table 2) as eq. 2b.

A new model of the difference in $\delta^{13}C$ between bulk and lipid-extracted tissue and log-transformed C:N,

$$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln(\text{C:N})$$

(3)

was also explored. The model estimate of C:N_{lipid-free} is represented by $e^{\frac{-\beta_0}{\beta_1}}$.

Normally distributed error terms, $\varepsilon \sim N(0,\sigma^2)$, were assumed and models were fit based on eqs. 1b, 1c, 2b, and 3 to data from different tissue types and species with sample sizes greater than 10 (Table 2). For fish species, three nested models of a given type were fitted. The simplest model assumed all model parameters (D, θ and σ^2 for eq. 1b, a, b, c and σ^2 for eq. 1c, P, F and σ^2 for eq. 2b, and β_0 , β_1 and σ^2 for eq. 3) were the same across species and tissue types, the intermediate model assumed that the parameters were tissue-specific and the full model assumed that parameters were both tissue and species-specific. For invertebrate species, two models of a given type (based on eqs. 1b, 1c, 2b, or 3) were fitted where the simpler model again assumed all model parameters were the same across species and the full model assumed for each model type and speciesspecific. Likelihood ratio tests were performed for each model type and species group (fish or invertebrates) to determine the most parsimonious models. Parameters were estimated for all models using least-squares procedures available in R (R Development Core Team 2008).

Results

Bulk tissue C:N maintained a strong linear relationship with % lipid in ABFT muscle (Figure 7; $r^2 = 0.9662$), and a closer asymptotic relationship with the observed change in δ^{13} C due to extraction in fish tissues (Figure 8) than whole invertebrates (Figure 9). The x-intercepts for the simplest fish tissue models (liver, muscle, and whole body combined) were 3.02 (eq. 1c) and 0.962 (eq. 3), indicating a C:N of 2.6 (calculated as $e^{0.962}$) for eq. 3 for pure protein, or the C:N at which no change in δ^{13} C occurred due to lipid extraction (Table 3). A best fit equation for quantitative lipid extractions of ABFT muscle produced a C:N_{lipid-free} of 2.9 (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Relationship between bulk C:N and % lipid content \pm SD for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) white muscle. Lipid content estimates are based on gravimetric estimates on wet tissue using a 2:1 chloroform-methanol extraction (Folch et al. 1957).



Figure 8 a,b,c,d. Model fits to differences in fish tissue bulk δ^{13} C and lipid-free δ^{13} C following lipid extractions with 2:1 chloroform-methanol. Models were fit a) to a general dataset of fish muscle, liver, and whole body paired δ^{13} C samples, and b-d) to tissue-specific datasets. Equations defined in Methods section for Lipid Corrections in Carbon and Nitrogen Stable Isotope Analyses – Mathematical Approaches.



Figure 9. Model fits to differences in whole body invertebrate bulk δ^{13} C and lipid-free δ^{13} C following lipid extractions with 2:1 chloroform-methanol. Equations defined in Methods section for Lipid Corrections in Carbon and Nitrogen Stable Isotope Analyses – Mathematical Approaches.

Model	Dataset	C:Nlipid-free	Protein-lipid
	· · ·		Discrimination
Eq. 1b	All	3.09	6.34
$s_{13}c' = s_{13}^{13}c = p(a + \frac{3.90}{3.90})$	Liver	3.33	7.21
$b^{-3}C - b^{-3}C = D(b + \frac{1}{1 + 287})$	Muscle	3.10	6.83
$1 + \frac{L}{L}$	Whole	3.01	5.50
Eq. 1c	All	3.02	6.63
a * C: N + b	Liver	3.68	6.06
$\delta^{10}C - \delta^{10}C = \frac{1}{C:N+c}$	Muscle	3.07	7.42
	Whole	2.87	6.98
Eq. 2b	All	3.08	6.23
P * F	Liver	3.31	6.52
$\delta^{13}C - \delta^{13}C = P - \frac{1}{C:N}$	Muscle	3.10	6.70
	Whole	3.00	5.57
Eq. 3	All	2.62	~
1	Liver	1.90	-
$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln(\text{C:N})$	Muscle	2.95	-
	Whole	2.73	-

Table 3. Model estimates of $C:N_{lipid-free}$ and protein-lipid discrimination for fish liver, muscle, and whole bodies (Table 2).

Application of eqs. 1, 1a, 2, and 2a to the aquatic dataset (Table 2) predicted lipidfree δ^{13} C with varying degrees of accuracy (Table 4). For fish samples, the original McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) model (eq. 1) and Fry (2002) model (eq. 2) consistently underestimated lipid-free δ^{13} C and had higher AIC_c values relative to modified versions of each equation (Kiljunen et al. (2006) and Sweeting et al. (2006)) when applied to all fish samples, muscle, and whole body samples. For liver samples, the Fry (2002) model had a reduced AIC_c value comparable to values for Kiljunen et al. (2006) and Sweeting et al. (2006). Overall AIC_c values were highest for the original McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) model (eq. 1) and the Fry (2002) model (eq. 2) as both models generally underestimated lipid-free δ^{13} C while the Kiljunen et al. (2006) model (eq. 1a) and the Sweeting et al. (2006) model (eq. 2a) produced AIC_c values that were lower than those for eqs. 1 and 2 (Table 4). For invertebrate samples, the opposite pattern was observed with original models generating lower AIC_c values (Table 4).

Table 4. Statistical comparisons of literature lipid correction models fit to a dataset of aquatic species. Models were applied to datasets consisting of liver, muscle, and whole body samples from a range of species for fish and whole body samples from a range of species for invertebrates (Table 2).

Model – Fish Data	Dataset	Log Likelihood	AIC _c
Eq. 1	All Data	-490.2	982.3
$\delta^{13}C - \delta^{13}C = 6 \left(-0.207 + \frac{3.90}{100000000000000000000000000000000000$	Liver	-102.5	207.0
(1+287/L)	Muscle	-214.8	431.7
	Whole Body	-171.9	345.8
Eq. 1a	All Data	-332.5	669.0
3.90	Liver	-73.5	159.2
$\partial^{15}C' - \partial^{15}C = 7.018 \left[0.048 + \frac{1}{1 + 287/I} \right]$	Muscle	-110.2	232.6
	Whole Body	-129.5	271.1
Eq. 2	All Data	-414.7	835.4
slagt slag 22.2	Liver	-73.5	153.0
$\partial^{n}C - \partial^{n}C = 6 - \frac{1}{C \cdot N}$	Muscle	-187.1	380.2
	Whole Body	-149.8	305.7
Eq. 2a	All Data	-295.7	593.5
$7(C:N \rightarrow -C:N \rightarrow)$	Liver	-67.1	136.2
$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \frac{\gamma(C' + \gamma sample' + C' + \gamma protein)}{C' + \gamma}$	Muscle	-98.9	199.7
$C: N_{sample}$	Whole Body	-109.9	221.9
Model – Invertebrate Data	Dataset	Log Likelihood	AIC _c
Eq. 1	All Data	-50.6	103.2
$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = 6 \left(-0.207 + \frac{3.90}{1 + 287/L} \right)$			
Eq. 1a	All Data	-88.5	183.3
$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = 7.018 \left(0.048 + \frac{3.90}{1 + 287/L} \right)$			

For models fit to the aquatic dataset (Table 2), fits improved significantly with increased model specificity (Table 5). For the group of fish species, likelihood ratio tests of the three models based on eqs. 1b, 1c, 2b, and 3 showed that the tissue-specific model

All Data

All Data

-63.4

-64.2

128.8

128.5

Eq. 2

Eq. 2a

 $\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = 6 - \frac{22.2}{C \cdot N}$

 $\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \frac{7(C:N_{sample} - C:N_{protein})}{C:N_{sample}}$

fit the data significantly better than the simplest model (with parameters constant across all tissue types) and the species-tissue-specific model fit the data significantly better than the tissue-specific model (Table 5). Model estimates of C:N_{lipid-free} ranged from 1.9 to 3.7 among fish models and tissue types with a mean of 3.0 ± 0.1 . Protein-lipid discrimination estimates ranged from 5.5 to 7.4 with a mean of 6.5 ± 0.2 among tissue types for eqs. 1b, 1c, and 2b (Table 3). Eq. 3 did not have a y-asymptote for protein-lipid discrimination estimation (Figure 8), therefore a value for protein-lipid discrimination could not be derived from that equation. The species-specific model also fit invertebrate data significantly better than the simpler model with parameters constant across species for all models (Table 5).

Model – Fish Data	Dataset	Log	AIC _c	df	γ^2	P-
		Likelihood				value
Eq. 1b	All	-281.8	569.6	2	-	-
513 c' 513 c D(0) 3.90	Tissue-					
$\delta^{15}C - \delta^{15}C = D(\theta + \frac{1}{287})$	Specific	-262.7	543.7	6	38.2	<0.001
$1 + \frac{1}{L}$	Tissue-					
	Species					
	Specific	-193.4	465.3	24	132.9	< 0.001
Eq. 1c	Âll	-279.2	566.5	3	-	-
a * C: N + b	Tissue-					
$\delta^{13}C - \delta^{13}C = \frac{1}{C!N+C}$	Specific	-258.4	541.5	9	40.0	< 0.001
	Tissue-					
	Species					
	Specific	-184.4	507.1	36	144.4	< 0.001
Eq. 2b	Âll	-281.3	568.6	2	-	-
P * F	Tissue-					
$\delta^{13}C - \delta^{13}C = P - \frac{1}{C!N}$	Specific	-261.9	542.2	6	37.6	< 0.001
	Tissue-					
	Species					
	Specific	-192.9	464.3	24	133.5	< 0.001
Eq. 3	All	-310.9	625.9	2	· <u>-</u>	-
-	Tissue-					
$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln(\text{C:N})$	Specific	-272.9	531.9	6	77.3	< 0.001
	Tissue-					
	Species					
	Specific	-192.4	463.3	24	159.6	< 0.001
Model – Invertebrate Data						
Eq. 1b	All	-44.4	95.2	2	-	-
$\delta^{13}C' = \delta^{13}C - D(0 + \frac{3.90}{3.90})$	Species-					
$b + c = b + c = D(b + \frac{287}{1 + 287})$	Specific	-25.4	89.0	6	38.0	< 0.001
$1 + \frac{L}{L}$	A 11	40.0	00.0	2		
Eq. 1c		-42.2	92.9	3	-	-
$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = \frac{a * C : N + b}{2}$	Species-	21.0	00.2	0	20.1	0.001
C: N + c	Specific	-21.9	99.3	9	39.1	0.001
Eq. 2b	All	-44.1	94.6	2	-	-
$\delta^{13}C' - \delta^{13}C = P - \frac{F * F}{2}$	Species-	24.2	067	0	27.0	<0.001
<i>C</i> : <i>N</i>	Specific All	-24.3 12.5	80./ 02.4	0 2	51.9	~0.001
ЕЧ. Э	All	-43.3	93.4	2	-	-
$s_{13}c' = s_{13}c = 0 + 0 + (c, N)^{-1}$	Species-	22.1	104.4	6	20.0	0.009
$b^{-1}c - b^{-2}c = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln(c; N)$	specific	-33.1	104.4	0	20.8	0.008

Table 5. Statistical comparisons of nested lipid correction models fit to a dataset of aquatic species. Models were fit to a dataset of liver, muscle, and whole body samples from fish and whole body samples from invertebrates (Table 2).

Lowest AIC_c values (min AIC_c) were not consistently produced by a single model form among general, tissue, and species-tissue specific models. For fish samples, eq. 1c had the lowest AIC_c value among general and tissue-specific fitted models. For speciestissue-specific models, eq. 2b and 3 had similar lowest AIC_c values. For invertebrate samples, eq. 2b had the lowest AIC_c value among general models and eqs. 1b and 2b had lowest AIC_c values for species specific models (Table 5).

Discussion

Multiple models fit to the dataset of fish and aquatic invertebrate tissues closely followed the dynamics of change in δ^{13} C between bulk tissue and lipid-extracted samples with increasing bulk tissue C:N. Original models by McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) and Fry (2002) generally underestimated δ^{13} C for fish and aquatic invertebrate tissue samples, but modifications of these models produced better fits, and are a suitable alternative to lipid extraction for δ^{13} C corrections. McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) assigned values for C:N_{lipid-free} and protein-lipid discrimination of 4 and 6 and Fry (2002) similarly used 3.7 and 6. With the exception of eq. 1c for fish liver, these C:N_{lipid-free} values were greater than values estimated by equations fit to the aquatic dataset (Table 2), which were generally closer to 3. McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) and Fry (2002) protein-lipid discrimination estimates instead were lower than model estimates. By replacing constant terms representing protein-lipid discrimination and lipid-free C:N with parameters fit to the aquatic dataset (Table 2), SSE and AIC_c values decreased and were similar to SSE and AIC_c values for new models (eqs. 1b, c, 2b and 3).

Invertebrate data were derived from homogenized whole organisms, and relationships between C:N and change in δ^{13} C with lipid removal were less pronounced

than in fish tissues. While many aquatic invertebrate species store considerable amounts of lipid (Lee et al. 1975; Meier et al. 2000; Iverson et al. 2002; Fisk et al. 2003), greater heterogeneity in whole organism invertebrate samples that contain high proportions of chitin, in addition to lipids and protein, may weaken the observed relationship between bulk tissue C:N and δ^{13} C (Kiljunen et al. 2006). In modeling approaches, analysis of soft tissue components may produce a stronger relationship than whole organism analyses. For whole organism samples, poor model fits that do not demonstrate a clear relationship between C:N and changes in δ^{13} C (Figure 9) indicate that lipid removal using chloroform-methanol and acid treatment provide better δ^{13} C estimates of lipid-free tissue.

By using a correction approach rather than extracting lipids prior to analysis, the movement of lipids through food webs can be preserved in ecological studies (Arts et al. 2001). Multiple models fit to the dataset of fish tissues tracked changes in δ^{13} C between bulk tissue and lipid extracted samples with increasing bulk tissue C:N. The asymptotic relationship between C:N_{bulk} and δ^{13} C indicates that a linear fit correction (e.g., Post et al. 2007) may not be appropriate over a wide range of C:N_{bulk}.

When dealing with new taxa for which necessary C:N_{bulk}, δ^{13} C_{bulk} and δ^{13} C_{lipid-free} data do not exist, extracting a subset of samples of the species and tissues of interest to develop the necessary correction equations is recommended. These new correction equations can then be applied to remaining data to account for a large lipid load and biased δ^{13} C. This will reduce sample preparations, eliminate the need to analyze all samples before and after extraction, and decrease δ^{13} C variability among individuals yielding improved estimates of dietary source proportions in mixing models (Phillips and Gregg 2001). Most analytical laboratories provide % C and % N data with isotope data,

making it easy to evaluate whether lipids bias δ^{13} C measurements. Values for C:N ratios can be reported based on uncorrected % element data or with correction for differences in atomic weight between elements (i.e. % C / % N * 1.16667). If either method is used consistently, results will not be affected, but applying both methods in a single analysis would reduce accuracy of δ^{13} C estimates (Sweeting et al. 2006). All C:N values used in conjunction with reported parameter estimates should use uncorrected elemental C:N.

The significant χ^2 differences for all nested models demonstrate that species- and tissue-specific parameters provide the best $\delta^{13}C_{lipid-free}$ estimates. Model parameters (slope and intercept) relate to protein-lipid $\delta^{13}C$ discrimination and baseline C:N of lipid-free tissue. As model fits improved with specificity, the data used to generate parameters is more important than the specific model selected. Developing equations specific to the tissue and taxa of interest should produce more accurate estimates of diet and habitat.

No single model performed best across nested models but instead model performance was related to parameter specificity. The modification of the McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) model, eq. 1c, had the lowest AIC_c among general and tissue-specific models, but the highest AIC_c among species and tissue-specific models. The opposite pattern was observed for eq. 3. When tissue-specific parameters are used instead of species- and tissue-specific parameters, the modification of the McConnaughey and McRoy (1979) model (eq 1c) is most appropriate. The Fry (2002) equation using parameters fit to the aquatic dataset (eq 2c) had essentially indistinguishable AIC_c values ($\Delta_i \sim 2$) from eq. 3 for the species-tissue specific fit. Since eq. 3 failed to accurately reflect protein-lipid discrimination, the Fry (2002) equation fit

(eq. 2b) is more appropriate for use with species- and tissue-specific parameters (e.g., brook trout muscle).

For fish tissues, datasets could be created through pairwise isotope analysis of a study's bulk tissue and lipid-extracted tissue for each species and tissue type presented. Models (based on tissue C:N) could then be fit to each data subset, and fit parameters could be used to predict lipid-free δ^{13} C for remaining samples. Alternatively, literature parameter estimates from this study or previous published studies (Kiljunen et al. 2006; Post et al. 2007) could be applied to datasets with similar species and bulk tissue C:N ranges. This approach would be similar to current techniques that estimate trophic position of consumers by using diet-tissue discrimination factors (δ^{15} N consumer- δ^{15} N diet) from the literature (Post 2002; McCutchan Jr et al. 2003; Vanderklift and Ponsard 2003), or ideally, with species- or taxon-specific estimates in controlled laboratory rearing experiments (Hobson et al. 2002). Continued application of this approach in published literature will help to build a library of parameter values across a broader range of taxa and tissue types for use in SIA.

CHAPTER 2

TROPHIC ECOLOGY OF ATLANTIC BLUEFIN TUNA

Diet of Young Atlantic Bluefin Tuna in Eastern and Western Atlantic Forage

<u>Grounds</u>

Introduction

Coastal waters of the Bay of Biscay (BYB) and Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB) are productive summer forage grounds (Figure 10) for Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) (Ortiz de Zárate and Cort 1986; Eggleston and Bochenek 1990). Commercial and recreational fisheries target these regional aggregations (Richards 1965; Rodríguez-Marín et al. 2003). Both regions have estuarine outflows, shelf break fronts, eddies, and seasonal upwelling (Koutsikopoulos and LeCann 1996; Mouw and Yoder 2005), conditions that support productive waters and dense aggregations of zooplantivorous fishes. In the MAB, juvenile ABFT have historically fed mainly on schooling sand lance (*Ammodytes* spp.) (Eggleston and Bochenek 1990; Barr 1991) and on anchovies (*Engraulis encrasicholus*) in the BYB (Ortiz de Zárate and Cort 1986). Schools of ABFT arrive from late May to early June and remain through autumn (Mather et al. 1995; Rodríguez-Marín et al. 2003). In addition to north-south migrations along coastal foraging grounds, young (i.e. 1-3 yrs) ABFT also undertake trans-Atlantic migrations, and mix on both sides of the Atlantic (Mather et al. 1995; Rooker et al. 2007). Consequently, individual fish may visit both the MAB and BYB during their first years of life, although inter-annual mixing rates may be highly variable (Arregui et al. 2006; Rooker et al. 2007).

Atlantic bluefin tuna are "energy speculators" (Brill 1996; Korsmeyer et al. 1996) with high metabolic rates (Korsmeyer and Dewar 2001; Fitzgibbon et al. 2007), regional endothermy (Carey and Teal 1966), and rapid gut evacuation (Butler and Mason 1978). Like other temperate tunas, they undertake long migrations to access productive forage grounds throughout the north Atlantic (Rivas 1955; Mather et al. 1995). These demands require large inputs of high caloric prey (Fitzgibbon et al. 2007). Given that recent changes in prey abundance or environmental conditions may have influenced ABFT distributions and migration patterns (Fromentin 2009), identification of exploited prey bases is important. Recent changes in both ABFT somatic condition (Golet et al. 2007; Neilson et al. 2007) and coastal abundance (Lutcavage et al. unpubl. data) point to possible disturbances in their prey base that further warrant dietary studies, as prey shifts are likely to affect fecundity and stock production (e.g., Benson and Trites 2002) and reduce economic returns in the commercial fisheries.

Atlantic bluefin tuna are opportunistic predators with a wide range of prey (Dragovich 1969). In the NW Atlantic, their diet includes butterfish (*Peprilus triacanthus*), Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*), cephalopods, and euphausiids (Chase 2002; Estrada et al. 2005). In the NE Atlantic and Mediterranean Sea, clupeids (Sanz Brau 1990; Orsi Relini et al. 1995; Sinopoli et al. 2004) and anchovies (Aloncle 1964; Ortiz de Zárate and Cort 1986) as well as zooplankton, cephalopods, and other teleosts (Sara and Sara 2007) are major prey items. Little is known about the winter distributions and diet of young individuals in either coastal area (Mather et al. 1995),

although larger fish consume cephalopods and mesopelagic fishes while offshore (Matthews et al. 1977), and menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*) and swimming crabs (*Portunus* spp.) inshore (Butler 2007).

Previous studies primarily used either stomach content analysis (SCA) (Ortiz de Zárate and Cort 1986; Eggleston and Bochenek 1990; Chase 2002; Sinopoli et al. 2004) or stable isotope analysis (SIA) (Estrada et al. 2005; Sara and Sara 2007) as tools to identify young ABFT diet. Traditional SCA techniques can provide detailed information on diet composition, prey size distribution, and consumption rate estimates (Chipps and Garvey 2006), but only a snapshot of an individual's diet. Alternatively, SIA data track diet over longer time scales, depending on compound or tissue turnover rates (Gannes et al. 1998). For tunas, dietary isotope values indicate average assimilated diet over weeks in liver tissue and months in white muscle (Graham et al. submitted).

A combined SCA and SIA approach was used to assess dietary preferences of young ABFT ($\sim 60 - 150$ cm CFL) on forage grounds in the MAB and BYB. Trophic analyses have not been performed for these regions in the past two decades and SCA was the only dietary metric (Ortiz de Zárate and Cort 1986; Eggleston and Bochenek 1990). This study builds on these earlier works to more thoroughly identify diet preferences for this commercially and ecologically important species, to assess possible trophic shifts, and to establish a current baseline for ABFT trophic relationships that can be used in ecosystem studies.

Methods

Study Sites

ABFT were sampled from the Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB) and Bay of Biscay (BYB). MAB forage grounds are located ~ 30 to 60 km off the eastern shore of Virginia, U.S.A. (Figure 10), and are characterized by sandy substrate and water depths of 30 to 40 m (Bochenek 1989). The BYB is an open oceanic bay partly enclosed by a wide shelf region along the western coast of France and a narrow shelf along the northern coast of Spain (Koutsikopoulos and LeCann 1996). Samples were collected from the southeastern region off the coast of Spain (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Maps of Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB) and Bay of Biscay (BYB) study sites. Sampling locations are located within shaded boxed regions.

Sample collection and preservation

Biological samples were obtained from ABFT harvested by scientific surface troll surveys as well as baitboat, pelagic trawl, and recreational fisheries in the BYB (Tables 6 and 7). Live bait fishing was the primary source of stomach samples in the BYB (~ 80 %). Stomachs were removed from ABFT at sea during the scientific surveys, but most BYB samples were collected from commercial landings in which ABFT were stored on ice for ~ one to two days. Whole stomachs, dorsal white muscle, and liver samples were removed from each individual fish at sea or at dockside cleaning stations, placed on ice, then stored frozen until analysis. Curved fork length (CFL) and straight fork length (SFL) were measured (\pm cm), and sex and wet weight (\pm g) were determined for a subset of BYB samples.

Prey samples for SIA were collected from scientific trawl surveys (BYB, fall 2006) and stomach contents of ABFT and other large pelagic fishes (MAB, summer 2005, 2006). Cephalopod, teleost, and swimming crab (*Polybius henslowii*) prey samples consisted of muscle sub-samples while for all other crustacean prey, whole organisms were analyzed. All prey samples were stored frozen prior to analysis.

Tuna were grouped by size (age) or sampling season. Size classes correspond to 57-120 cm CFL (age 1-3) and 120-151 cm CFL (age 4-5). Age was estimated by direct reading on the first ray of the first dorsal fin or by applying age length curves (Rodríguez-Marín et al. 2007). Most samples from the BYB were from the smaller size class (~ 98 %). While most sampled ABFT were likely immature, the largest individuals (CFL > 110 cm) are \geq estimated size of 50 % maturity for eastern Atlantic ABFT (Corriero et al. 2005) so the dataset could potentially include both immature and mature ABFT.

Table 6. Samp Bight (MAB).*	le collection s	ummary for At	lantic	bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynn	<i>us</i>) from	the Mid-Atlant	ic
	Isotope Sam	ples		~	Stoma	ch Samp	les	
Group	Date Range	Size (cm)**	n	Date Range	Size (cm)***		n	
						Total	Natural Prey	Empty
Age 1-3 2004	6/25 – 7/23	73.5 ± 18.5	17	NA****	NA	NA	NA	NA
Age 1-3 2005	6/29 – 7/13	75.3 ± 3.7	12	6/29 – 7/13	75 ± 4.0	10	10	0
Age 1-3 2006	7/1 – 7/4	98.1 ± 7.6	11	7/1 - 7/10	98 ± 7.3	12	10	2
Age 4-5 2004	6/25	132.1 ± 10.2	4	NA	NA	0	0	0
Age 4-5 2006	7/1 – 7/4	135.2 ± 8.5	28	7/1 - 7/4	135 ± 8.7	29	22	7
All Age 1-3	6/25 - 7/13	80.8 ± 16.6	40	6/29 - 7/13	88 ± 13.0	22	20	2
All Age 4-5	6/25 – 7/4	134.8 ± 8.6	32	7/1 – 7/4	135 ± 8.7	29	22	7
* All fish were ** Size reporte *** For stoma	sampled from a as mean cur ch samples, size	n a surface troll ved fork length ze based on fish	fisher $1 \pm SL$ 1 with	ry. stomachs con	taining			
natural prey (i **** NA mear	.e., samples us is not available	e.	ich cc	ntent analysis				

55

.

,

Table 7. Sample collect	tion summary fo	or Atlantic blu Jeotone Samn	efin tuna (<i>T</i>) les	iunnu	s thynnus) from 1	the Bay of B	iscay (B	YB).*		
		Isotope Samp	les			Stoma	ich Sam	ples		
Group	Date Range	Size (cm)**	Sampling Method	n	Date Range	Size (cm) ^{***}		n		
							Total	Natural Prey	Bait Only	Empty
Summer 2001 Age 2	7/9 - 7/16	$\textbf{82.7}\pm\textbf{2.8}$	BB	24	7/9 - 8/17	86 ± 3.3	48	21	16	Ξ
Summer 2003 Age 1-2	7/14 - 8/6	73.0 ± 10.3	BB, T	7	7/7 – 8/6	70 ± 9.4	36	15	11	10
Summer 2004 Age 2-4	7/31	86.1 ± 3.5	BB	15	6/28 - 7/31	81 ± 2.8	47	18	26	ω
Summer 2005 Age 1-3	NA****	NA	BB, RR	0	7/9 – 8/29	70 ± 11.1	81	46	23	22
Summer 2006 Age 1-4	NA	NA	BB, T, MWT	0	7/13 – 7/29	78 ± 21.2	22	12	0	10
Fall 2000 Age 1-2	9/25 - 9/27	71.5 ± 2.4	BB	28	9/25 - 10/24	72 ± 2.2	48	29	8	11
Fall 2002 Age 1-3	9/17 - 10/13	76.9 ± 10.8	BB	30	9/17 - 10/14	76 ± 11.7	35	13	21	1
Fall 2004 Age 1-2	10/18	70.3 ± 1.4	BB	15	10/18 - 10/26	70 ± 0.9	34	16	12	6
Fall 2006 Age 2	NA	NA	RR	0	9/24 - 10/22	75	ω	1	0	2
All Summer Age 1-4	7/9 – 8/6	82.2 ± 6.3	BB, T, MWT, RR	46	6/28 – 8/29	76 ± 13.2	234	112	76	56
All Fall Age 1-3	9/17 - 10/18	73.5 ± 7.6	BB, RR	73	9/17 - 10/26	72 ± 5.9	120	59	41	20
* Size reported as mean ** Sampling method: 1 *** For stomach sample	curved fork ler [roll (T), Bait b es. size based o	ngth ± SD. oat (BB), Rod n fish with sto	& Reel (RR) machs conta), Mic	l-Water Trawl (N natural prev (i.e.	AWT). samples use	d in the	stomach o	ontent	

analysis). **** NA means not available. ą

Stomach Content Analysis (SCA)

Whole stomachs were thawed, weighed (± 0.05 g), and contents were washed over a 1,000 micron sieve. The empty stomach was then blotted dry and re-weighed to calculate total stomach content weight as whole stomach content weight (g) minus empty stomach weight (g). Contents were identified to the lowest possible taxonomic group. Whole individuals were weighed (± 0.1 g) and measured (\pm mm) to estimate fork, mantle, and rostral lengths of teleost, cephalopod, and crustacean prey, respectively. Stomach samples were classified as empty, containing bait, containing bait and natural prey, and containing natural prey. Only the last two categories were used in the SCA. For "containing bait and natural prey" stomachs, prey identified as bait or chum were eliminated from the analyses. Empty stomachs and those containing only bait were excluded from analyses, since ABFT may evacuate their guts during capture (Chase 2002), and the frequency of empty stomachs is affected by the fishing method (Velasco and Quintans 2000). Collection and analyses of stomachs from the BYB were performed by Enrique Rodríguez-Marín and Santiago Barreiro of Instituto Español de Oceanografía (IEO) and Nicolas Goñi and Haritz Arrizabalaga of AZTI Tecnalia.

Stable Isotope Analysis (SIA)

Prey items and ABFT liver and white muscle samples were thawed, lightly rinsed with deionized water, and dried in glass scintillation vials at 60°C for at least 48 h. Samples were then homogenized using a Mixer/Mill[®] (SPEX SamplePrep, LLC Metuchen, New Jersey U.S.A) with stainless steel vials. Aliquots of homogenized sample (0.6 – 1.2 mg) were packed into 4 X 6 mm tin cups and analyzed for δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, % carbon, and % nitrogen by continuous flow using a Costech ECS4010 elemental

analyzer (Costech Analytical Technologies, Inc, Valencia, CA USA) coupled with a DELTA_{plus} XP isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Bremen, Germany) at the Colorado Plateau Stable Isotope Laboratory of Northern Arizona University (NAU) and the University of New Hampshire Stable Isotope Laboratory (UNH). All C:N values

are reported as uncorrected percent weight calculations $(\frac{\% C}{\% N})$ as opposed to percent

atomic weight ($\frac{\%C}{\%N} \times 1.16667$). Ratios of total carbon to nitrogen (C:N) are linearly related to lipid content in fish tissue (Post et al. 2007) and can be used to track changes in body condition (Estrada et al. 2005).

All sample δ^{13} C values were corrected for lipid content either *a priori* through chemical extractions or *a posteriori* using mathematical approaches. ABFT liver and white muscle samples were corrected *a posteriori* using a mass balance equation (Fry 2002) with parameters specific to ABFT liver and white muscle (Logan et al. 2008). Most prey samples were lipid extracted with 2:1 chloroform-methanol solution (see Logan et al. (2008) for detailed methods). For samples that underwent chemical extraction, a second aliquot of bulk tissue was analyzed for δ^{15} N since chemical extractions alter δ^{15} N values in some fish (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999) and crustacean tissues (Bodin et al. 2007). Some smaller prey samples had insufficient material for lipid extractions and were lipid normalized using mass balance equations (Fry 2002; Logan et al. 2008) with parameters based on common classes of organisms and tissue types (e.g. fish white muscle) (Logan et al. 2008). Carbonates were not removed from crustacean prey samples and may induce a positive bias on δ^{13} C values (Craig 1953).

All carbon and nitrogen isotope data are reported in δ notation according to the following equation:

$$\delta X = \left[\left(\frac{R_{\text{sample}}}{R_{\text{standard}}} \right) - 1 \right] * 1000$$

where X is ¹³C or ¹⁵N and R is the ratio ¹³C/¹²C or ¹⁵N/¹⁴N (Peterson and Fry 1987). Standard materials are Vienna Pee Dee belemnite (VPDB) for carbon and atmospheric N₂ (AIR) for nitrogen. Standard deviations of replicate samples analyzed at both labs were 0.2 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (n = 45) and within-lab precision is ~ 0.2 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. All δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values were normalized on the VPDB and AIR scales with IAEA CH6 (-10.4 ‰), CH7 (-31.8 ‰), N1 (0.4 ‰) and N2 (20.3 ‰).

Statistical analysis

Stomach Content Analysis

Meal size was estimated using the gut fullness index (GFI) based on the formula:

$$GFI = \frac{Full \ stomach \ weight \ (g) - \ stomach \ lining \ weight \ (g)}{Blue fin \ tuna \ weight \ (g)} * 100$$

(Berg 1979; Hyslop 1980). Full stomach weight is the wet weight of a thawed whole stomach, and the lining weight is for a rinsed, blotted dry stomach lining. ABFT weight reflects the wet weight of a whole ABFT body (i.e. round weight), and for ABFT samples from the MAB, wet weight was estimated based on length measurements. Curved fork length (CFL) data were first converted to straight fork length (SFL) using:

$$SFL(cm) = 0.955 * CFL(cm).$$

Weight was then estimated according to the formula:

 $Weight(kg) = 3.733 * SFL^{2.8683}$ (Parrack and Phares 1979).
Comparisons were made using a Kruskal Wallis test and a Nemenyi-Damico-Wolfe-Dunn test when significant differences (P < 0.05) were detected.

Adequacy of stomach content sample sizes was explored by generating cumulative prey curves (Ferry and Caillet 1996). Increasing numbers (1 to n-1) of stomach samples were randomly selected for each dataset and the total number of unique prey types was summed for each sampling. Bootstrapping techniques were used to generate 500 random samples for each sample size in order to generate means and standard deviations with the program R (R Development Core Team 2008). Sample size was then plotted against mean number of unique prey types, where a unique prey type was defined as the most specific identification for a given prey group. Where a dataset contained a prey group identifiable to species level (e.g., horse mackerel), less specific identifications would not be counted as unique prey (e.g., teleost fishes). To assess whether a sufficient number of samples had been analyzed to capture prey diversity, the slope of the final four endpoints for each prey curve was compared to a slope of zero using a Student's t-test (Bizzarro et al. 2007). All p-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using a Holm test (Holm 1979).

Relationships between ABFT and prey size were explored using quantile regression. Regressions were performed for the median (50th percentile) as well as 5th and 95th percentiles to test for patterns in minimum and maximum prey size in relation to ABFT length. Significance was tested using a rank sums test. All quantile regression analyses were performed in the statistics package Blossom (Cade and Richards 2005).

Percent weight and percent number were calculated for each prey group for each stomach sample to generate mean and standard deviations for each prey category.

Frequency of occurrence was also calculated for each prey group. Mean percent weight contributions were compared using a Kruskal Wallis test for crustaceans, cephalopods, and teleost fishes. Nemenyi-Damico-Wolfe-Dunn tests were performed as post-hoc analyses when significant differences (P<0.05) were detected.

The Morisita-Horn index was used to estimate dietary overlap between ABFT size class, sex, and sampling seasons using the formula:

$$C_{H} = \frac{2\sum_{i=1}^{n} P_{i,j} \times P_{i,k}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} P^{2}_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} P^{2}_{i,k}}$$

where C_H is the Morisita-Horn index of overlap between ABFT size classes j and k, n is the total number of species identified in all sampled stomach contents, and $P_{i,j}$ and $P_{i,k}$ are the mean percent weight contributions of prey type i to ABFT size classes j and k (Horn 1966; Krebs 1998). Comparisons were made between groups for both regions. Further comparisons were made between sexes and season-years for BYB samples. Prey were grouped at the order and family levels to explore dietary differences between groups. More general comparisons were made by grouping all prey as teleosts, cephalopods, and crustaceans due to the potential confounding effects of unidentifiable prey components. The Morisita-Horn index ranges from zero to one with higher index values reflecting greater prey overlap among predator groups and values > 0.60 considered to represent significant overlap (Zaret and Rand 1971; Cortés 1997). To include estimates of error, Morisita-Horn index calculations were made over 500 randomly selected stomach samples. Percent weight data were used for this calculation since weight information identifies the relative importance of individual prey groups to consumer nutrition to a greater extent than numeric or occurrence percentages (Bowen 1983).

Stable Isotope Analysis (SIA)

Comparisons of δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, and C:N were made among seasons, sampling years, and ABFT size classes for liver and white muscle. Homogeneity of variance among groups was first tested using Levene's test. For cases where Levene's test results were non-significant, analysis of variance (ANOVA) and subsequent pairwise t-tests were performed with $\alpha = 0.05$ following a Holm test adjustment for multiple comparisons. When significant differences were detected using Levene's test, a one-way analysis of means and subsequent pairwise comparisons using t-tests with non-pooled standard deviations were performed. All tests were performed using R (R Development Core Team 2008).

Relationships between ABFT length and tissue C:N were further explored using quantile regression for the MAB dataset. Regressions were performed for the median (50th percentile) as well as 5th and 95th percentiles to test for patterns in minimum and maximum C:N in relation to ABFT length. Significance was tested using a rank sums test. All quantile regression analyses were performed in the statistics package Blossom (Cade and Richards 2005).

To estimate relative lipid contents among prey groups, ΔC :N was calculated according to the formula:

$\Delta C: N = C: N_{bulk} - C: N_{lipid - free}$

where C:N_{bulk} is the C:N ratio of a dried, homogenized prey sample and C:N_{lipid-free} is the C:N ratio of a prey sample following chemical lipid extraction. Values are presented as Δ C:N rather than bulk C:N, because baseline (lipid-free) C:N values vary among fish species (Sweeting et al. 2006).

Prey dietary contributions were quantified using the package Stable Isotope Analysis in R (SIAR). ABFT liver isotope data were used for mixing model analyses since white muscle turns over more slowly (Graham et al. submitted) and may reflect a mixture of dietary information for local food webs as well as distant forage locations for this highly migratory species. While diet-tissue discrimination is often assumed to be \sim 0.4 ‰ (Peterson and Fry 1987) for δ^{13} C and 3.4 ‰ for δ^{15} N (DeNiro and Epstein 1981; Minagawa and Wada 1984), discrimination factors vary among individuals (Gaye-Siessegger et al. 2004; Barnes et al. 2008), species (Macko et al. 1982), tissue types (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999), and diet types (Adams and Sterner 2000). For mixing model calculations, diet-tissue discrimination was assumed to be 1.4 % for δ^{13} C and 1.3 % for δ^{15} N based on available liver data for vellow fin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*) (Graham et al. submitted) and other fish species (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Suzuki et al. 2005; Trueman et al. 2005; Sweeting et al. 2007a). To account for uncertainty and inherent variability in trophic discrimination values, standard deviation values of 0.43 ‰ and 0.58 % for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, respectively, were applied to approximate inter- and intra-species variability. Prey values were entered into SIAR models as mean values \pm SD. When only a single prey sample was analyzed for a given prey group, standard deviation estimates of 0.40 ‰ were applied for each isotope to account for inter-individual variability.

Trophic Position

ABFT trophic position was estimated using TrophLab (Pauly et al. 2000) according to the following formula:

$$TROPH_i = 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{G} DC_{ij} * TROPH_j$$

where TROPH_i corresponds to ABFT trophic position. TROPH_j is the trophic position of a given prey group, DC_{ij} is the proportion of prey j in ABFT diet and G is the total number of prey groups. Trophic position calculations were made based on mean percent weight data from SCA and mean proportion dietary estimates from SIA. All prey types were grouped into the categories teleost fishes, crustaceans, and cephalopods, and groups were assigned trophic positions based on general data from FishBase (Froese and Pauly 2008).

Results

Stomach content characteristics

In cumulative prey curves, the slope of the final four endpoints was significantly different from zero (P<0.05) for all MAB (Figure 11) and fall 2002 BYB prey curves, but was not following Holm adjustments for the remaining datasets (Figure 12). Results indicate that sample size was too small for MAB but not BYB datasets.



Figure 11. Cumulative prey curves (mean \pm SD) for Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB) stomach samples based on a) the entire dataset b) all age 1-3 Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) and c) all age 4-5 Atlantic bluefin tuna. P-values < 0.05 correspond to significant differences between the final four data points and a slope of zero and indicate insufficient sample sizes.



Figure 12. Cumulative prey curves (mean \pm SD) for Bay of Biscay (BYB) stomach samples of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) based on a) the entire dataset b) all summer and c) all fall stomach samples. P-values < 0.05 correspond to significant differences between the final four data points and a slope of zero and indicate insufficient sample sizes.

Gut fullness index (GFI) values were significantly higher in individuals from the BYB (mean \pm SD: 1.6 \pm 1.8) than MAB (0.5 \pm 0.7 for age 1-3 yrs and 0.1 \pm 0.2 for age 4-5 yrs) (*P*<0.0001). For the MAB, no significant differences were detected between size classes.

ABFT length was not significantly correlated with prey length, except for European anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicholus*) (*P*<0.001). A total of 938 prey items were measured. The largest species were Atlantic horse mackerel (*Trachurus trachurus*), sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*), and the flying squid (*Todarodes sagittatus*). Large ABFT fed on myctophids, round herring (*Etrumeus teres*) and swimming crabs. Sand lance was consumed by a wide size range of ABFT. In the BYB, ABFT feed mainly on age-0 European anchovy and blue whiting (*Micromesistius poutassou*) as well as age-1 Atlantic horse mackerel.

Bay of Biscay

Stomach Content Analysis

For the full dataset, all three prey groups (fishes, cephalopods, and crustaceans), had significantly different dietary weight percentages (P<0.0001). For the summer dataset, prey group rankings were fish > crustaceans > cephalopods with significant differences among all three groups. For the fall dataset, no cephalopods were present and significantly higher proportions of fish were observed relative to crustaceans (Table 8).

collected during summer and fall from 2000-2006 (r	percent weigh	t (% W). perce	ent nun	nber (% N). an	d frequency o	γf
occurrence (% O).					•	
	Sumi	ner $(n = 112)$		Fal	l(n = 59)	
Prey	W%	%N	0%0	%W	%N	0%
Cephalopoda	0.8 ± 8.0	0.7 ± 6.3	1.8	I	•	а
Ommastrephidae (Todarodes sagittatus)	0.8 ± 8.0	0.7 ± 6.3	1.8	I	I	1
Malacostraca (Crustaceans)	33.9 ± 47.1	33.9 ± 46.8	37.5	18.7 ± 39.2	20.1 ± 40.1	20.3
Unidentifiable crustaceans	5.4 ± 22.6	5.4 ± 22.6	5,4	I	1	I
Unidentifiable Decapods	0.9 ± 9.5	0.9 ± 9.5	0.9	I	1	1
Portunidae (Polybius henslowii)	1.8 ± 13.2	1.6 ± 12.2	1.8		ı	ı
Pasiphaeidae (Pasiphaea multidentata)	0.8 ± 7.6	0.2 ± 1.2	2.7	ł	1	ı
Natantia	ſ	B	1	1.7 ± 13.0	1.7 ± 13.0	1.7
Euphausiidae (Unidentifiable)	2.7 ± 16.2	2.7 ± 16.2	2.7	6.9 ± 25.3	8.2 ± 27.2	8.5
Euphasuiidae (Meganyctiphanes norvegica)	22.5 ± 41.6	23.2 ± 41.9	25.0	8.5 ± 28.1	8.5 ± 28.1	8.5
Isopoda	ı	8	•	1.7 ± 13.0	1.7 ± 13.0	1.7
Osteichthyes	64.5 ± 47.7	65.1 ± 47.1	67.0	81.3 ± 39.2	79.9 ± 40.1	81.4
Unidentifiable Osteichthyes	12.3 ± 32.5	12.5 ± 32.6	13.4	22.2 ± 40.9	22.3 ± 41.0	23.7
Carangidae (Trachurus trachurus)	16.8 ± 37.3	14.4 ± 34.3	17.0	27.8 ± 43.1	27.5 ± 42.9	32.2
Scombridae (Scomber scombrus)	1.1 ± 9.8	1.1 ± 9.6	1,8	ı	1	ı
Myctophidae	1.7 ± 13.0	1.5 ± 11.5	1.8	ı	ı	ĩ
Gadidae (Micromesistius poutassou)	18.2 ± 37.8	21.3 ± 39.6	24.1	5.1 ± 22.2	5.1 ± 22.2	5.1
Clupeidae (Sardina pilchardus)	ı	8	ı	4.1 ± 18.0	3.1 ± 15.0	5.1
Engraulidae (Engraulus encrasicholus)	14.4 ± 34.7	14.4 ± 34.7	15.2	22.1 ± 39.4	22.0 ± 39.1	27.1
Phyonhyta	0.8 ± 7.6	0.3 ± 3.2	1.8	ľ	1	I

Morisita-Horn index values varied seasonally but not by size class or sex (Table 9). Based on general groupings (fishes, cephalopods, and crustaceans), summer 2004 stomach content proportions differed significantly from all other seasonal groupings (Table 9; MH<0.60), and consisted mostly of euphausiids (95.1 mean %W). Additional seasonal differences (P<0.60) were detected, but these comparisons all had relatively high P values (> 0.48) with comparable standard deviation values (> 0.45). All datasets differed significantly (P<0.60) based on family-level groupings.

	Family*	General
Group	Bootstrap Mean $(\pm SD)^{**}$	Bootstrap Mean (± SD)
Bay of Biscay (BYB)		
Males*Females	0.20 ± 0.40	0.60 ± 0.49
All Summer*All Fall	0.20 ± 0.39	0.57 ± 0.49
Fall 2000*Fall 2002	0.22 ± 0.37	0.71 ± 0.46
Fall 2000*Fall 2004	0.15 ± 0.34	0.55 ± 0.50
Fall 2000*Summer 2001	0.35 ± 0.44	0.77 ± 0.42
Fall 2000*Summer 2003	0.00 ± 0.00	0.75 ± 0.42
Fall 2000*Summer 2004	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00
Fall 2000*Summer 2005	0.28 ± 0.43	0.72 ± 0.44
Fall 2000*Summer 2006	0.08 ± 0.26	1.00 ± 0.00
Fall 2002*Fall2004	0.06 ± 0.24	0.50 ± 0.50
Fall 2002*Summer 2001	0.23 ± 0.42	0.60 ± 0.49
Fall 2002*Summer 2003	0.00 ± 0.00	0.57 ± 0.49
Fall 2002*Summer 2004	0.00 ± 0.00	0.31 ± 0.46
Fall 2002*Summer 2005	0.12 ± 0.23	0.57 ± 0.49
Fall 2002*Summer 2006	0.03 ± 0.13	0.68 ± 0.47
Fall 2004*Summer 2001	0.29 ± 0.45	0.55 ± 0.50
Fall 2004*Summer 2003	0.16 ± 0.37	0.54 ± 0.49
Fall 2004*Summer 2004	0.51 ± 0.49	0.40 ± 0.48
Fall 2004*Summer 2005	0.23 ± 0.41	0.55 ± 0.49
Fall 2004*Summer 2006	0.10 ± 0.29	0.55 ± 0.49
Summer 2001*Summer 2003	0.00 ± 0.00	0.60 ± 0.48
Summer 2001*Summer 2004	0.27 ± 0.44	0.23 ± 0.42
Summer 2001*Summer 2005	0.20 ± 0.40	0.64 ± 0.48
Summer 2001*Summer 2006	0.01 ± 0.08	0.76 ± 0.43
Summer 2003*Summer 2004	0.00 ± 0.00	0.18 ± 0.38
Summer 2003*Summer 2005	0.19 ± 0.37	0.61 ± 0.48
Summer 2003*Summer 2006	0.35 ± 0.47	0.76 ± 0.42
Summer 2004*Summer 2005	0.20 ± 0.39	0.29 ± 0.45
Summer 2004*Summer 2006	0.01 ± 0.02	0.00 ± 0.02
Summer 2005*Summer 2006	0.17 ± 0.36	0.72 ± 0.44
Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB)		
Age 1-3*Age 4-5	0.41 ± 0.39	0.87 ± 0.25

Table 9. Morisita Horn (MH) values for individual prey groups of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) from the Bay of Biscay and Mid-Atlantic Bight.

* Comparisons were made using data identifiable to the family level as well as general groupings (fishes, cephalopods, and crustaceans).

** Values > 0.60 are considered to reflect significant dietary overlap. Bootstrap mean estimates were generated from MH calculations based on 500 randomly selected individual stomach samples.

Stable isotopes

ABFT liver C:N and white muscle C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N all had significant variance differences among groups (Levene's test; *P*<0.05). Homogeneity of variance assumptions were not violated for liver δ^{13} C or δ^{15} N.

For ABFT liver and muscle samples, significant differences were detected among seasons and years (Table 10). Liver δ^{15} N values for summer 2004 were significantly lower than all other seasons and years. In 2004, liver C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N and white muscle δ^{15} N all significantly increased from summer through fall (Table 10).

Isotope data loosely group common prey species into three trophic guilds (Table 11). Euphausiids (*Meganyctiphanes norvegica*), anchovies, Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*), and swimming crabs share a low trophic level guild, with zooplantivorous grazing likely creating similarity amongst species (Fisher and Goldie 1959; Uriarte et al. 1996; Olaso et al. 2005; Signa et al. 2008). Blue whiting and myctophids, feeding on fish and crustacean prey (Geistdoerfer 1983; Stefanescu and Cartes 1992), comprise an intermediate trophic level guild, and piscivorous squids and horse mackerel constitute a high trophic level guild (Guerra and Rocha 1994; Olaso et al. 1999) (Table 11). Sardines are an outlier among prey species, with low δ^{13} C values comparable to other zooplantivores, but elevated δ^{15} N similar to piscivorous fishes. These higher δ^{15} N values likely reflect upwelled nitrogen rather than any higher trophic level prey components (Bode et al. 2004; Bode et al. 2007). Past studies detected similar δ^{15} N values in anchovies and Atlantic mackerel (Bode et al. 2004; Bode et al. 2007), and these zooplanktivorous fishes could constitute a separate isotopic guild with low δ^{13} C and high δ^{15} N values.

Table 11. Mean \pm SD prey (BYB).	item carbon, nitrogen, and C:N value	es fro	m the Mid-At	lantic Bight (N	IAB) and Ba	y of Biscay
Common Name	Scientific Name	n	$\delta^{13}C^*$	δ ¹⁵ Ν**	ΔC:N	Length (mm) ^{***}
Bay of Biscay						
Northern krill	Meganyctiphanes norvegica	4	-19.3 ± 0.3	8.3 ± 0.5	0.8 ± 0.5	26.3 ± 2.0
Atlantic mackerel	Scomber scombrus	ω	-19.4 ± 0.5	9.2 ± 1.3	0.6 ± 0.5	173.4 ± 35.9
European anchovy	Engraulis encrasicholus	-	-18.6	8.8	0.3	89.0
Henslow's swimming crab	Polybius henslowii	1	-19.2	9.0	1.3	44.7
Blue whiting	Micromesistius poutassou	2	-18.1 ± 0.3	10.2 ± 0.9	0.1 ± 0.0	153.9 ± 51.6
Jewel lanternfish	Lampanyctus crocodilus	-	-17.9	10.7	2.4	138.9
Atlantic horse mackerel	Trachurus trachurus	-	-16.4	11.3	0.3	181.2
Sardine	Sardina pilchardus	-	-18.4	11.4	2.0	219.7
Ommastrephid squid	Todarodes sagitatus, Todaropsis	4	-17.0 ± 0.6	11.7 ± 0.3	0.3 ± 0.0	160.9 ± 46.4
	eblanae, Illex coindetti					
Mid-Atlantic Bight						
Crustaceans	Decapoda, Isopoda	ω	-19.6 ± 0.4	7.7 ± 0.4	NA	19.0 ± 2.7
Squid	Teuthoidea	2	-18.6 ± 0.4	12.6 ± 0.4	0.7	11.5 ± 4.2
Sand lance	Ammodytes spp.	S	-20.1 ± 0.2	11.7 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.1	136 ± 3.5
Atlantic butterfish	Peprilus triacanthus	2	-20.0 ± 0.2	12.1 ± 0.5	0.7	55.0 ± 7.1
White hake	Urophycis tenuis	3	-19.0 ± 1.3	13.1 ± 0.7	0.1 ± 0.0	140.0 ± 7.0
* All S^{13} C values are from 1	inid corrected complee					

All δ⁺⁺C values are from lipid corrected samples.
 ** All δ¹⁵N and C:N values are from bulk tissue samples.
 *** Lengths only reported for individuals where measurement possible.

Mixing model estimates of dietary contributions were highest for euphausiid prey across all years and seasons, with Atlantic mackerel and swimming crabs of secondary importance. European anchovy, blue whiting, myctophids, horse mackerel, sardines, and ommastrephid squids represented > 10 % mean dietary proportions for any sampling season or year (Table 12).

Mid-Atlantic Bight

Stomach content analysis

Teleosts were the dominant prey group in all three dietary indices and sand lance were the main taxa for all size classes (Table 13). Teleosts had significantly greater dietary biomass than crustacean or cephalopod prey while no significant differences were detected between crustacean and cephalopod prey (Table 13). Morisita Horn index values between size classes were not significantly different (Table 9; MH>0.60). *Stable isotope analysis*

Isotope values of ABFT prey were loosely grouped into three guilds: crustaceans, zooplantivorous fishes, and generalist fishes and cephalopods (Table 11). Crustacean samples had both low δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values, indicative of a low trophic position, while gadids and cephalopods had higher δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values, reflecting a higher trophic position. Sand lance and Atlantic butterfish (*Peprilus triacanthus*) had low δ^{13} C, but correspondingly high δ^{15} N values, possibly due to upwelled (Altabet 1988) or anthropogenic sources of nitrogen (Bucci et al. 2007). Mixing model estimates of dietary contributions were highest for sand lance and crustacean prey while remaining prey groups had lower mean proportion estimates of ~ 10 % (Table 14).

	Ommastrephid squid Todaropsis eblanc Illex coindetti	Atlantic horse mackerel Trachurus trachui Sardine Sardina pilchardu	Blue whiting Micromesistius pc Jewel lanternfish - Lampanyctus cro	Atlantic mackeret scomoer scomoru European anchovy Engraulis encrasi	Henslow's swimming crab Polybius henslowi	Northern krill Meganyctiphanes		Common name Scientific name	Table 12. Mixing model estimates of prey cont (BYB). Values are presented as mean proportion
	ae,	AS .	codilus	cholus	ii	norvegica			tributions to Atlantic bluefin tur on estimates with upper and lov
	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.45	Lower 95%	0	na (<i>Thun</i> wer 95 %
	0.02	0.02 0.04	0.05 0.04	0.13	0.29	0.89	Upper 95%	Summer	nus thyni confidei
	0.01	0.01	0.02 0.01	0.05	0.12	0.67	Mean		<i>nus</i>) froi nce inter
	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.05	0.45	Lower 95%		m the Ba vals.
0.02	0.02	0.02	0.04 0.03	0.13	0.40	0.70	Upper 95%	Fall	ıy of Bis
0.01		0.01	0.01 0.01	0.09	0.23	0.57	Mean		cay

	Ag	e 1-3 (n = 20)		Aε	e 4-5 (n = 22)	
Prey	%W	%N	%0	%W	%N	%0
Cephalopoda	1.1 ± 3.6	6.5 ± 22.5	15.0	0.3 ± 1.4	1.1 ± 5.3	4.5
Unidentifiable Teuthoidea	0.0 ± 0.1	0.8 ± 3.7	5.0	•	•	•
Loliginidae	0.7 ± 3.3	0.6 ± 2.8	5.0	i	•	1
Octopoda	0.3 ± 1.5	5.0 ± 22.4	5.0	0.3 ± 1.4	1.1 ± 5.3	4.5
Malacostraca (Crustaceans)						
Decapoda	4.9 ± 22.1	1.3 ± 5.6	5.0	0.0 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 2.7	4.5
Osteichthyes	90.9 ± 26.1	67.3 ± 45.7	100.0	86.3 ± 25.1	55.9 ± 48.6	100.0
Unidentifiable Osteichthyes	57.1 ± 39.5	0.0 ± 0.0	90.0	46.4 ± 35.0	0.0 ± 0.0	77.3
Clupeidae (Etrumeus teres)	4.5 ± 20.0	5.0 ± 22.4	5.0	3.8 ± 17.8	2.3 ± 10.7	4.5
Ammodytidae (Ammodytes spp.)	26.6 ± 35.7	57.1 ± 48.2	65.0	31.4 ± 36.3	50.8 ± 47.0	59.1
Stromateidae (Peprillus triacanthus)	2.7 ± 12.2	5.0 ± 22.4	5.0	I	۱.	1
Scorpaenidae	0.0 ± 0.0	0.2 ± 1.0	5.0	0.0 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 2.7	4.5
Gadidae		8	·	2.6 ± 12.2	0.8 ± 3.6	4.5
Phycidae (Urophycis tenuis)	ı	I	1	2.6 ± 12.2	0.8 ± 3.6	4.5
Syngnathidae (<i>Hippocampus</i> sp.)		I	ı	2.1 ± 9.6	1.5 ± 7.1	4.5
	ı	I	1	9.4 ± 21.1	24.2 ± 42.6	27.3
Parasites (Hirudinella ventricosa)	1	1	I	0.0 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0	4.5
Parasites (<i>Hirudinella ventricosa</i>) Plastic Material			,			187

confidence intervals.	Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB).	Table 14. Mixing model esti
	Values are presented as mean proportion estimates with upper and lower 95%	mates of prey contributions to Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus) from the

			Age 1-3			Age 4-5	
Common	Scientific name	Lower	Upper	Mean	Lower	Upper	Mean
name		95 % CI	95% CI		95 % CI	95% CI	
Crustaceans	Decapoda, Isopoda	0.22	0.45	0.33	0.11	0.39	0.24
Sand lance	Ammodytes spp.	0.07	0.40	0.24	0.01	0.29	0.15
Round herring	Etrumeus teres	0.00	0.22	0.11	0.00	0.23	0.12
Butterfish	Peprilus triacanthus	0.00	0.20	0.10	0.00	0.20	0.09
Sea horse	Hippocampus sp.	0.01	0.18	0.09	0.05	0.27	0.17
Hake	Urophycis tenuis	0.00	0.15	0.07	0.00	0.18	0.08
Shortfin squid	Loligo pealeii	0.00	0.14	0.06	0.03	0.26	0.15

Liver values varied in C:N and δ^{13} C, but not δ^{15} N. Minimum and median liver C:N values increased significantly (*P*<0.05) while maximum values did not change with ABFT length, but significant differences were not detected among size classes or years (Table 15).

Muscle values varied in C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N (Table 15). All muscle C:N value metrics significantly increased with ABFT length (*P*<0.05). C:N values differed between age 1-3 fish in 2005 and age 4-5 fish in 2006, but not among any other size classes, years, or seasons. For age 1-3 fish in 2004, muscle δ^{15} N differed significantly from all other years and size classes. For muscle-liver discrimination, significantly lower values of δ^{15} N were measured for age 1-3 ABFT in 2004 (0.5 ± 0.6 ‰) than all other size classes and years (1.0 ± 0.3 ‰ to 1.5 ± 0.4 ‰) (Table 15).

Trophic position estimates

Trophic position (TP) estimates based on SCA data were higher than those based on SIA diet proportion values. For BYB fish, there was little seasonal variation in TP (\pm SE) from SIA (3.6 \pm 0.6, summer and 3.8 \pm 0.6, fall), and from SCA data (4.1 \pm 0.7, summer and 4.3 \pm 0.7, fall). For MAB fish, TP based on SCA did not vary with size (4.4 \pm 0.8, age 1-3 and 4.5 \pm 0.8, age 4-5). With SIA, age 1-3 and 4-5 TP were estimated as 4.1 \pm 0.7 and 4.2 \pm 0.7, respectively.

(Thunnus t	hynnus).	Valu	es with differ	ent letter supe	erscripts in	n a given colu	mn are signif	icantly differe	ent (P<0.05).	
			Muscle	e – Liver		Liver			Muscle	
			Discri	nination						
Age class	Year	n	δ ¹³ C	δ ¹⁵ N	C:N	$\delta^{13}C$	$\delta^{15}N$	C:N	δ ¹³ C	δ ¹⁵ N
1-3 Years	2004	17	1.2 ± 0.3^{a}	$0.5 \pm 0.6^{\mathrm{a}}$	4.7±	-18.9 ±	11.2 ±	3.2 ±	-17.7 ±	$11.7 \pm$
					0.8^{a}	0.5 ^b	0.4^{a}	$0.1^{a,b}$	$0.4^{a,b}$	0.9^{a}
	2005	12	$1.1\pm0.3^{\mathrm{a}}$	$1.0\pm0.3^{ m c}$	4.7±	-18.8 ±	$11.6 \pm$	3.1 ± 0.1^{b}	-17.7 ±	$12.6 \pm$
			د		0.6^{a}	$0.3^{a,b}$	0.3^{a}		$0.4^{a,b}$	0.4^{b}
	2006	11	$1.4\pm0.4^{\mathrm{a}}$	$1.2\pm0.3^{\mathrm{b,c}}$	5.5 ±	-19.5 ±	$11.4 \pm$	3.3 ±	$-18.0 \pm$	$12.7 \pm$
					1.4^{a}	0.5^a	0.3^{a}	$0.3^{a,b}$	0.3^{a}	0.3 ^b
4-5 Years	2004	4	1.3 ± 0.4^{a}	$1.3\pm0.6^{\mathrm{b,c}}$	4.8 ±	-18.6 ±	$11.8 \pm$	3.2 ±	$-17.3 \pm$	$13.1 \pm$
					0.5^{a}	$0.3^{a,b}$	0.2^{a}	$0.1^{a,b}$	0.2 ^b	0.6^{b}
	2006	28	$1.1\pm0.4^{\mathrm{a}}$	$1.5\pm0.4^{ m b}$	5.0 ±	-18.6 ±	$11.4 \pm$	$3.4\pm0.4^{\mathrm{a}}$	-17.5 ±	$12.9 \pm$
					0.7^{a}	0.6^{b}	0.4^{a}		0.3 ^b	0.2^{b}

Discussion

Young Atlantic bluefin tuna in eastern and western north Atlantic forage grounds mainly consumed zooplanktivorous fishes and crustacean prey. SCA and SIA estimates of teleost and crustacean prey importance varied with SCA showing higher teleost prey proportions, but both techniques indicated that cephalopods are minor prey components. Stomach content composition reflected variable forage patterns, leading to high standard deviations in percent prey weight and number calculations and low Morisita-Horn index values. In contrast, isotope values in each region were closely grouped across seasons and size classes, reflecting a consistency in diet and trophic position over longer periods. Isotope data also reflected slightly lower trophic positions than stomach contents. ABFT from the Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB) fed at a slightly higher trophic position than Bay of Biscay (BYB) fish, because they consumed fewer crustaceans. Prey size generally did not change across ABFT size classes sampled in this study, as noted in previous studies on bluefin tuna species (Young et al. 1997; Chase 2002). Ram feeding on dense prey aggregations like sand lance or cuphausiids could explain the wide predator size range in comparison with prey size (Chase 2002).

Caveats

Gut fullness values suggest higher feeding success in the BYB, but this could be due to sampling biases related to capture methods. Fish sampled from the MAB came from surface troll fisheries that could have induced regurgitation and selection for "hungry" fishes with lower gut fullness (Velasco and Quintans 2000). Most BYB fish came from the baitboat fishery, where fish are landed rapidly. Feeding on live bait would positively bias gut fullness. To account for this potential bias, the size and color of the

gall bladder as well as the texture of the stomach wall were observed for samples collected from the baitboat fishery to estimate whether stomach contents had been consumed during fishing operations. These criteria removed > 40 % of stomach samples collected from the baitboat fishery, but based on differences between SCA and SIA results, some bait were likely still included in SCA results. Distinction between recent diet derived from the baitboat fishery and past feeding on natural prey was difficult due to rapid ABFT digestion rates.

The importance of teleosts in ABFT diet varied between techniques, especially for horse mackerel and blue whiting in the BYB. Horse mackerel is the most common bait in local baitboat fisheries (Rodríguez-Marín et al. 2003) and was only observed in stomach samples collected from this fishery. SCA results are at least partly biased by consumption of chum and may account for their higher proportions in stomach contents relative to isotope results. Blue whiting is not used as live bait, but is a major discard from local trawl fisheries and a diet source for many fish species (Olaso et al. 1998; Lema et al. 2006). Large numbers of ABFT stomachs contained calcified structural remains of blue whiting. Opportunistic feeding on fishery discards has previously been documented for ABFT, including offal from albacore tuna (*Thunnus alalunga*) in the BYB (Priol 1944) and trawl discards in the NW Atlantic (Chase 2002).

The importance of crustacean prey varied between SCA and SIA results in both study areas, although SCA in the MAB was based on small sample sizes that may not adequately reflect prey diversity. Lower crustacean proportions in stomach samples could also be due to differential digestion rates, although sand lance are rapidly digested (Hilton et al. 1998), but still abundant in MAB stomach samples. Given the prevalence

of regurgitation in large pelagic fishes during fishing operations, smaller prey (i.e., crustaceans) might be preferentially removed from stomach contents.

A potential source of bias in these results is that BYB isotope proportion estimates were based on small prey sample sizes. Similar δ^{15} N values for sardines and horse mackerel have been reported, but higher values have been reported for Atlantic mackerel and anchovies (Bode et al. 2004; Bode et al. 2007). Similar δ^{13} C (-19.2 ‰) but lower δ^{15} N (7.6 ‰) values were reported for swimming crabs (Cartes et al. 2007) relative to present values. If these higher δ^{15} N values are used for Atlantic mackerel and anchovies, their proportion estimates are further reduced while euphausiids increase. Alternatively, lower δ^{15} N values for swimming crabs would increase their estimated contribution to diet, although cephalopods and fishes in swimming crab diet (Signa et al. 2008) are consistent with higher δ^{15} N values measured in this study.

If liver tissues were not in isotopic equilibrium with local diet, isotope values could also be biased by previous diet. For example, transits from offshore regions would likely produce lower δ^{15} N values due to baseline shifts (Fry and Quiñones 1994; Montoya et al. 2002), causing overestimation of lower trophic level prey. ABFT arrive in the MAB in late May (Richards 1965), but sampling ranged from 25 June to 23 July, and no significant differences in liver δ^{15} N values were detected. With the exception of summer 2004, liver δ^{15} N values did not differ seasonally in the BYB (Table 10).

Diet-tissue discrimination for liver $\delta^{15}N$ is assumed to be ~ 1.3 ‰ based on studies from other fish species. If actual values for ABFT are lower, results would also be biased towards lower trophic level prey, but experimental results support $\delta^{15}N$

discrimination ≥ 1.3 ‰ (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Suzuki et al. 2005; Trueman et al. 2005; Sweeting et al. 2007a).

Bluefin Diet and Trophic Position

Based on isotope results ABFT appear to feed on low trophic level prey on eastern and western Atlantic forage grounds. King mackerel (*Scomberomorus cavalla*), a piscivore (Bowman et al. 2000) from the MAB, had higher δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values relative to ABFT. King mackerel liver samples had δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (± SD) values of -17.9 ± 0.3 ‰ and 12.5 ± 0.3 ‰ (n = 3), respectively, while the complete ABFT dataset had δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values of -18.8 ± 0.6 ‰ and 11.4 ± 0.4 ‰. Consequently, isotope discrimination values assumed in this study would place king mackerel ~ 1 TL above ABFT. Stable isotope results showing higher proportions of crustacean prey may also reflect other prey types (e.g. larval fishes: δ^{15} N = 8.1 ‰) with similar isotopic values that were overlooked in SCA samples from the MAB due to small sample sizes. BYB isotope results that crustaceans are the main prey base are generally supported by SCA results when sampling biases are assumed.

ABFT diet in the MAB contained high proportions of sand lance, consistent with previous studies (Eggleston and Bochenek 1990; Barr 1991) and indicative of the stability and abundance of this food resource over time (Nelson and Ross 1991; Ostrand et al. 2005). Sand lance abundance was inversely related on a decadal scale to that of cooccurring herring (*Clupea harengus*) and mackerel (Sherman et al. 1981; Nelson and Ross 1991). Large population fluctuations have been recorded in the MAB over recent decades (Nelson and Ross 1991), but young ABFT fed on sand lance during both high (Barr 1991) and low (Eggleston and Bochenek 1990) abundance periods. Despite this

variability, no major prey group has filled the sand lance niche during periods of lower abundance. Atlantic mackerel, herring, butterfish, and longfin squid (*Loligo pealeii*), which occupy similar trophic positions to sand lance (Bowman et al. 2000), are secondary prey items in this and in prevous studies (Eggleston and Bochenek 1990; Barr 1991). Thus, age 1-5 yrs ABFT occupy a common niche along these coastal forage grounds, as further supported by similar trophic position estimates (TL: ~ 4.5 (SCA) and 4.0 (SIA)) and liver isotope values (Table 15).

In a previous study, anchovies were the dominant prey of ABFT in the Bay of Biscay with euphausiids as a secondary prey group (Ortiz de Zárate and Cort 1986), while the opposite was found in this study. Although this could result from differences in sampling, it may reflect inter-annual shifts in available prey or dietary preferences. In trawl surveys within the southern BYB, horse mackerel and blue whiting were the dominant pelagic forage fishes, with minor contributions from sardines, Atlantic mackerel, and anchovies (Mahe et al. 2007; Preciado et al. 2008). Anchovy populations in the BYB have recently declined (Ibaibarriaga et al. 2008; ICES 2008), and their low representation in stomach samples could reflect reduced availability and a consequent dietary shift for ABFT. Anchovy recruitment was relatively high for 2000, but then declined for the remaining years of the study (Ibaibarriaga et al. 2008). The highest proportion of anchovies was observed for fall 2000 (relative to all other sampling years) while euphauiids were absent from 2000 stomach samples, providing further support for a dietary shift in relation to prey availability. Diurnally migratory euphausiids such as M. norvegica (Mauchline and Fisher 1969) may provide a concentrated prey source for ABFT and other marine predators (Brown et al. 1979) in the Bay of Biscay.

In both regions, summer 2004 showed anomalous isotope values relative to other seasons and years. Significant differences in muscle δ^{15} N and muscle-liver δ^{15} N discrimination for age 1-3 ABFT in the MAB in 2004 likely reflect recent immigration from offshore waters. These isotopic differences could be due to previous foraging on lower trophic level prey or regional isotopic baseline shifts (Hobson 1999). Since local diets consist primarily of zooplanktivorous fishes and crustaceans, past foraging at lower trophic levels (e.g., zooplankton) is unlikely, and offshore forage grounds dominated by N₂ fixation and recycled nitrogen could produce such low δ^{15} N values (Wada and Hattori 1991). Differences in oceanographic conditions could have influenced timing of arrivals to shelf regions. For example, in 2004, increased cold, fresh Scotian shelf water entered the eastern Gulf of Maine, which was then advected later in the year onto George's Bank and into the MAB (Taylor et al. 2005). For the BYB, muscle-liver δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N discrimination for summer 2004 was inconsistent with other years. Similar to outlier MAB isotope values, BYB summer 2004 values could be indicative of past feeding in offshore gyres.

Summer 2004 samples from the BYB reflected a higher proportion of euphausiid prey based on SCA and δ^{15} N values, and were significantly different from all other seasons. Isotope results may also mirror this unique diet. Euphausiid abundance in the BYB was high in 2004 (Lezama et al. 2008; Irigoien et al. 2009) while anchovy recruitment was lowest among sampling years (Ibaibarriaga et al. 2008). In the BYB, 2004 was unique, because it had extreme and prolonged winter and summer climatic conditions with minimal transitional spring and fall seasons (Fontán et al. 2008).

Anomalous climatic conditions may thus have contributed to the high and low abundances of euphausiids and anchovies, respectively, in ABFT diet that year.

Prey and ABFT Condition

In the NW Atlantic, lipid content estimates of bluefin prey range from $\sim 3 - 7$ % for sand lance, butterfish, and squid (Lawson et al. 1998; Budge et al. 2002). Based on prey sample Δ C:N values, gadid prey have low lipid content while butterfish, squid, and sand lance have higher values (Table 11). Despite high intra-species variability, sand lance has relatively high energetic content, which combined with dense schooling behavior (Nizinski 2002) provides an ideal prey for a ram-feeder like ABFT.

Available Bay of Biscay prey items vary widely in quality, with anchovies and Atlantic mackerel generally having higher lipid content than euphausiids, blue whiting, and horse mackerel (Soriguer et al. 1997; Mayzaud et al. 1999). Euphausiid lipid content varies widely depending on season, sex, and reproductive state (Mauchline and Fisher 1969; Mayzaud et al. 1999; Albessard et al. 2001). Prey Δ C:N was lowest for blue whiting, squids, horse mackerel, and anchovies, intermediate for Atlantic mackerel and euphausiids, and highest for swimming crabs, sardines, and myctophids (Table 11). Since prey isotope sample sizes were limited and their lipid contents highly variable, in the absence of higher sample sizes and duration, prey energetic cannot be fully assessed from this study. While further studies are needed to compare the nutritional quality of euphausiid and anchovy prey, differences in their quality could affect ABFT energetics as ABFT appear to feed preferentially on whichever prey group is most abundant.

For age 1-3 ABFT, muscle tissues from both regions had minimal lipid stores (mean C:N \sim 3.2, lipid-free value \sim 3.1 (Logan et al. 2008)), while age 4-5 ABFT from

the MAB had slightly higher C:N values (~3.4). ABFT increase in length rather than girth at smaller sizes (< 110 cm), then gain greater mass at larger sizes (Mather et al. 1995; Fromentin and Powers 2005), and a corresponding increase in lipid stores was observed for age 4-5 yr ABFT in the MAB. No ABFT > 110 cm were analyzed for muscle C:N in the Bay of Biscay, but summer biomass gain for age 1-3 ABFT in this region is ~ 5-6 times faster than winter growth (Cort 1991), suggesting that energy stores should increase during this period of elevated growth. During 2004 when data were collected across the feeding season (BYB), liver C:N significantly increased from summer to fall, suggesting that juveniles might instead store energy reserves in the liver. In adults, lipid content changes seasonally in muscle tissue in adults (Estrada et al. 2005; Golet et al. 2007), and increases in somatic condition may have been missed because of limited sample size. In a more comprehensive study in the BYB, there was a linear increase in muscle lipid content with size and both inter and intra-annual variability (Goñi and Arrizabalaga *In press*).

Young ABFT occupy a lower trophic position than co-occurring marine mammal and some fish predators like bluefish and albacore tuna in both Atlantic shelf regions (Ortiz de Zárate 1987; Bowman et al. 2000; Spitz et al. 2006). This result is due to their higher predation rates on crustaceans and other lower trophic level prey species. In the Bay of Biscay, 1 to 2 year old ABFT and individuals up to 80 cm FL in the BYB have low δ^{15} N values, corresponding to values of smaller primary consumers (e.g., sardines) (Bode et al. 2007). It is noteworthy that adult ABFT can reach a trophic level similar to top pelagic predators such as odontocetes and sharks (Estrada et al. 2003; Estrada et al. 2005; Sara and Sara 2007), suggesting that ABFT undergo an ontogenetic dietary shift of

several trophic levels. Nonetheless, young ABFT fed on similar prey items to ABFT in NW Atlantic forage grounds (Estrada et al. 2005), but lower TL prey than ABFT of the same size classes in the Mediterranean Sea (Sanz Brau 1990; Sinopoli et al. 2004; Sara and Sara 2007).

Young ABFT feed mainly on zooplanktivorous fishes and crustaceans in forage grounds in the eastern and western Atlantic. Results generally support past findings that ABFT in the MAB forage mainly on sand lance, but isotope results suggest similar contributions of lower trophic level prey. Further studies comparing the quality and abundance of these prey groups would better define potential impacts on ABFT feeding in this region, and long term monitoring of trophic relationships will be necessary to understand ecosystem changes related to climate change and human exploitation.

Diet of Atlantic Bluefin Tuna in NW Atlantic Forage Grounds

Introduction

Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) occupy productive forage grounds in the Gulf of Maine from May through October (Crane 1936; Mather et al. 1995; Wilson et al. 2005), feeding on available crustacean, cephalopod, and fish prey (Crane 1936; Chase 2002; Estrada et al. 2005). Bluefin tuna have historically supported recreational and commercial fisheries in the Gulf of Maine (Mather et al. 1995). In recent decades, catch landings have shifted, with commercial landings (> 185 cm curved fork length (CFL)) decreasing and recreational landings of smaller individuals (69 – 185 cm) increasing (B. McHale, Pers. Comm.). The somatic condition of adult bluefin tuna

has also decreased in recent decades (Golet et al. 2007). These local shifts in bluefin tuna abundance, size distribution, and condition could be linked to changes in the available forage base (Polovina 1996; Benson and Trites 2002).

Bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Maine consume a variety of prey species with adults feeding preferentially on fishes and cephalopods and juveniles also consuming high proportions of crustaceans (Crane 1936; Chase 2002; Estrada et al. 2005). Most recent assessments of adult bluefin tuna diet showed a prevalence of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) and sand lance (*Ammodytes* spp.) (Chase 2002; Estrada et al. 2005), as well as Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*), bluefish (*Pomatomus saltatrix*), and cephalopods (Chase 2002). Juvenile bluefin tuna fed at a lower trophic position, likely consuming crustacean prey (Estrada et al. 2005) in addition to cephalopods, Atlantic butterfish (*Peprilus triacanthus*), and mackerel (Chase 2002).

Many seasonal migrants to the Gulf of Maine leave this region in the fall for winter shelf forage grounds in the Mid-Atlantic Bight (Block et al. 2001; Wilson et al. 2005; Walli et al. 2009), where they feed on dense aggregations of Atlantic menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*) and swimming crabs (Butler 2007). This forage ground could offer an important energy source for Gulf of Maine migrants during winter months, providing additional nutrition for spring migrations to spawning grounds or returns to summer forage grounds.

Carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes in consumer tissues are derived from dietary sources and can provide longer term feeding histories in addition to the detailed short term records of stomach contents (Peterson and Fry 1987). Carbon (δ^{13} C; 13 C/ 12 C) and nitrogen (δ^{15} N; 15 N/ 14 N) isotopes in consumer tissues are offset from dietary values by a

discrimination factor (Martínez del Rio and Wolf 2004). Using isotope values of consumer tissue and potential prey species and estimates of diet-tissue isotope discrimination, dietary proportions can be estimated through mixing models (Phillips and Gregg 2001; Moore and Semmens 2008). Isotope turnover rates differ among tissues and compounds; liver and white muscle reflect short (weeks) and intermediate (months) timescales, respectively, in fishes (Logan et al. 2006; MacNeil et al. 2006). Tissue total carbon to nitrogen ratios (C:N) provide a proxy for lipid content (Post et al. 2007) that can be used to track body condition (Estrada et al. 2005).

Stomach samples were collected from bluefin tuna and isotope samples from bluefin tuna and prey to test for temporal shifts in diet and trophic position. Liver and white muscle C:N ratios were also measured to assess seasonal trends in condition.

Methods

Sample Collection

Atlantic bluefin tuna stomach and isotope samples were collected from commercial and recreational landings as well as scientific troll surveys in the Gulf of Maine (Table 16; Figure 13) and commercial landings in the Mid-Atlantic Bight (Table 17; Figure 14). For stomach content analyses, samples were grouped based on size class as school (< 140 cm CFL) and large (small-medium, large-medium, and giant; > 165 cm CFL). For isotope analyses, school and large size classes correspond to curved fork lengths < 155 cm and > 175 cm, respectively. Whole stomach samples were removed by cutting the lining above the pylorus. White muscle samples were collected from the dorsal musculature anterior to the caudal fin while liver samples were collected from the tip of the anterior lobe. All samples were temporarily stored on ice after collection then

frozen until preparation for analysis. Curved fork length (CFL) \pm cm was measured for each fish. For some commercially landed fish (CFL > 185 cm), dressed length (DL), curved fork length with head removed, was first measured, then converted to CFL using the equation: CFL = DL * 1.35 (S. Turner, unpublished data). For commercially landed fish, dressed weight, round weight (RW) minus head and internal organs, was recorded and converted to round weight using the equation: RW = DW * 1.25 (Anonymous 2003).



Figure 13. Map of Gulf of Maine study site showing locations of fishing areas where Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) were sampled.



Figure 14. Map of Mid-Atlantic Bight study site. Samples of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver and muscle were collected from the boxed region south of Cape Lookout, North Carolina.

Prey samples for stable isotope analysis were obtained from bluefin tuna stomach contents, fishery landings, or scientific surveys. Prey samples were measured ± 0.5 cm by straight fork length (fishes), mantle length (cephalopods), and rostral length (crustaceans). Whole samples were stored for analysis for all prey except spiny dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*), sand lance (*Ammodytes* spp.), Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*), and cusk (*Brosme brosme*), from which sub-samples of dorsal muscle were obtained. Sand lance isotope data were obtained from literature values (Kaufman and Brown 2009).

Table 16. of Maine.	Sampling	; summary (of liver, musc	le, and st	omach sam	oles from Atla	antic blue	fin tuna (Th	unnus thynnus) in the Gulf
	Early	⁻ Season (Ju	une – July)	M	lid-Season (August)	Late	e Season (Se	ptember – October)
	Liver	Muscle	Stomach	Liver	Muscle	Stomach	Liver	Muscle	Stomach
School*									
2004	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0
2005		2	1	2	2	ω	7	2	8
2006	0	0	0	0	0		2	2	2
2007	0		0	-			-	1	1
2008	0	0	0	0	<u> </u>	0	فسب	<u>,</u>	0(1)
Total	1	دى	1	د ی	4	S	11	10	12
Large ^{**}									
2004	13	35	23 (2) ^{***} '	, 	7	2	12	138	13 (1)
2005	S	22	9(1)	31	15	8 (3)	8	30	10 (2)
2006	8	17	8	4	18	6	ω	14	2(1)
2007	ω	16	1 (1)	6	21	2(2)	14	35	12 (2)
2008	8	18	9(1)	0	0	1 (2)	0	0	4 (1)
Total	37	108	52	42	61	23	37	217	45
* For liver	and muse	cle samples	, school bluef	in tuna re	efers to fish	< 155 cm CF	L while fo	or stomach :	amples, school bluefin
tuna refers	to fish <	140 cm CF	Ľ.		 				
** For live	inu pue re	ecle cample	e large bluef	in tung at	rə > 175 cm	and for stoms	ach camnl	e large hli	iefin tiing gre > 165 cm

CFL. FOR fiver and muscle samples, large bluerin unia are > 1/3 cm and for stomach samples, large bluerin unia are / 100 CIII

*** For stomach samples, values in parentheses represent stomachs that were empty or only contained chum.

		December		January
	Liver	Muscle	Liver	Muscle
2004	1	3	0	0
2005	42	1	0	0
2006	0	0	9	0
Total	43	4	9	0

Table 17. Sampling summary of liver and muscle samples from Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) from the Mid-Atlantic Bight (North Carolina).

Stomach Content Analysis (SCA)

Whole stomachs were thawed, weighed $(\pm 0.05 \text{ g})$, and contents were washed over a 1,000 micron sieve. The stomach lining was then blotted dry and re-weighed to calculate total stomach content weight as whole stomach content weight (g) – lining weight (g). Contents were identified to the lowest possible taxonomic group using keys for external morphometrics as well as beak and otolith morphology (Clarke 1986; Collette et al. 2002; Campana 2004). Whole individuals were weighed (± 0.1 g) and measured (± 0.5 cm) to estimate fork, mantle and rostral lengths of teleost, cephalopod, and crustacean prey, respectively. Chum, consisting of cut pieces of Atlantic herring and other fishes, was separated from remaining contents and not included in any analyses. Stomachs containing only chum and empty stomachs were excluded from analyses, since ABFT may evacuate their guts during capture (Chase 2002). Loose cephalopod beaks and teleost otoliths were analyzed separately from soft tissue samples since these hard parts degrade more slowly (Jobling and Breiby 1986; Van Heezik and Seddon 1989). Beaks and otoliths were identified and measured to generate estimates of prey size (Jobling and Breiby 1986; Hunt 1992; Bowen and Harrison 1994; Staudinger et al. 2009).

Stable Isotope Analysis (SIA)

Prey items and ABFT liver and white muscle samples were thawed and lightly rinsed with deionized water. Liver and muscle samples were then transferred to glass scintillation vials while whole prey were finely minced and transferred to aluminum weigh boats. For whole prey samples, all gut contents were also removed. All samples were then dried at 60°C for at least 48 h. Dried samples were then homogenized with a Wig-L-Bug[®] ball and capsule amalgamator (Crescent Industries, Auburn, Maine, USA), Mixer/Mill[®] (SPEX SamplePrep, LLC Metuchen, New Jersey U.S.A) and stainless steel grinding vials or a mortar and pestle, depending on tissue volume.

Aliquots of homogenized sample (0.6 - 1.2 mg) were packed into 4 X 6 mm tin cups and analyzed for δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, % carbon, and % nitrogen by continuous flow using a Costech ECS4010 elemental analyzer (Costech Analytical Technologies, Inc, Valencia, CA USA) coupled with a DELTA_{plus} XP isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Bremen, Germany) at the Colorado Plateau Stable Isotope Laboratory of Northern Arizona University (NAU) and the University of New Hampshire Stable Isotope Laboratory (UNH). All C:N values are reported as uncorrected percent weight

calculations $(\frac{\%C}{\%N})$ as opposed to percent atomic weight $(\frac{\%C}{\%N} \times 1.16667)$.

All sample δ^{13} C values were corrected for lipid content either *a priori* through chemical extractions or *a posteriori* using mathematical approaches. ABFT liver and white muscle samples were corrected *a posteriori* using a mass balance equation (Fry 2002) with parameters specific to ABFT liver and white muscle (Logan et al. 2008). All prey samples were lipid extracted with 2:1 chloroform-methanol solution (Logan et al. 2008) except sand lance, which were normalized with mathematical corrections (Logan et
al. 2008). Crustacean prey also underwent a carbonate extraction (Jacob et al. 2005). For samples that underwent chemical extractions, a second aliquot of bulk tissue was analyzed for δ^{15} N to avoid potential error induced by the extraction process (Bunn et al. 1995; Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Bodin et al. 2007).

All carbon and nitrogen isotope data are reported in δ notation according to the following equation:

$$\delta X = \left[\left(\frac{R_{\text{sample}}}{R_{\text{standard}}} \right) - 1 \right] * 1000$$

where X is ¹³C or ¹⁵N and R is the ratio ¹³C/¹²C or ¹⁵N/¹⁴N (Peterson and Fry 1987). Standard materials are Vienna Pee Dee belemnite (VPDB) for carbon and atmospheric N₂ (AIR) for nitrogen. Standard deviations of replicate samples analyzed at both labs were 0.2 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (n = 45) and within-lab precision is ~ 0.2 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. All δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values were normalized on the VPDB and AIR scales with IAEA CH6 (-10.4 ‰), CH7 (-31.8 ‰), N1 (0.4 ‰) and N2 (20.3 ‰).

Statistical Analyses

Adequacy of stomach content sample sizes were evaluated by generating cumulative prey curves (Ferry and Caillet 1996). Increasing numbers (1 to n-1) of stomach samples were randomly selected for each dataset, and the total number of unique prey types was summed for each sampling. Bootstrapping techniques were used to generate 500 random samples for each sample size in order to generate means and standard deviations with the program R (R Development Core Team 2008). Sample size was then plotted against mean number of unique prey types, where a unique prey type was defined as the most specific identification for a given prey group. Where a dataset contained a prey group identifiable to species level (e.g., Atlantic herring), less specific

identifications would not be counted as unique prey (e.g., teleost fishes). To assess whether a sufficient number of samples had been analyzed to capture prey diversity, the slope of the final four endpoints for each prey curve was compared to a slope of zero using a Student's t-test (Bizzarro et al. 2007). All p-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using a Holm test (Holm 1979).

Relationships between ABFT and prey size were explored using quantile regression. Regressions were performed for the median (50th percentile) as well as 5th and 95th percentiles to test for patterns in minimum and maximum prey size in relation to ABFT length. Significance was tested using a rank sums test. All quantile regression analyses were performed in the statistics package quantreg in R (R Development Core Team 2008). Prey lengths were based on measurements of whole prey and regression estimates from beak rostral length (cephalopods) and otolith length (teleost fishes) (Jobling and Breiby 1986; Hunt 1992; Bowen and Harrison 1994; Staudinger et al. 2009). Comparisons were made for all prey pooled as well as for sand lance, Atlantic herring, and shortfin squid (*Illex illecebrosus*), species that were found in stomach samples of both bluefin tuna size classes.

Percent weight and percent number were calculated for each prey group for each stomach sample to generate mean and standard deviations for each prey category. Frequency of occurrence was also calculated for each prey group. Mean percent weight contributions were compared using a Kruskal Wallis test for crustaceans, cephalopods, and teleost fishes. Nemenyi-Damico-Wolfe-Dunn tests were performed as post-hoc analyses when significant differences (P < 0.05) were detected.

Stable Isotope Analysis (SIA)

Large ABFT liver and muscle samples were grouped by sampling date: early (mid-June – July), mid- (August), and late (September – October), while school ABFT samples were pooled across seasons. Homogeneity of variance among groups was assessed using Levene's test. Comparisons of tissue C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N were made using analysis of variance (ANOVA) when assumptions of homogeneity of variance were not violated and a one-way analysis of means when Levene's test results were significant. When significant differences were detected among groups, pairwise t-tests were performed with $\alpha = 0.05$ following a Holm test adjustment for multiple comparisons. For cases where homogeneity of variance was violated, pairwise comparisons using t-tests with non-pooled standard deviations were performed.

To estimate relative lipid contents among prey groups, ΔC :N was calculated according to the formula:

$\Delta C: N = C: N_{bulk} - C: N_{lipid - free}$

where CN_{bulk} is the C:N ratio of a dried, homogenized prey sample and $CN_{lipid-free}$ is the C:N ratio of a prey sample following chemical lipid extraction. Values are presented as Δ C:N rather than bulk C:N, because baseline (lipid-free) C:N values vary among fish species (Sweeting et al. 2006; Logan et al. 2008).

Prey dietary contributions were quantified using the SIAR (Stable Isotope Analysis in R) package in R (R Development Core Team 2008). For the Gulf of Maine, ABFT liver isotope data from fish sampled during late season (September to October) were used for mixing model analyses since white muscle turns over more slowly (Graham et al. submitted) and may reflect a mixture of dietary information for local food webs as well as distant forage locations for this highly migratory species. For prey sources, species found in stomach samples at > 3 % weight that represented distinct trophic guilds were used (Table 18). For species found in stomach samples of both ABFT size classes, prey isotope data were segregated based on the size range found in stomach samples for this study (Tables 18 and 19) and a previous study (Chase 2002). For the Mid-Atlantic Bight, all ABFT liver samples (December and January) were used. Prey items identified as important dietary components based on biomass or frequency of occurrence in stomach samples (Butler 2007) were included as sources (Table 20).

Mixing models can only generate absolute solutions when the number of prey sources is $\leq n + 1$ isotopes. As source number increases, uncertainty in individual source contributions also increases (Phillips and Gregg 2003; Moore and Semmens 2008). To reduce such error, prey sources that did not significantly differ were combined *a priori* (Phillips et al. 2005). Prey species' isotope values were first plotted for visual comparison (Figures 15 and 16), then statistically compared with ANOVA followed by pairwise t-tests with Holm adjustment for multiple comparisons. Nitrogen isotope values were first compared among individual prey species. A subsequent statistical comparison of carbon isotope values was performed for any pairs that did not have significantly different nitrogen isotope values.



Figure 15. Mean \pm SD carbon and nitrogen isotope values for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) and representative prey species in the Gulf of Maine. School bluefin tuna are all < 155 cm CFL while large individuals are > 175 cm CFL. Among prey species, the herring guild consists of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*), adult shortfin squid (*Illex illecebrosus*), and spiny dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*). The mackerel guild consists of Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*) and silver hake (*Merluccius bilinearis*). Groundfish refers to Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) and cusk (*Brosme brosme*). These groups were pooled due to non-significant differences in isotope values among individual species.



Figure 16. Mean \pm SD carbon and nitrogen isotope values for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) and representative prey species in the Mid-Atlantic Bight.

While diet-tissue discrimination is often assumed to be ~ 0.4 ‰ (Peterson and Fry 1987) for δ^{13} C and 3.4 ‰ for δ^{15} N (DeNiro and Epstein 1978; Minagawa and Wada 1984; Peterson and Fry 1987; Post 2002), discrimination factors vary among individuals (Gaye-Siessegger et al. 2004; Barnes et al. 2008), species (Macko et al. 1982), tissue types (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999), and diet types (Adams and Sterner 2000; Focken 2004; Aberle and Malzahn 2007). For mixing model calculations, diet-tissue

discrimination was assumed to be 1.4 ‰ for δ^{13} C and 1.3 ‰ for δ^{15} N based on available liver data for yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*) (Graham et al. submitted) and other fish species (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Suzuki et al. 2005; Trueman et al. 2005; Sweeting et al. 2007a). To account for uncertainty and inherent variability in trophic discrimination values, we applied standard deviation values of 0.43 ‰ and 0.58 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, respectively, to approximate inter and intra-species variability (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; McCutchan Jr et al. 2003; Suzuki et al. 2005; Trueman et al. 2005; Sweeting et al. 2007a; Sweeting et al. 2007b; Graham et al. submitted). Prey values were entered into SIAR models as mean values ± SD. When only a single prey sample was analyzed for a given prey group, standard deviation estimates of 0.40 were applied for each isotope to account for inter-individual variability.

io programmi our oori, minogon, ui	THE CIT CHIM	$(+ \nu \nu)$	THIT OF ALLER OF	veroque moror	
at least one isotope.					
Scientific Name	n	δ ¹³ C**	8 ¹⁵ N***	ΔCN ^{****}	Length (cm)
Ammodytes spp.	121	-19.8 ± 0.4	10.3 ± 0.3	$1.9\pm0.8*$	14.8 ± 2.5
Illex illecebrosus	9	-19.1 ± 0.3	11.4 ± 0.2	1.0 ± 0.1	15.0 ± 4.0
Clupea harengus	25	-19.0 ± 0.5	11.9 ± 0.6	3.3 ± 2.0	24.5 ± 2.8
Squalus acanthias	8	-18.5 ± 0.4	12.0 ± 0.8	1.6 ± 1.1	78.6 ± 6.9
Scomber scombrus	المعمو المعمو	-19.0 ± 0.3	12.5 ± 0.7	1.8 ± 1.6	23.6 ± 3.9
Merluccius bilinearis	25	-18.8 ± 0.5	12.4 ± 0.5	0.6 ± 0.3	21.1 ± 8.5
Gadus morhua, Brosme	6	-18.2 ± 0.3	14.3 ± 0.2	NA	48.3 ± 7.6
brosme					
Pomatomus saltatrix	13	-17.5 ± 0.5	16.4 ± 0.6	2.3 ± 0.9	55.7 ± 3.7
Euphausiidae	11	$\textbf{-20.5}\pm0.5$	8.6 ± 0.4	0.5 ± 0.2	1.6 ± 0.6
Ammodytes spp.	63	-20.0 ± 0.4	10.4 ± 0.3	$2.4 \pm 0.3*$	12.7 ± 1.4
Illex illecebrosus	6	-19.2 ± 0.2	10.6 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 0.2	8.9 ± 1.0
Loligo pealeii		-18.8	12.3	0.7	6.5
Clupea harengus	4	-19.3 ± 0.5	11.0 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 0.3	13.7 ± 1.1
erature (Kaufman et al. 2009) with δ^{13}	C based on lip	oid normalization (Logan et al. 2008). Sand lance ΔC	N estimates are
obtained from adult (length: 19.5 ± 0	0.0 cm; n = 2	and school ABFT	stomachs (11.2 \pm	: 1.7; n = 8).	
ipid corrected samples.					
	t least one isotope. Scientific Name Ammodytes spp. Illex illecebrosus Clupea harengus Squalus acanthias Scomber scombrus Merluccius bilinearis Gadus morhua, Brosme brosme Pomatomus saltatrix Euphausiidae Ammodytes spp. Illex illecebrosus Loligo pealeii Clupea harengus rature (Kaufinan et al. 2009) with δ^{15} obtained from adult (length: 19.5 ± 0	t least one isotope. n Scientific Name n Ammodytes spp. 121 Illex illecebrosus 9 Clupea harengus 25 Squalus acanthias 8 Scomber scombrus 11 Merluccius bilinearis 25 Gadus morhua, Brosme 6 brosme 13 Euphausiidae 11 Ammodytes spp. 13 Illex illecebrosus 63 Illex illecebrosus 63 Illex illecebrosus 1 Ammodytes spp. 63 Illex illecebrosus 1 Clupea harengus 4 Clupea harengus 1 Joitgo pealeii 1 Clupea harengus 1 potained from adult (length: 19.5 ± 0.0 cm; n = 2) 1 pid corrected samples. 9	t least one isotope. n $8^{13}C^*$ Scientific Name n $8^{13}C^*$ Ammodytes spp. 121 -19.8 ± 0.4 Illex illecebrosus 9 -19.1 ± 0.3 Clupea harengus 25 -19.0 ± 0.5 Squalus acanthias 8 -18.5 ± 0.4 Scomber scombrus 11 -19.0 ± 0.5 Gadus morhua, Brosme 6 -18.2 ± 0.3 brosme 25 -18.8 ± 0.5 Pomatomus saltatrix 13 $-17.5 \pm 0.5 \pm 0.5$ Euphausiidae 11 $-20.5 \pm 0.5 \pm 0.5$ Ammodytes spp. 11 $-20.5 \pm 0.5 \pm 0.5$ Loligo pealeii 1 $-20.5 \pm 0.5 \pm 0.5$ Atmmodytes actives 1 -19.2 ± 0.2 Antice (Kaufinan et al. 2009) with δ^{13} C based on lipid normalization (obtained from adult (length: 19.5 ± 0.0 cm; n = 2) and school ABFT	t least one isotope. n $\delta^{13}C^{**}$ $\delta^{13}N^{***}$ Ammodytes spp. 121 -19.8 ± 0.4 10.3 ± 0.3 Illex illecebrosus 9 -19.1 ± 0.3 11.4 ± 0.2 Clupea harengus 25 -19.0 ± 0.3 11.4 ± 0.2 Scomber scombrus 11 -19.0 ± 0.3 12.5 ± 0.7 Merluccius bilinearis 25 -18.8 ± 0.4 12.0 ± 0.8 Scomber scombrus 11 -19.0 ± 0.3 12.5 ± 0.7 Merluccius bilinearis 25 -18.8 ± 0.5 12.4 ± 0.5 Gadus morhua, Brosme 6 -18.2 ± 0.3 14.3 ± 0.2 brosme 13 -17.5 ± 0.5 16.4 ± 0.6 Euphausiidae 11 -20.5 ± 0.5 8.6 ± 0.4 Ammodytes spp. 13 -17.5 ± 0.5 16.4 ± 0.3 Illex illecebrosus 6 -19.2 ± 0.2 10.6 ± 0.2 Loligo pealeii 1 -18.8 12.3 Clupea harengus 1 -18.8 12.3 Clupea harengus 1 -18.8 12.3 Clupea harengus 1 -18.8 12.3	c proj n $\delta^{13}C^*$ $\delta^{13}N^{***}$ ΔCN^{****} Scientific Name n $\delta^{13}C^*$ $\delta^{13}N^{***}$ ΔCN^{****} Ammodytes spp. 121 -19.8 ± 0.4 10.3 ± 0.3 1.9 ± 0.8* Illex illecebrosus 9 -19.1 ± 0.3 11.4 ± 0.2 1.0 ± 0.1 Clupea harengus 25 -19.0 ± 0.5 11.9 ± 0.6 3.3 ± 2.0 Squalus acanthias 8 -18.5 ± 0.4 12.0 ± 0.8* 1.6 ± 1.1 Scomber scombrus 11 -19.0 ± 0.5 11.9 ± 0.6 3.3 ± 2.0 Squalus acanthias 25 -18.5 ± 0.4 12.0 ± 0.8 1.6 ± 1.1 Scomber scombrus 11 -19.0 ± 0.3 12.5 ± 0.7 1.8 ± 1.6 Merluccius bilinearis 25 -18.8 ± 0.5 12.4 ± 0.5 0.6 ± 0.3 Gadus morhua, Brosme 6 -18.2 ± 0.3 14.3 ± 0.2 NA brosme 13 -17.5 ± 0.5 16.4 ± 0.6 2.3 ± 0.9 Euphausiidae 11 -20.5 ± 0.5 8.6 ± 0.4 0.5 ± 0.2 Ammodytes spp. 6 -19.2 ± 0.2 10.6 ± 0.2 0.9 ± 0.2<

Table 18. Gulf of Maine prey item carbon, nitrogen, and CN values (\pm SD). Prey names with different superscript letters

^{***} All δ^{15} N and CN values are from bulk tissue samples. ^{****} Δ CN represents the difference in CN between bulk and lipid extracted sub-samples.

the Gulf of Maine (GOM).	Ň	(,	
		E		Prey Length (cm)*	**
Prey Species	Common name	n*	Mean \pm SD	Minimum	Maximum
	School Atlantic bluef	in tuna (<140 (cm CFL)		
Ammodytes spp.	Sand lance	711 (9)	10.5 ± 1.2	6.3	15.5
Selene setapinnis	Atlantic moonfish	1 (1)	4.9	4.9	4,9
Clupea harengus	Atlantic herring	18 (1)	10.9 ± 9.2	4.5	28.4
Euphausiidae	Krill	3 (1)	4.0 ± 4.4	3.7	4.5
Loligo pealeii	Longfin squid	3 (1)	5.5 ± 2.4	2.8	7.4
Illex illecebrocus	Shortfin squid	3 (3)	9.5 ± 2.3	7.0	11.5
	Large Atlantic bluefi	<i>n tuna</i> (>165 c	im CFL)		
Ammodytes spp.	Sand lance	1 (1)	13.1	13.1	13.1
Cyclopterus lumpus	Lumpfish	2 (2)	13.9 ± 14.0	4.0	23.8
Clupea harengus	Atlantic herring	185 (51)	23.1 ± 2.7	16.4	29.0
Euphausiidae	Krill	1 (1)	6.4	6.4	6.4
Melanogrammus aeglefinus	Haddock	1 (1)	41.2	41.2	41.2
Pollachius virens	Pollock	32 (9)	24.1 ± 5.6	14.7	36.6
Urophycis chuss	Red hake	3 (3)	27.7 ± 5.4	22.7	33.3
Merluccius bilinearis	Silver hake	112 (30)	19.7 ± 6.0	10.6	40.5
Illex illecebrocus	Shortfin squid	312 (34)	12.6 ± 2.2	5.1	22.4
Pseudopleuronectes americanus	Winter flounder	13 (1)	25.2 ± 2.5	22.5	30.2
Pomatomus saltatrix	Bluefish	4 (3)	39.2 ± 20.5	20.8	63.0
Rajidae	Skate	1(1)	16.0	16.0	16.0
Scomber scombrus	Atlantic mackerel	51 (7)	21.7 ± 3.8	18.3	31.2
Sebastes fasciatus	Redfish	15 (8)	15.4 ± 3.8	9.3	22.6
Squalus acanthias	Spiny dogfish	3 (2)	70.8 ± 2.8	68.0	73.5
Peprilus triacanthus	Atlantic butterfish	2 (1)	11.8 ± 1.1	11.0	12.5
* Sample size (n) refers to the number of p	rev samples followed by	v stomach samp	le size in parentl	leses.	

Table 19. Size distributions of prey from school (< 140 cm CFL) and large (>165 cm CFL) Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus) in

** Lengths are based on whole prey and otolith and beak regressions.

÷

superscript letters significant	tly differ for at least one isot	tope.				
Common Name	Scientific Name	n	δ ¹³ C*	δ ¹⁵ N**	ΔCN***	Length (cm)
Atlantic needlefish ^a	Strongylura marina	8	-16.6 ± 2.2	16.2 ± 1.6	1.3 ± 1.2	NA
Atlantic menhaden ^b	Brevoortia tyrannus	14	-18.4 ± 1.2	14.4 ± 1.0	2.3 ± 1.2	27.2 ± 2.3
Longfin squid ^a	Loligo pealeii	2	$\textbf{-16.8}\pm0.0$	15.5 ± 1.1	0.7 ± 0.4	11.5
Iridescent shore crab ^c	Portunus gibbesii	8	-17.8 ± 0.5	9.7 ± 0.7	1.4 ± 0.8	5.3 ± 0.7
[*] All δ^{13} C values are from lipid co	rrected samples.					
** All S ¹⁵ N and CN values are from	n hulk tieeue camplee					

Table 20. Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB; North Carolina) prey item carbon, nitrogen, and CN values (± SD). Prey names with different

At o IN and CN values are from outk tissue samples.

Results

Prey Curves

The slopes of endpoints for all datasets were significantly different from zero, indicating inadequate sample size for all datasets (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Cumulative prey curves showing estimated numbers of unique prey species observed across increasing sample sizes for a) school bluefin tuna (< 140 cm CFL) b) all large bluefin tuna (>165 cm CFL) pooled across sampling years and c-g) for individual sampling years (2004 – 2008). P-values refer to comparisons of the slope of the final four sample sizes to a slope of zero. Significant values indicate insufficient sample size to adequately capture prey diversity.

Prey Size

For all measured prey, median and maximum prey size increased significantly with predator size, but minimum prey size did not change (Table 19). For shortfin squid, no size relationships were detected. For herring, minimum prey size increased with ABFT size, but maximum and median sizes did not change. This is likely due to the presence of a single school size class fish that contained many small and large herring. For sand lance, median and maximum prey size increased with ABFT size, but not minimum prey size, although only one sand lance was measured for adult bluefin tuna. *Prey Composition*

ABFT diet composition was made up mainly of fishes, which comprised a significantly greater weight percentage of stomach contents than cephalopod or crustacean prey for both ABFT size classes (Tables 21 and 22). No differences were detected between cephalopod and crustacean prey for either size class. School ABFT stomach samples contained mostly sand lance and euphausiids and to a lesser degree Atlantic herring (Table 21). Large ABFT samples contained mostly Atlantic herring (Table 22). Secondary prey groups (~ 3 - 5 % weight) in order of increased weight proportions were Atlantic mackerel, pollock (*Pollachius virens*), silver hake, sand lance, bluefish, and cephalopods.

und for of and of acquered of or occurrence (foo).			
Prey	%W	%N	%O
Cephalopoda	0.3 ± 1.0	0.4 ± 1.4	18.8
Unidentifiable Teuthoidea	0.0 ± 0.2	0.0 ± 0.0	6.3
Ommastrephidae (Illex illecebrosus)	0.0 ± 0.2	0.0 ± 0.0	6.3
Loliginidae (<i>Loligo pealeii</i>)	0.2 ± 1.0	0.3 ± 1.4	6.3
Malacostraca (Crustaceans)	27.1 ± 41.9	48.3 ± 46.7	62.5
Amphipoda	0.5 ± 2.1	2.1 ± 8.3	6.3
Decapoda (Unidentifiable)	0.0 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0	6.3
Euphausia (Euphausiidae)	26.5 ± 41.0	46.2 ± 45.0	62.5
Osteichthyes	72.4 ± 41.7	41.2 ± 43.8	93.8
Unidentifiable teleosts	20.4 ± 35.3	0.6 ± 2.1	62.5
Clupeidae (Clupea harengus)	9.4 ± 25.8	12.2 ± 33.2	12.5
Ammodytidae (Ammodytes spp.)	41.0 ± 46.2	28.0 ± 37.9	50.0
Carangidae (Selene setapinnis)	0.2 ± 0.8	0.0 ± 0.0	6.3
Monacanthidae	1.3 ± 5.3	0.5 ± 2.1	6.3
Heterokontophyta (Ascophyllum and unidentifiable)	0.1 ± 0.4	0.0 ± 0.0	12.5
Foreign Material (Wood, gravel, plastic)	0.1 ± 0.5	0.0 ± 0.0	12.5

Table 21. Stomach contents from school Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*; <140 cm CFL). Contents are reported as mean wet weight and number percentages \pm SD (%W and %N) and by frequency of occurrence (%O).

Prey	%W	%N	%0
Bivalvia	0.0 ± 0.0	1.0 ± 8.4	2.0
Cephalopoda	5.1 ± 18.7	8.2 ± 21.4	28.4
Unidentifiable Teuthoidea	1.8 ± 10.5	2.5 ± 11.6	19.6
Ommastrephidae (Illex illecebrosus)	3.4 ± 15.3	5.7 ± 17.9	18.6
Malacostraca (Crustaceans)	1.1 ± 9.9	3.6 ± 15.6	8.8
Amphipoda	0.1 ± 0.8	2.0 ± 12.0	3.9
Decapoda (Unidentifiable Decapoda)	0.0 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 4.0	3.9
Decapoda (Homarus americanus)	0.0 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.7	1.0
Euphausiidae	1.0 ± 9.9	1.0 ± 9.9	1.0
Fishes	92.9 ± 21.3	74.1 ± 34.6	96.1
Chondrichthyes	2.2 ± 12.6	0.6 ± 4.1	5.9
Squalidae (Squalus acanthias)	2.2 ± 12.6	0.6 ± 4.1	4.9
Rajidae	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.5	1.0
Osteichthyes	90.8 ± 24.1	73.5 ± 34.7	96.1
Unidentifiable teleosts	24.5 ± 31.6	13.4 ± 29.6	76.5
Chupeidae (Clupea harengus)	39.2 ± 38.7	39.5 ± 39.5	64.7
Ammodytidae (Ammodytes sp.)	4.4 ± 19.7	1.2 ± 10.0	4.9
Pomatomidae (Pomatomus saltatrix)	5.3 ± 19.5	3.2 ± 10.8	10.8
Scombridae (Scomber scombrus)	3.1 ± 11.7	3.1 ± 14.1	10.8
Stromateidae (Peprilus triacanthus)	0.0 ± 0.3	0.0 ± 0.5	1.0
Pleuronectidae (Pseudopleuronectes	0.8 ± 8.3	0.7 ± 6.8	1.0
americanus)			
Ophichthidae (Ophichthus cruentifer)	0.0 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 1.0	1.0
Unidentifiable Gadiformes	2.3 ± 11.9	1.4 ± 10.8	6.9
Merluccidae (Merluccius bilinearis)	3.8 ± 14.9	5.0 ± 19.5	10.8
Phycidae (Unidentifiable)	0.5 ± 4.8	0.3 ± 3.3	1.0
Phycidae (Urophycis chuss)	0.8 ± 6.7	0.8 ± 5.9	2.0
Gadidae (Pollachius virens)	3.4 ± 13.4	3.7 ± 14.9	6.9
Gadidae (<i>Melanogrammus aeglefinus</i>)	0.4 ± 4.3	0.1 ± 0.9	1.0
Sebastidae (Sebastes fasciatus)	1.5 ± 10.3	1.0 ± 6.9	3.9
Cyclopteridae (Cyclopterus lumpus)	0.8 ± 8.4	0.3 ± 2.9	2.0
Heterokontophyta (Ascophyllum and unidentifiable)	0.4 ± 3.3	0.4 ± 1.9	12.7
Parasites (Trematoda)	0.2 ± 1.0	6.9 ± 16.2	29.4
Foreign Material (Wood, gravel, plastic)	0.3 ± 1.9	0.0 ± 0.0	11.8

Table 22. Stomach contents from large Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*; >165 cm CFL). Contents are reported as mean wet weight and number percentages \pm SD (%W and %N) and by frequency of occurrence (%O).

Isotopes

Gulf of Maine

For liver and muscle, both inter-season and inter-size class differences were detected (Table 23). Differences in δ^{13} C were detected between school and large size classes; school ABFT liver values were significantly lower than all seasonal groups while muscle values were lower than those for early and late season fish. For both tissue types, mid- and late season δ^{15} N values were significantly higher than early season fish. School ABFT liver δ^{15} N values were lower than all adult season groups, while muscle values were lower than mid- and late season, but not early season adults. For C:N, adult early and mid-season liver values were significantly lower than late season while school ABFT did not differ from any season group. Muscle C:N values for early season large ABFT and school ABFT were lower than mid and late season fish (Table 23).

Table 23. Mean \pm SD Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) carbon and nitrogen data. Values in the same column for a given tissue type with different superscript letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). *

Significantiy	unicici	n(1 < 0.05).		
	n	CN	$\delta^{13}C$	δ ¹⁵ N
Liver				
Early	37	$7.6 \pm 2.1^{a} (0.28)$	$-17.8 \pm 0.4^{a} (0.02)$	$12.1 \pm 0.8^{\rm a} (0.06)$
Mid	39	$7.9 \pm 2.2^{a} (0.27)$	$-17.7 \pm 0.4^{a} (0.02)$	$12.6 \pm 0.5^{b} (0.04)$
Late	36	$10.8 \pm 4.9^{b} (0.45)$	$-17.8 \pm 0.4^{a} (0.02)$	$12.6 \pm 0.7^{b} (0.05)$
School	15	$9.3 \pm 2.8^{a,b}$ (0.19)	$-18.4 \pm 0.4^{b} (0.03)$	$11.4 \pm 0.3^{\circ} (0.02)$
Muscle				
Early	107	$3.3 \pm 0.3^{a} (0.10)$	$-17.8 \pm 0.3^{a} (0.02)$	$13.5 \pm 0.9^{a} (0.07)$
Mid	61	$4.4 \pm 1.0^{b} (0.22)$	$-17.8 \pm 0.3^{\mathrm{a,b}} (0.02)$	$13.8 \pm 0.9^{b} (0.06)$
Late	217	$4.4 \pm 1.0^{b} (0.23)$	$-17.8 \pm 0.3^{a} (0.01)$	$13.9 \pm 0.8^{b} (0.06)$
School	18	3.3 ± 0.3^{a} (0.01)	$-18.0 \pm 0.3^{b} (0.02)$	$13.0 \pm 0.6^{a} (0.04)$

* Data are grouped by season as early (mid-June – July), mid- (August), and late (September-October) season for large (> 175 cm CFL) ABFT. School (< 155 cm CFL) ABFT are pooled across seasons. Values in parentheses are coefficient of variation (CV, %).

Mixing Model Estimates

Gulf of Maine

Large ABFT

Isotope values for bluefish, groundfish (cod and cusk), and sand lance all differed significantly from other prey sources, allowing them to be entered into mixing models as individual sources (Table 24). Mid-trophic level prey isotope values overlapped, with no significant differences among herring, shortfin squid, and spiny dogfish or Atlantic mackerel and silver hake. Additional overlap was detected among individual prey groups between herring, dogfish, mackerel, and silver hake. Spiny dogfish overlapped significantly with all mid-trophic level species, but were assigned to the lower trophic level guild with shortfin squid and Atlantic herring since their nitrogen isotope values more closely reflected these lower δ^{15} N species.

Sand lance and the herring guild comprised the highest mean proportions followed by the mackerel guild. Groundfish and bluefish had minor contributions (< 10%). Exact proportion estimates were sensitive to assumptions of isotope discrimination, but across a broad range of assumed discrimination factors, the lower trophic level guilds (sand lance, herring guild, mackerel guild) were the dominant prey sources while higher trophic level prey (groundfish and bluefish) were minor contributors (Table 24).

School ABFT

Mixing model estimates showed similar dietary contributions among the three prey groups, although close spacing of isotope values also made results sensitive to discrimination factor estimates (Table 25). ABFT liver values were intermediate among

prey sources after correction for trophic discrimination, which creates uncertainty in mixing model estimates of diet proportions (Phillips and Gregg 2003). While proportion estimates were similar among prey groups, ABFT values were aligned more closely with fish and cephalopod prey than euphausiids, and sand lance, herring, and squid had higher proportion estimates (Table 25).

Maine. Values are pres	sented as mean proportion estimates with upper and lower 9	95% confidence i	intervals.	411 O F
Common name	Scientific name	Lower 95%	Upper 95%	Mean
Sand lance	Ammodytes spp.	0.35	0.58	0.46
Herring guild [*]	Clupea harengus, Illex illecebrosus, Squalus acanthias	0.11	0.57	0.36
Mackerel guild ^{**}	Merluccius bilinearis, Scomber scombrus,	0.00	0.28	0.12
Groundfish ^{***}	Gadus morhua, Brosme brosme	0.00	0.11	0.04
Bluefish	Pomatomus saltatrix	0.00	0.06	0.02
* The herring guild cor	nsists of pooled data for Atlantic herring, shortfin squid, and	d spiny dogfish s	ince their isotope	values did
not significantly differ.				
** The mackerel guild	consists of pooled data for silver hake and Atlantic macker	rel.		

Table 24. Mixing model estimates of prey contributions for adult Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thymnus*) for the Gulf of

*** Groundfish consists of Atlantic cod and cusk.

.

Maine. Values are presented as mea	an proportion estimates with upper and lowe	r 95% confidence	intervals.	
Common name	Scientific name	Lower 95%	Upper 95%	Mean
Sand lance	Ammodytes spp.	0.15	0.58	0.36
Atlantic herring, shortfin squid [*]	Clupea harengus, Illex illecebrosus	0.23	0.54	0.38
Krill	Euphausiidae	0.15	0.37	0.26
* Atlantic herring and shortfin squic	i isotope values were pooled to form a single	group, since thei	r isotope values d	id not

Table 25. Mixing model estimates of prey contributions for school Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus) for the Gulf of

significantly differ.

ø

Mid-Atlantic Bight

Menhaden and swimming crabs each differed significantly from all remaining prey species, while needlefish and swimming crabs were statistically indistinguishable (Table 26). Needlefish and squid isotope data were then pooled as a common prey source in the mixing model. Menhaden were the dominant prey source with a mean proportion of 56 %. Swimming crabs comprised a slightly lower proportion (43 %), while squid and needlefish contributed only 1 % (Table 26).

Table 26. Mixing model estimates of common Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) prey species in Mid-Atlantic Bight (North Carolina) forage grounds.

Common name	Scientific name	Lower 95%	Upper 95%	Mean
Atlantic needlefish,	Strongylura marina,	0.00	0.04	0.01
Longfin squid	Loligo pealeii			
Atlantic menhaden	Brevoortia tyrannus	0.50	0.61	0.56
Iridescent shore crab	Portunus gibbesii	0.38	0.48	0.43

* Atlantic needlefish and longfin squid isotope values were pooled to form a single group, since their isotope values did not significantly differ.

Discussion

Gulf of Maine

Both stomach content and stable isotope results are generally consistent with previous feeding studies in the Gulf of Maine; adults feed primarily on zooplanktivorous fishes and juveniles on fishes and euphausiids. Given the apparent stability in diet across several decades, observed declines in adult condition (Golet et al. 2007) and shifts in local abundance do not appear to be driven by shifts in diet composition. Both liver and muscle C:N values increased significantly across seasons, indicating a general improvement in body condition. School bluefin tuna fed at a lower trophic level than larger conspecifics, which in turn fed at a lower level than other piscivorous fishes. Median and maximum prey sizes increased with bluefin tuna size, but small prey were found across all size classes.

Large bluefin tuna stomach contents were composed mainly of Atlantic herring, a keystone prey species in the Gulf of Maine (Collette et al. 2002; Overholtz 2006). Atlantic herring comprised about half of contents biomass in both this study and a past assessment (Chase 2002). Bluefin tuna diet varies spatially within the Gulf of Maine (Chase 2002). While the specific forage ground was not documented for most stomach samples, all of the commercial size class samples were obtained through a single fishermen's cooperative, whose fleet largely targets the forage grounds in Ipswich Bay and Jeffreys Ledge (R. Campbell, Pers. Comm.). When compared with past stomach content results for this region (Chase 2002), results from this study are remarkably similar, showing Atlantic herring as the major prey component and small contributions from cephalopods, bluefish, Atlantic mackerel, and sand lance. A large proportion of stomach contents from this study were not identified beyond the class level. Much unclassified soft tissue was found in stomachs also containing herring remains and probably was largely composed of highly digested herring. If much of the unidentifiable teleost category is assumed to be herring remains, herring dietary proportions estimates are about 70 % for both studies.

School bluefin tuna stomach contents consisted mostly of sand lance and euphausiid prey, with lesser contributions (< 10 % weight) from juvenile herring and cephalopods. Results agree with past studies on juvenile bluefin tuna in Mid-Atlantic Bight forage grounds, where sand lance was their major prey (Eggleston and Bochenek 1990; Barr 1991). A previous isotope assessment of juvenile bluefin tuna diet in the Gulf

of Maine showed a reliance on crustacean prey (Estrada et al. 2005), which is supported by the prevalence of euphausiids in stomach samples.

Isotope results generally support stomach content findings, with mid-trophic level prey representing the main diet sources for large bluefin tuna. Higher trophic level prey species like bluefish and demersal predators like cod and cusk were minor prey components. Bluefish prey samples actually had higher δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values than large bluefin tuna, indicative of a higher average trophic position. Bluefish are piscivores that consume many of the same prey species as bluefin tuna (e.g., herring, sand lance, cephalopods, and other bluefish (Link and Almeida 2000)), and their elevated trophic status is either a product of their predation on higher trophic level fishes (e.g., gadids and other demersal predators) or feeding by bluefin tuna on lower trophic level prey.

Bluefin tuna liver isotope values closely match isotope values for schooling zooplanktivorous fishes once adjusted for assumed isotope discrimination factors. Previous isotope analyses demonstrated a seasonal shift in carbon isotope values reflective of a dietary shift from silver hake to sand lance and herring (Estrada et al. 2005). While mixing model results generally reflect the same local prey, the absence of a similar seasonal shift in carbon isotope values in lipid-normalized samples suggests that past findings were an artifact of seasonal shifts in tissue lipid content.

The herring guild that comprised a major prey base also contained dogfish and shortfin squid, so prey contributions cannot be distinguished among these three prey species based solely on isotope results. The prevalence of herring in stomach samples and the less frequent and smaller amounts of dogfish and squid suggest that herring are the main prey group within this guild. Herring and cephalopods are both digested rapidly

in marine predator stomachs (Bigg and Fawcett 1985), and dogfish would likely break down more slowly, given their large size. In addition to differential digestion rates, stomach content data could be biased by sampling location and the inclusion of chum. While herring are more prevalent in samples from Jeffreys Ledge (Chase 2002) and commonly used as chum in the local commercial fishery, herring were also major prey components in other major forage grounds (Stellwagen Bank and the Great South Channel (Chase 2002)), and all contents identified as chum were excluded from analysis.

Isotope results show higher proportions of sand lance than stomach contents, which may be due to regional sampling biases. Sand lance are the main prey on Stellwagen Bank (Chase 2002), a region that was likely underrepresented in this study. Adult bluefin tuna travel between local forage grounds within the Gulf of Maine on a timescale of days (Lutcavage et al. 2000) and likely seek available forage across most local regions within a feeding season. Isotopes, which incorporate dietary information over timescales of weeks in tuna liver (Graham et al. submitted), would capture these patterns while stomach contents would not, given that they only incorporate daily dietary . information (Butler and Mason 1978; Carey et al. 1984; Butler 2007).

Juvenile ABFT isotope mixing model outputs did not distinguish any prey group as a dominant prey source, but did indicate slightly higher contributions from fish and cephalopods than crustacean prey. Sample sizes of juvenile ABFT were limited for both SCA and SIA, but combined results suggest a mixed diet of sand lance, juvenile herring, cephalopods, and euphausiids. Juveniles overall fed at a lower TP and on smaller prey than adults.

Mid-Atlantic Bight

Isotope results support stomach content data showing menhaden as the main prey group in the Mid-Atlantic Bight (Butler 2007). Menhaden had a high Δ C:N, indicative of a high lipid content. Dense aggregations of menhaden occupy shelf waters off North Carolina during winter months (Ahrenholz 1991), providing a concentrated, high energy forage base for migrating ABFT. Like herring in the Gulf of Maine, menhaden are a keystone species in the Mid-Atlantic Bight that transfer nutrients from estuaries and coastal waters to the pelagic environment (Deegan 1993).

Mixing model estimates also indicated a major dietary input from swimming crabs whereas previous stomach content analyses found swimming crabs in < 10 % of samples constituting < 1 % of prey biomass (Butler 2007). Inter-study differences could be due to biases associated with each method; stomach data may be overestimating larger prey with slower digestion rates like menhaden while isotope data may be overestimating lower trophic level prey due to incomplete equilibration. Small swimming crabs would likely degrade more rapidly than menhaden, resulting in underestimation in stomach content analyses. Local prey species, particularly menhaden, needlefish, and squid, had elevated δ^{15} N values relative to most prey in other regional forage grounds (see Movement section). These elevated δ^{15} N values could be incorporated during past residency in coastal and estuarine habitats, where anthropogenic nitrogen sources may elevate baseline δ^{15} N values (Schlacher et al. 2005; Bucci et al. 2007; Hadwen and Arthington 2007). Recent migration to the Mid-Atlantic Bight from Gulf of Maine or open ocean forage grounds would cause tissue δ^{15} N values to be low relative to many local prey items. Arrival of ABFT to Mid-Atlantic Bight forage grounds occurs as early

as October, but peak residency is delayed until December and January (Wilson et al. 2005; Walli et al. 2009). Since all isotope samples were collected in December and January, some fish may have been recent immigrants with isotope values reflecting both local and past diets. Estimates of swimming crab isotope values may also have been artificially low, as whole prey samples likely contained chitin, which is known to have lower δ^{15} N values than protein (Schimmelmann and DeNiro 1988; Macko et al. 1990; Webb et al. 1998). While differences in lower trophic level prey between studies cannot be resolved, both techniques show a prevalence of menhaden in ABFT diet. ABFT are clearly making use of this regional aggregation as a prey base during winter months.

Past studies on bluefin tuna species have found variable relationships between tuna and prey sizes. No relationships exist between southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) size and prey size (Young et al. 1997). For Atlantic bluefin tuna, the minimum and median size but not the maximum size of the dominant prey in Mid-Atlantic Bight forage grounds, menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*), increases with tuna size (Butler 2007). A past study of bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Maine found a positive relationship between tuna and prey sizes (Chase 2002). A significant increase in median and maxium prey size was found with bluefin tuna size in this study, due to the inclusion of large prey in adult samples like spiny dogfish and bluefish. Minimum prey size did not vary across sizes, due to the presence of small prey like sand lance and crustaceans. For the Gulf of Maine, bluefin tuna size classes appear to overlap in prey size and species composition, with all size classes consuming smaller prey and many of the same prey species (e.g., herring, sand lance, squids), but with adult bluefin tuna occupying a wider niche, consuming larger individuals of these common species as well as additional larger prey species.

Tissue lipid content increased seasonally for large bluefin tuna for both liver and muscle while school bluefin tuna had high liver lipid content but low levels in muscle tissue. Past analyses of body condition have also showed a seasonal increase in condition for adult bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Maine (Crane 1936; Rivas 1955; Estrada et al. 2005; Goldstein et al. 2007). Bluefin tuna generally arrive in spring and early summer in poor condition (Crane 1936), then attain high lipid content as summer and fall progress (Estrada et al. 2005). In recent decades, this pattern has diminished, with fish arriving in leaner condition and putting on less fat stores as the season progresses (Golet et al. 2007). Diet analyses agree with past assessments, suggesting that adult bluefin tuna still rely mainly on sand lance and herring prey bases in the Gulf of Maine. Condition assessments also show a general increase in tissue lipid content across seasons, although in the absence of a comparable dataset of C:N values from previous decades, relative seasonal increases in lipid content cannot be determined. For school bluefin tuna, muscle lipid content was low while liver had elevated lipid levels similar to late season adults, suggesting that juvenile bluefin tuna might preferentially use liver as a lipid storage site over white muscle.

This assessment of bluefin tuna diet and condition in Gulf of Maine forage grounds demonstrates a consistency in diet and trophic position of adult bluefin tuna relative to previous studies performed over the past twenty years (Chase 2002; Estrada et al. 2005). Observed changes in condition over this time period (Golet et al. 2007) cannot be explained by major diet shifts. A thorough analysis of prey condition was not performed in this study, and bluefin tuna could potentially be consuming the same prey species but of a lower lipid content than previous decades. Comparisons of prey C:N

values showed herring to have the highest lipid content among sampled prey species, although these values could still potentially be lower than past values for herring. Observed patterns in bluefin tuna condition might instead be linked to differences in migratory routes and arrival times to Gulf of Maine forage grounds (Golet et al. 2007) or different reproductive schedules (Goldstein et al. 2007). Delayed arrival of higher proportions of fish to the Gulf of Maine in diminished condition could manifest itself as an overall decline in condition for the local assemblage. Further studies of prey condition in the Gulf of Maine and past movements and arrival times to the Gulf of Maine should improve understanding of observed dramatic declines in condition.

CHAPTER 3

USING STABLE ISOTOPES TO TRACK ATLANTIC BLUEFIN TUNA MOVEMENTS

Spatial gradients in stable isotope ratios occur across the marine environment, resulting in distinct isotope provinces (Hobson 1999; Rubenstein and Hobson 2004; Hobson 2007a; Hobson 2007b). Isotopic values vary among different marine habitat types (France 1995) and across latitudinal gradients (Rau et al. 1982; Rau et al. 1989). Nitrogen isotope values should increase towards higher latitudes in the North Atlantic (Montoya 2007) whereas carbon values should decrease (Rau et al. 1982; Rau et al. 1989; Sharp 2007).

Geographic and habitat-specific isotope gradients in aquatic systems have been used to track animal movements for a range of species (Hobson 1999). Movement between inshore and offshore regions and across latitudinal gradients have been measured for pinnipeds (Burton and Koch 1999), whales (Best and Schell 1996; Mendes et al. 2007), and sea turtles (Reich et al. 2007). Fish movements have been tracked between mangroves and coral reefs (Nakamura et al. 2008), within estuaries (McMahon et al. 2005; Suzuki et al. 2008; Haas et al. 2009), and between coastal and open ocean systems (Rodgers and Wing 2008).

Isotopic analysis of multiple tissues with different turnover rates can provide migratory information over different times scales. A multiple tissue approach is useful in that comparison of tissue types for an individual can provide information on arrival times

to local forage grounds. Fry et al. (2003) described an isotopic classification system for brown shrimp movement and residency based on multiple tissue analyses. If isotope values are similar among tissue types and reflect local values, an individual would be classified as a long term resident. If the faster turnover tissue reflects local prey values, but the slower turnover tissue does not, an individual would be classified as a recent migrant to the region. If neither tissue type reflects local prey values, an individual would be classified as a transient or very recent migrant to the region.

In fishes, liver turns over rapidly relative to white muscle (Suzuki et al. 2005; Logan et al. 2006; MacNeil et al. 2006); comparison of these tissue types can provide both short and long term records of movement and residency. Fairly slow turnover tissues, such as white muscle (Hesslein et al. 1993; MacAvoy et al. 2001), may retain isotopic values representative of past feeding and migration in addition to local conditions (MacNeill et al. 2005; Perga and Gerdeaux 2005), and may be used to infer fish migratory histories (Haas et al. 2009). In a validation of the Fry et al. (2003) classification system, Haas et al. (2009) manipulated movements of estuarine fish and demonstrated that the different migration classifications matched known movement patterns. In these field experiments, fish liver rapidly matched local baseline isotope values while muscle lagged behind, providing a record of past migrations (Haas et al. 2009).

Bluefin tuna occupy forage grounds throughout the north Atlantic including both coastal and offshore areas (Mather et al. 1995), where geographic variations in stable isotope values are known to occur (Hobson et al. 1994; Montoya et al. 2002). They should then provide a good test for identifying the merits of stable isotope analysis as a

chemical tag for tracing large scale movements, and determine the relative contributions of different forage bases and habitats (e.g. inshore vs. offshore) to bluefin tuna diet.

Electronic tagging projects applied to Atlantic bluefin tuna (Lutcavage et al. 1999; Block et al. 2001; Block et al. 2005; Wilson et al. 2005) as well as co-occurring sharks (Skomal et al. 2004), billfishes (Prince et al. 2005) and tunas (Arrizabalaga et al. 2008) in the north Atlantic have increased our understanding of the movements of these highly migratory species (Block et al. 1998a; Block et al. 1998b; Gunn and Block 2001). Electronic tags provide detailed records of geolocation, depth, and temperature and can record information for a single (pop-up satellite archival tag) or multiple years (implantable archival tags) (Gunn and Block 2001). While these tag technologies can answer many questions regarding the movements of large pelagic fishes, they also possess limitations including premature tag shedding, satellite transmission failure, and high costs that generally limit sample size (Gunn and Block 2001; Fromentin and Powers 2005).

Chemical tags like stable isotopes involve relatively inexpensive, routine analyses (Brand 1996; Kelly 2000), and can be measured from frozen tissue samples collected from fishery landings (e.g. Estrada et al. 2005; MacNeill et al. 2005) or non-lethal biopsies (e.g., Kelly et al. 2006; Church et al. 2009). The relative logistical simplicity of stable isotope analyses could make these chemical tracers a useful compliment to more detailed electronic tag records. Chemical tags are also beneficial in that 100 % of the population is labeled by this method, so results will not be biased by spatial differences in tag recapture (Lucas and Baras 2000) or deployment locations.

Tracking Migratory Routes of Atlantic Bluefin Tuna into Gulf of Mexico

Spawning Grounds

Introduction

While electronic tagging studies have been performed on Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) for more than a decade, only a small percentage of fish tagged on forage grounds have traveled to Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds (Lutcavage et al. 1999; Block et al. 2001; Stokesbury et al. 2004; Block et al. 2005; Wilson et al. 2005; Stokesbury et al. 2007). Migration records continue to raise the possibility of alternative spawning grounds (e.g., Lutcavage et al. 1999; Galuardi et al. submitted). Understanding connectivity between forage and spawning grounds is important for management since fishing effort and quotas vary widely across Atlantic forage grounds (Fromentin and Powers 2005), and ICCAT management policies seek to limit take of spawning fish.

Bluefin tuna spawn in the Gulf of Mexico from April to June (Baglin 1982; Mather et al. 1995; Schaefer 2001) in water $\geq 24^{\circ}$ C (Mather et al. 1995; Schaefer 2001; Teo et al. 2007b), with variable arrival, departure, and residence from December to July (Block et al. 2001; Stokesbury et al. 2004; Block et al. 2005; Teo et al. 2007a; Galuardi et al. submitted). Many fish arrive as early as December (Stokesbury et al. 2004; Galuardi et al. submitted) and February (Teo et al. 2007a), several months before the presumed spawning period. Many other large pelagic fishes feed in the Gulf of Mexico (Rooker et al. 2006; Cai et al. 2007), and bluefin tuna arriving during winter are likely using this area to feed prior to spawning. Later arrivals range from late March (Stokesbury et al. 2004; Galuardi et al. submitted) to June (Block et al. 2001; Teo et al. 2007a). Individual

residency varies from one month (Block et al. 2001; Teo et al. 2007a) to more than five months (Galuardi et al. submitted).

Chemical tracers can provide a novel alternative to track migration routes to Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds. Isotopic analysis of slower turnover tissues like muscle would provide a record of previous winter forage grounds while complementary analysis of rapid turnover tissue such as liver would provide information on arrival times and residency in Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds. I generated a habitat and region-based isotope map by analyzing tissue samples from bluefin tuna and other large pelagic fishes sampled throughout the Atlantic (Figure 18). Observed gradients between shelf and offshore regions (Figure 19) were then used to identify previous habitats of bluefin tuna sampled in Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds.



Figure 18. Map of sampling locations from western Atlantic shelf (Nova Scotia (NS), Gulf of Maine (GOM), and Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB)) and offshore (western central Atlantic (WCA) and eastern central Atlantic (ECA)). WCA samples are from Atlantic swordfish (*Xiphias gladius*). All other samples are from adult Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*).



Figure 19. Box plots of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N data from adult bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) grouped by forage ground. Samples are from western Atlantic shelf (Nova Scotia (NS), Gulf of Maine (GOM), and Mid-Atlantic Bight (MAB)) and eastern central Atlantic (ECA). WCA samples are from Atlantic swordfish (*Xiphias gladius*). Data are presented for a) liver δ^{13} C b) muscle δ^{13} C c) liver δ^{15} N and d) muscle δ^{15} N.

Following the residency classification system of Fry et al. (2003), isotope differences between liver and muscle for individual fish should indicate its equilibration state. In fishes, muscle δ^{15} N values in equilibrium with diet are generally higher than liver values (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; Suzuki et al. 2005; Trueman et al. 2005;

Sweeting et al. 2007a), possibly due to differential amino acid composition between tissue types (Pinnegar and Polunin 1999; McClelland and Montoya 2002). Consequently, a fish in long-term equilibrium with local diet (both liver and muscle equilibrated) would be expected to have slightly higher muscle values relative to liver. In a bluefin tuna migrating from shelf (high δ^{15} N) to offshore regions (low δ^{15} N), isotope differences between tissue types should initially increase as the liver rapidly incorporates the lower pelagic δ^{15} N baseline (Figure 20a). For bluefin tuna traveling from offshore onto the shelf, isotope differences should remain fairly low, since liver initially has a lower δ^{15} N than muscle. As liver incorporates the higher shelf baseline, it eventually meets and surpasses δ^{15} N muscle values, until muscle achieves equilibrium, reflecting the shelf baseline (Figure 20b).



Figure 20. Theoretical changes in liver and muscle δ^{15} N values and tissue isotope discrimination for a fish shifting from equilibration with a, b) offshore to shelf and c,d) shelf to offshore ecosystems. Isotope differences during equilibration are reduced for fish shifting from offshore (low δ^{15} N baseline) (offshore) to the shelf (elevated baseline), and elevated for the opposite scenario.

To estimate previous movements of bluefin tuna on Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds, I examined liver and muscle δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values from these fish and compared them with values from individuals sampled in different foraging areas in the north
Atlantic. Muscle, a slow turnover tissue, was used to estimate past movements while liver (rapid turnover) was used to estimate equilibration state and possible biases.

Methods

Samples of liver and muscle were collected by NOAA fisheries observers aboard commercial longline vessels in the Gulf of Mexico in 2007 and 2008 (Table 27; Figure 21). Samples were stored on ice at sea then stored frozen until analysis. Samples were then sub-sampled, lightly rinsed with deionized water, and dried in glass scintillation vials at 65°C for at least 48 hours. Dried samples were homogenized using a Mixer/Mill[®] (SPEX SamplePrep, LLC Metuchen, New Jersey U.S.A) with stainless steel vials. Aliquots of homogenized sample (0.6 – 1.2 mg) were packed into 4 X 6 mm tin cups and analyzed for δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, % carbon, and % nitrogen by continuous flow using a Costech ECS4010 elemental analyzer (Costech Analytical Technologies, Inc, Valencia, CA USA) coupled with a DELTA_{plus} XP isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Bremen, Germany) at the University of New Hampshire Stable Isotope Laboratory (UNH). All C:N values are reported as uncorrected percent weight calculations ($\frac{%C}{%N}$) as opposed to percent atomic weight ($\frac{%C}{%N} \times 1.16667$).

All sample δ^{13} C values were corrected for lipid content *a posteriori* using a mass balance equation (Fry 2002) with parameters specific to ABFT liver and white muscle (Logan et al. 2008). All carbon and nitrogen isotope data are reported in δ notation according to the following equation:

$$\delta X = \left[\left(\frac{R_{\text{sample}}}{R_{\text{standard}}} \right) - 1 \right] * 1000$$

where X is ¹³C or ¹⁵N and R is the ratio ¹³C/¹²C or ¹⁵N/¹⁴N (Peterson and Fry 1987). Standard materials are Vienna Pee Dee belemnite (VPDB) for carbon and atmospheric N₂ (AIR) for nitrogen. Precision is ~ 0.2 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. All δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values were normalized on the VPDB and AIR scales with IAEA CH6 (-10.4 ‰), CH7 (-31.8 ‰), N1 (0.4 ‰) and N2 (20.3 ‰).



Figure 21. Map of locations from the Gulf of Mexico for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver and muscle samples.

Year	Month		Ľ	iver			Mus	cle	
		Male	Female	Unknown	All	Male	Female	Unknown	
2007	March	4	2	0	6	0	0	0	0
	April	S	7	0	12	6	2	Ö	∞
	May	0	0	0	0	S	Γ	0	_
	June	0	0	0	0	<u> </u>	0	0	_
	All	9	9	0	18	12	9	0	N
2008	March	4	S	ω	12	4	S	2	<u> </u>
	April	6	11		18	7	13	1	N
	May	4	16	0	20	11	22	0	w
	June	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	All	14	32	4	50	22	40	3	6
Jnknown	Unknown	0	0	24	24	1	1	26	Ν
Combined.	All	23	41	28	92	35	50	29	

æ

Statistical Analyses

Comparisons were made among pooled shelf, offshore, and Gulf of Mexico liver and muscle samples for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (Table 28). Homogeneity of variance among groups was first assessed using Levene's test. Isotope comparisons among groups were then made using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by pairwise t-tests with $\alpha =$ 0.05 following a Holm test adjustment for multiple comparisons if variance assumptions were not violated. If significant differences were detected among variances, a one-way analysis of means without assumptions of equal variances followed by pairwise comparisons using t-tests with non-pooled standard deviations was performed. Using the same statistical procedures, isotope and C:N values were compared for each tissue type among sampling months (March, April, and May) for the Gulf of Mexico.

Table 28. Mean \pm SD carbon and nitrogen data from Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) and Atlantic swordfish (*Xiphias gladius*) pooled by sampling region. *

Summer boo	neu ey e	umpning region.	
	n	δ ¹³ C	δ ¹⁵ N
Liver ^{**}			
Shelf	117	-17.6 ± 0.5^{a}	$12.9 \pm 1.1^{\mathrm{a}}$
Offshore	113	-17.1 ± 0.8^{b}	9.3 ± 0.7^{b}
Gulfof	92	$-18.1 \pm 0.4^{\circ}$	$11.3 \pm 1.1^{\circ}$
Mexico			
Muscle			
Shelf	252	$\textbf{-17.8}\pm0.3^{\mathtt{a}}$	13.9 ± 0.8^{a}
Offshore	194	-17.1 ± 0.6^{b}	11.1 ± 0.8^{b}
Gulfof	114	$-17.8 \pm 0.4^{\rm a}$	$13.3 \pm 0.9^{\circ}$
Mexico			

* Values in the same column for a given tissue type with different superscript letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).

****** Data are grouped by NW Atlantic shelf, open ocean, and Gulf of Mexico.

To further explore patterns in carbon and nitrogen data within the Gulf of Mexico,

quantile regressions were performed for C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N based on sampling date.

Simple linear regressions were performed for tissue $\delta^{15}N$ relative to C:N to explore possible effects of condition on tissue $\delta^{15}N$.

Using the MASS package in R (R Development Core Team 2008), linear discriminant analysis (LDA) was first applied to the shelf and offshore isotope datasets to estimate classification accuracy using these two groups. Resubstitution error was used to estimate accuracy, where individual samples are removed from the dataset and the discriminant function used to classify the excluded sample is estimated from the remaining samples. LDA was then applied to liver and muscle tissue from the Gulf of Mexico (the mixed stock) to classify individual fish according to past residency (shelf or offshore).

Further comparisons were performed for individual fish that had liver and muscle data. Isotope differences were calculated between tissue types ($\delta^{15}N_{muscle} - \delta^{15}N_{liver}$). Samples were then grouped according to tissue origin classification for liver and muscle (shelf – shelf, offshore – offshore, and offshore – shelf), and isotope differences, $\delta^{13}C$, and $\delta^{15}N$ values were compared among groups using the ANOVA methods described for other group comparisons.

Results

For liver and muscle, ABFT sampled in the NW Atlantic shelf had significantly lower δ^{13} C and higher δ^{15} N values than individuals sampled offshore (Figure 19; Table 28). These significant differences support the use of stable isotopes to distinguish onshore-offshore movements. Liver samples from the Gulf of Mexico had significantly lower δ^{13} C values than either region, while muscle δ^{13} C values were significantly lower than offshore values but not different from shelf samples. Liver and muscle δ^{15} N values for Gulf of Mexico samples were intermediate between shelf and offshore values, and significantly different from each region (Table 28).

Based on quantile regression, significant relationships were detected with ordinal date for C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N (Figure 22). For liver, maximum C:N and median δ^{13} C decreased while maximum δ^{13} C increased with sampling date. For muscle, median C:N decreased while median and minimum δ^{15} N values increased with sampling date (Figure 22). Based on monthly groupings, mean C:N values decreased across months but differences were not significant, while May muscle δ^{15} N isotope values were significantly higher than in March and April (Table 29). No other significant differences were detected. Using linear regression, δ^{15} N was not correlated with C:N for liver or muscle (Figure 23).

Table 29. Mean \pm SD monthly Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) carbon and nitrogen data from the Gulf of Mexico. *

	0			
	n	CN	δ ¹³ C	δ ¹⁵ N
Liver				
March	12	$7.9 \pm 3.1^{a} (0.26)^{**}$	$-18.1 \pm 0.4^{a} (0.03)$	$11.0 \pm 1.4^{a} (0.11)$
April	24	$7.0 \pm 2.4^{\mathrm{a}} (0.10)$	$-18.1 \pm 0.5^{a} (0.02)$	$11.0 \pm 1.3^{a} (0.05)$
May	32	$6.7 \pm 1.7^{a} (0.05)$	$-18.0 \pm 0.5^{\mathrm{a}} (0.01)$	$11.3 \pm 0.8^{a} (0.03)$
Muscle				
March	11	$4.6 \pm 1.2^{a} (0.11)$	$-17.8 \pm 0.3^{a} (0.03)$	$12.8 \pm 1.2^{a} (0.11)$
April	29	$4.1 \pm 0.9^{a} (0.03)$	$-17.7 \pm 0.4^{a} (0.01)$	$12.9 \pm 1.1^{a} (0.04)$
May	46	$3.9 \pm 1.1^{a} (0.02)$	$-17.8 \pm 0.4^{a} (0.01)$	$13.4 \pm 0.7^{b} (0.01)$

* Values in the same column for a given tissue type with different superscript letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).

** Values in parentheses are coefficient of variation (CV, %).



Figure 22. Quantile regressions of a) liver C:N b) liver δ^{13} C c) liver δ^{15} N d) muscle C:N e) muscle δ^{13} C, and f) muscle δ^{15} N values from Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) sampled in the Gulf of Mexico relative to sampling date. Regressions were performed for the i. 95th, ii. 50th, and iii. 5th percentiles.



Figure 23. Linear regressions of a) liver and b) muscle δ^{15} N values relative to tissue C:N for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) sampled in the Gulf of Mexico.

Classification success was 99.1 % for liver and 94.6 % for muscle (Table 30), mainly due to discrimination based on δ^{15} N, since similar classification percentages of 98.7 % (liver) and 93.7 % (muscle) were generated using only δ^{15} N data (Table 30). For Gulf of Mexico samples, liver and muscle values showed that fish more likely occupied coastal rather than offshore forage grounds (Table 31). Shelf assignment was higher for muscle (87.7 %) than liver (60.9 %), and increased across sampling months (Table 31). Classification of individual fish showed three groupings for liver and muscle: shelf – shelf, offshore – offshore, and offshore – shelf (Table 32). No fish had liver classified as offshore and muscle as shelf. Fish classified as offshore (liver) – shelf (muscle) migrants had significantly higher muscle – liver δ^{15} N discrimination than fish with common classifications across tissues (i.e., offshore – offshore and shelf – shelf) (Table 32). Muscle δ^{15} N values significantly differed between groups with liver classified as offshore and shelf migrants (Table 32).

Region	Tissue	Isotope	% Classification
All	Liver	$\delta^{13}C$	69.1
		$\delta^{15}N$	98.7
		δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N	99.1
Offshore	Liver	$\delta^{13}C$	69.4
		$\delta^{15}N$	99.2
		δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N	100.0
Shelf	Liver	δ ¹³ C	68.9
		$\delta^{15}N$	98.2
		δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N	98.2
All	Muscle	$\delta^{13}C$	83.9
		$\delta^{15}N$	93.7
		δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N	94.6
Offshore	Muscle	$\delta^{13}C$	91.8
		$\delta^{15}N$	93.2
		δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N	95.2
Shelf	Muscle	$\delta^{13}C$	80.0
		$\delta^{15}N$	94.1
		δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N	94.2

Table 30. Classification success among shelf and offshore region isotope values of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) based on linear discriminant analysis (LDA).

Table 31. Classification of Gulf of Mexico Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) as migrants from shelf or offshore regions.

Date	N	Tissue	Shelf	Offshore
All	92	Liver	60.9	39.1
April 2007	6		60.7	39.1
May 2007	12		66.7	33.3
March 2008	12		58.3	41.7
April 2008	18		38.9	61.1
May 2008	20		60.0	40.0
Males	23		78.3	21.7
Females	67		56.7	43.3
All	114	Muscle	87.7	12.3
April 2007	8		100.0	0.0
May 2007	13		100.0	0.0
March 2008	11		81.8	18.2
April 2008	21		85.7	14.3
May 2008	33		100.0	0.0
Males	47		100.0	0.0
Females	50		90.0	10.0

* Sample size for "All" does not equal sum of months, because some samples did not have date information.

** Isotop	* Values	Shelf		Offshore			Offshore			Shelf		Liver	Classi	Mig	Table 32. <i>thynnus</i>)
e and CN d	in a given o	Offshore		Shelf			Offshore			Shelf		Muscle	fication	ratory	Tissue isc from the G
lata a	colun	0		22			12			53		n			tope ulf of
re presented as	nn with differen	0		25.3			13.8			60.9	Classification	%			discrimination f Mexico with b
mean \pm SD.	t letter superscript	NA		$0.1 \pm 0.38^{\circ}$			0.5 ± 0.22^{b}			$0.3 \pm 0.33^{a,c}$	Discrimination	δ ¹³ C	;	•	and C:N grouped l oth liver and muse
	s are signific	NA	0.4 ^{a,b}	-18.0±		0.4^{b}	-17.8 ±		0.4^{a}	- 18.1 ±		$\delta^{13}C$	1	Li	oy migratory le data. *
	cantly diffe	NA	0.4 ^b	10.4 ±		0.6^{b}	$10.0 \pm$		0.8^{a}	$11.8 \pm$		$N_{c_1}g$	i	ver	⁷ classificat
	rent (P <	NA	$\pm 0.3^{a}$	-17.9		$\pm 0.3^{b}$	-17.2		$\pm 0.4^{a}$	-17.9		δ ¹³ C		Mu	ion for in
	0.05).	0.3 NA	2 H	13.2	0.9^{b}	H	11.6	0.6^{a}	₩	13.7		$\delta^{15}N$		scle	Idividua
		NA		2.8 ± 0.5^{b}			$1.7\pm0.4^{ m a}$			$1.8\pm0.9^{\mathrm{a}}$	Discrimination	8 ¹⁵ N			l Atlantic bluefin
		NA	2.0 ^a	7.1 ±		1.3^{a}	$6.0 \pm$		2.3^{a}	7.1 ±	CN	Liver			tuna (Th.
		NA	0.8^{a}	4.2 ±		0.7^{a}	$3.9 \pm$		1.4^{a}	4.3 ±	CN	Muscle			unnus

142

e

Discussion

Significant isotope baseline shifts were detected in Atlantic bluefin tuna sampled on shelf and offshore forage grounds, indicating that stable isotopes can provide a novel tracer of their movements between these regions. More pronounced baseline shifts in δ^{15} N between shelf and offshore regions match gradients observed for zooplankton (Graham et al. 2009), with lower values in offshore food webs likely driven by nitrogen fixation (Montoya et al. 2002; Montoya 2007) or condensed food chains associated with less productive systems (Jenkins et al. 1992). The majority (87.7 %) of Atlantic bluefin sampled in the Gulf of Mexico had isotope values suggesting recent occupation of coastal shelf forage grounds.

These results are consistent with conventional and PSAT tagging results showing movements of some adult ABFT from the New England, Canadian, and Carolina shelves (Mather et al. 1995; Block et al. 2001; Stokesbury et al. 2004; Block et al. 2005; Teo et al. 2007a; Walli et al. 2009; Galuardi et al. submitted) to the Gulf of Mexico, although others traveled there via offshore routes (Galuardi et al. submitted). Analysis of catch records in the 1950's suggested a connectivity between seasonal forage grounds in the NW Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds (Rivas 1955), and conventional tagging studies in the 1970's later provided direct evidence (Mather et al. 1995). While results reflect recent and historical findings from catch records and tracking studies, isotope validation is important, because isotope results are not biased by sampling location. All electronic tagging efforts focused on NW Atlantic shelf fishing grounds and can only provide information on linkages between that region and the Gulf of Mexico. Isotopes provide a means of detecting past movements from previously unsampled

regions (e.g., central Atlantic) and offer a more complete representation of bluefin tuna habitats throughout the north Atlantic.

Stable isotope values in soft tissues change with growth, turnover, and nutritional status (Hobson et al. 1993; Gannes et al. 1998), and these characteristics could bias movement estimates. The Atlantic bluefin tuna's range extends from the Mediterranean Sea and eastern Atlantic to the south equatorial Atlantic (Mather et al. 1995). Movements from regions not included in the analysis could also affect classification estimates, although past electronic tagging results have not shown movements from these regions (i.e., eastern Atlantic and Mediterranean Sea).

Starvation during spawning has been proposed based on observations of bluefin tuna in lean condition in the Gulf of Mexico (Rivas 1954; Rivas 1955) and can cause increases in tissue δ^{15} N (Hobson et al. 1993; Doucett et al. 1999; Cherel et al. 2005; Boag et al. 2006) as ¹⁴N is preferentially excreted during the catabolic breakdown of body tissues (Hobson et al. 1993; Gannes et al. 1997). In fishes, increases in δ^{15} N as a result of starvation have been observed for metabolically active tissues (i.e., liver) but not in white muscle (Doucett et al. 1999; Guelinckx et al. 2007). These results suggest that bluefin tuna muscle δ^{15} N should not be affected by possible starvation during migrations or spawning. For salmonids, observed increases in δ^{15} N were related to decreases in tissue C:N (Doucett et al. 1999), as lipid stores were diminished. Correlations were not detected between δ^{15} N and bulk C:N for bluefin tuna liver or muscle, indicating that isotope differences were being driven mainly by baseline shifts rather than nutritional status.

Unlike isotope values of otoliths, used to establish natal origin of ABFT (Rooker et al. 2008a; Rooker et al. 2008b), isotope values in liver and muscle tissues change in relation to growth and metabolic turnover (Gannes et al. 1998). Isotope dynamics in soft tissues pose challenges to their use as migratory tracers. Tissue isotopes will eventually shift towards values more indicative of local diet. The extent of such biases can be assessed through comparison and calibration with fisheries or electronic tagging information indicating bluefin arrival times and residency in the Gulf of Mexico, as well as expected isotope baselines for this region.

Electronic tagging results show fish entering the Gulf of Mexico from December to June (Teo et al. 2007a; Galuardi et al. submitted). Mean residency in the Gulf of Mexico was reported as slightly greater than one month (Teo et al. 2007a), although some exceeded five months (Galuardi et al. submitted). Given the variability in arrival and residence times as well as small sample size of tagged bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Mexico (n = 12), bias of local isotope values is difficult to assess. For a maximum estimated residence time (e.g., fish sampled in late May following a five month residence), tissue isotope values would likely be heavily influenced by local values.

Because prey samples from the Gulf of Mexico were not available, their expected baseline isotope values could not be determined, but SIA analysis of other large pelagic fishes (Rooker et al. 2006; Cai et al. 2007) had values similar to those sampled in the western central Atlantic (Logan et al. 2007b). If bluefin tuna diet in the Gulf of Mexico is similar to these large pelagic fishes, bluefin tuna residency there would be expected to be biased towards an offshore classification. The only fish that had different migratory classifications between tissue types had shelf muscle values and offshore liver values.

These fish also had increased δ^{15} N differences between tissues, indicative of isotopic disequilibrium, and their liver values are likely biased by local baseline values. Muscle δ^{15} N values for mixed-classification fish were significantly lower than fish identified as shelf migrants, indicating a potential bias from local feeding. Since muscle values were still classified as shelf migrants, muscle data for these fish would not show any classification bias.

Muscle, which has a lower metabolic turnover rate than liver in fishes (Suzuki et al. 2005; Logan et al. 2006; MacNeil et al. 2006; Guelinckx et al. 2007), is affected more by growth, with new tissue reflecting the isotope values of local diet. Bluefin tuna growth tends to be elevated during summer and fall and lower in winter (Cort 1991). This heterogeneous growth pattern likely biases bulk muscle isotope values towards periods of increased growth, and thus provides a marker of seasonal forage grounds for fish sampled in winter and spring.

Classification results could also be biased by failure to incorporate values from samples taken across the appropriate geographic range in this analysis. Shelf classification is based on a bluefin tuna dataset from NW Atlantic forage grounds and offshore classification is based on bluefin tuna and swordfish sampled from the western and eastern central Atlantic (Figure 18). Adult Atlantic swordfish in the western central Atlantic feed mainly on ommastrephid squids (Logan et al. 2007a), and occupy a similar trophic position to bluefin tuna in this region based on historical records (Matthews et al. 1977). As such, they should provide a reliable estimate of bluefin tuna isotope values for the western central Atlantic. If fish traveled to the Gulf of Mexico from the eastern

Atlantic or Mediterranean Sea (regions not included in this study), either dispersal route would be falsely classified as western shelf or offshore.

Results from other studies (Estrada et al. 2005; Sara and Sara 2007) provide support for combining eastern and western shelf regions as a common isotope group and offshore and Mediterranean Sea regions as a second group. Isotope results for bluefin tuna sampled in the western Atlantic and the Mediterranean Sea show a similar δ^{15} N baseline shift to the observed gradient between western shelf and pelagic regions (Estrada et al. 2005; Sara and Sara 2007). Prey isotope studies of the eastern Atlantic shelf and Mediterranean Sea regions (Bode et al. 2004; Bode et al. 2007; Sara and Sara 2007; Navarro et al. 2009) also show higher values for the shelf relative to the Mediterranean Sea. This baseline shift appears to propagate to higher trophic levels; albacore tuna (*Thunnus alalunga*) in the Bay of Biscay have higher δ^{15} N values than in the Mediterranean Sea (Goñi et al. In Prep).

Muscle isotope data from bluefin tuna in Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds link them to known coastal feeding grounds such as the New England and Carolina shelves, and are consistent with fisheries and other ecological information. Bluefin tuna utilize productive shelf waters to generate the lipid stores required for migration and spawning (Rivas 1955; Mather et al. 1995; Goldstein et al. 2007; Golet et al. 2007). Their prey in western Atlantic coastal areas consist mainly of densely schooling, planktivorous fishes with high lipid content (Chase 2002; Butler 2007) that provide diet resources to fuel migratory and reproductive activities. Analysis of organochlorine tracers in bluefin tuna from the Gulf of Mexico also indicated previous foraging in western Atlantic shelf waters (Dickhut et al. 2009). Similarly, adult bluefin tuna sampled in Mediterranean Sea

spawning areas had elevated muscle δ^{15} N values indicative of past movements from shelf forage grounds (Sara and Sara 2007). Analyses of δ^{18} O values in otolith cores showed a strong connectivity between NW Atlantic shelf forage grounds and the Gulf of Mexico, with most (94.8 %) fish sampled from the Gulf of Maine and all fish sampled from the Gulf of St. Lawrence showing Gulf of Mexico origin. Connection to the Gulf of Mexico was lower and variable across size classes for fish from Mid-Atlantic Bight forage grounds (Rooker et al. 2008b). Since δ^{15} N values do not appear to be distinct between eastern and western shelf regions, their resolution is insufficient to provide evidence for dispersal patterns in relation to the 45° W ICCAT management boundary, but can demonstrate a link between spawning areas and coastal forage grounds.

A smaller percentage of fish sampled in the Gulf of Mexico (12.3 %) were classified as offshore migrants (Table 31), providing evidence for multiple migratory routes into the spawning area, consistent with PSAT tagging results (Galuardi et al. submitted). Possible bias of local Gulf of Mexico isotope values on these offshore classifications cannot be ruled out, although these fish would need to have resided in the Gulf of Mexico for several months to affect muscle values. If fish traveled from the central Atlantic, they were most likely feeding on ommastrephid squids (Matthews et al. 1977; Logan et al. 2007a). Since electronic tagging efforts are mainly focused on shelf fishing areas, movement of fish with longer periods in pelagic regions would be underrepresented by tagging results. Combined stable isotope and PSAT tagging results (Block et al. 2001; Stokesbury et al. 2004; Block et al. 2005; Teo et al. 2007a; Walli et al. 2009; Galuardi et al. submitted) for Gulf of Mexico bluefin tuna indicate complex migratory patterns. Current results would likely benefit from the inclusion of additional chemical tracers. Analysis of additional isotope tracers (i.e., δ^{18} O) could distinguish between western and Mediterranean Sea values (Rooker et al. 2008a; Rooker et al. 2008b), since regional differences in δ^{18} O are also detectable in fish muscle tissue (Church et al. 2008). Additional chemical tracers, like fatty acids (e.g., Baduini et al. 2006) or organochlorines (e.g., Dickhut et al. 2009), should also provide added resolution for identifying dispersal patterns and foraging grounds of Atlantic bluefin tuna.

How long do Atlantic bluefin tuna spend in the Gulf of Maine? Introduction

Atlantic bluefin tuna (ABFT; *Thunnus thynnus*) occur in the Gulf of Maine from May to October (Lutcavage and Kraus 1995; Mather et al. 1995; Wilson et al. 2005), feeding on Atlantic herring, sand lance, mackerel, and bluefish (Chase 2002). Somatic condition of adult bluefin tuna in this seasonal foraging region has significantly declined in recent decades, possibly as a result of shifts in diet composition or quality (Golet et al. 2007). Alternatively, trends in condition could reflect differences in arrival times and migratory routes to the Gulf of Maine, as fishermen have long believed that changes in quality and appearance of fish landed throughout the commercial fishing season (June-November) are due to different arrival times and migration histories. Comparisons between individual ABFT liver and muscle isotope values provide additional information on estimates of residency time in the Gulf of Maine. These estimates are compared with measurements of muscle condition using C:N ratios as proxies for lipid content (Estrada et al. 2005). This approach offers the advantage of examining condition and migratory

data from a single sample, and may help to explain the basis of inter and intra-seasonal changes in somatic condition.

Methods

Samples of liver and muscle were collected from local fishery landings from 2004 to 2008 (Table 33). Bluefin tuna tissue samples were obtained from the Yankee Fisherman's Cooperative in Seabrook, New Hampshire U.S.A. where they were held in cold storage for < five days, then stored frozen until preparation for analysis. Samples were sub-sampled, lightly rinsed with deionized water, and dried in glass scintillation vials at 65°C for at least 48 hours. Dried samples were homogenized using a Mixer/Mill® (SPEX SamplePrep, LLC Metuchen, New Jersey U.S.A) with stainless steel vials. Alignots of homogenized sample (0.6 - 1.2 mg) were packed into 4 X 6 mm tin cups and analyzed for δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, % carbon, and % nitrogen by continuous flow using a Costech ECS4010 elemental analyzer (Costech Analytical Technologies, Inc, Valencia, CA USA) coupled with a DELTA_{plus} XP isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Bremen, Germany) at the Colorado Plateau Stable Isotope Laboratory of Northern Arizona University (NAU) and the University of New Hampshire Stable Isotope Laboratory (UNH). All C:N values are reported as uncorrected percent weight calculations $\left(\frac{\%C}{\frac{0}{M}N}\right)$ as opposed to percent atomic weight $\left(\frac{\%C}{\frac{0}{M}N}\times 1.16667\right)$.

All sample δ^{13} C values were corrected for lipid content *a posteriori* using a mass balance equation (Fry 2002) with parameters specific to ABFT liver and white muscle (Logan et al. 2008). All carbon and nitrogen isotope data are reported in δ notation according to the following equation:

$$\delta X = \left[\left(\frac{R_{\text{sample}}}{R_{\text{standard}}} \right) - 1 \right] * 1000$$

where X is ¹³C or ¹⁵N and R is the ratio ¹³C/¹²C or ¹⁵N/¹⁴N (Peterson and Fry 1987). Standard materials are Vienna Pee Dee belemnite (VPDB) for carbon and atmospheric N₂ (AIR) for nitrogen. Standard deviations of replicate samples analyzed at both labs were 0.2 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (n = 45) and within-lab precision is ~ 0.2 ‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. All δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values were normalized on the VPDB and AIR scales with IAEA CH6 (-10.4 ‰), CH7 (-31.8 ‰), N1 (0.4 ‰) and N2 (20.3 ‰).

Total	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004			Table 33
18	8	0	7	-	2	Liver		. Samplir
47	18	10	7	6	6	Muscle	June	ng summary c
19	0	ω	-	4	11	Liver		of liver and
61	0	6	10	16	29	Muscle	July	muscle samp
42	0	6	4	31	þææð j	Liver	August	les from At
61	0	21	18	15	7	Muscle		lantic bluefir
30	0	9	ω	7	11	Liver	Septeml	n tuna (<i>Thu</i> i
147	0	26	14	20	87	Muscle	ber	nnus thynnus
7	0	S	0	-	, 	Liver	October) from the (
70	0	9	0	10	51	Muscle		Julf of Maine .

Statistical Analyses

Seasonal trends in bluefin tuna liver and muscle C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N were assessed through quantile regression. Annual comparisons were made for the median (50th percentile) as well as 5th and 95th percentiles to test for patterns in minimum and maximum condition and isotope value in relation to date. Significance was tested using a rank sums test. All quantile regression analyses were performed in the statistics package quantreg in R (R Development Core Team 2008).

To test for possible explanations of the presence of fish in late season in poor somatic condition, adult ABFT liver and muscle samples were grouped by sampling date (Early Season: mid-June – July, Late Season: September-October). August ("Mid-Season") samples were not included in this analysis, as differences were only compared between groups presumed to be recent arrivals and long-term residents. Samples for each seasonal grouping were pooled across sampling years to provide adequate sample sizes. Samples in each season ("Early" and "Late") were grouped based on muscle lipid content (low: C:N \leq 3.5 (lipid content: 2.5 %) and high: C:N \geq 5.0 (lipid content: 8.5 %)).

Three groups were created based on season and condition: "Early Low Lipid (ELL)", "Late Low Lipid (LLL)", and "Late High Lipid (LHL)." No "Early" season fish had high lipids. Muscle lipid content was used as a grouping factor, because white muscle is a major lipid storage site for adult ABFT (Mourente et al. 2001), and recent studies have shown significant changes in these lipid stores in Gulf of Maine bluefin tuna (Golet et al. 2007). For bluefin tuna samples with low early and high late season muscle C:N values, liver and muscle isotope values were compared for both ELL and LHL groups. For muscle, these two groups were also compared with the LLL group. Due to

an inadequate number of liver samples (n = 2), similar comparisons for the LLL group were not performed for liver. Isotope differences (muscle isotope – liver isotope) for individual fish were also compared for early season low C:N and late season high C:N groups. Remaining groups were not included due to inadequate sample sizes.

Homogeneity of variance among groups was assessed using Levene's test. Comparisons of tissue C:N, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N were made using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by pairwise t-tests with $\alpha = 0.05$ following a Holm test adjustment for multiple comparisons. When assumptions of homogeneity of variance were violated, pairwise comparisons using t-tests with non-pooled standard deviations were performed. **Results**

Muscle isotope values were similar for "Early" and "Late" season groups (Table 34). Both groups had a δ^{13} C range of ~ 1.5 ‰ (early season: -18.5 to -16.8 ‰, late season: -18.6 to -17.0 ‰) and δ^{15} N range of ~ 4 ‰ (early season: 11.2 to 15.2 ‰, late season: 11.4 to 15.4 ‰). Coefficient of variation and standard deviation values were also similar between groups for each isotope (Table 34).

	n	CN	$\delta^{13}C$	δ ¹⁵ N
Liver				
Early low lipid	27	$7.8 \pm 2.1^{a^{**}}$	-17.9 ± 0.4^{a}	11.9 ± 0.6^{a}
(ELL) C:N		$(0.27)^{***}$	(0.02)	(0.05)
Late high lipid	14	13.3 ± 6.0^{b}	$-17.6\pm0.4^{\rm a}$	12.6 ± 0.7^{b}
(LHL) C:N		(0.45)	(0.02)	(0.06)
Muscle				
Early low lipid	98	$3.2\pm0.1^{\mathrm{a}}$	-17.8 ± 0.3^{a}	13.4 ± 0.9^{a}
(ELL) C:N		(0.04)	(0.02)	(0.06)
Late low lipid	39	$3.3\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	-17.7 ± 0.3^{a}	$13.4\pm0.8^{\rm a}$
(LLL) C:N		(0.05)	(0.01)	(0.06)
Late high lipid	55	$5.8 \pm 1.0^{\mathrm{b}}$	-17.9 ± 0.3^{b}	14.2 ± 0.7^{b}
(LHL) C:N		(0.17)	(0.01)	(0.05)

Table 34. Mean \pm SD adult Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) carbon and nitrogen data from the Gulf of Maine grouped by muscle lipid content. *

* Data are grouped by season as early (mid-June – July) and late (September-October) season and by muscle C:N content as low (≤ 3.5) and high (≥ 5.0).

** Values in the same column for a given tissue type with different superscript letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).

*** Values in parentheses are coefficient of variation (CV, %).

Regression results revealed inter-annual variability in trends (Figures 24 to 29).

While median muscle C:N values were positively correlated with sampling date,

minimum C:N values were not for either tissue, indicating the presence of low lipid fish across all seasons (Figure 25). Significant relationships were not observed for most δ^{13} C datasets for either tissue type (Figures 26 and 27). Relationships between tissue δ^{15} N and sampling date varied across years, with minimum and median values positively correlated with date in 2004. Median muscle δ^{15} N values also increased across sampling dates in 2004 as well as 2006 (Figure 29).



Figure 24. Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver C:N values for a) 2004 b) 2005 c) 2006 and d) 2007. P-values refer to regressions for the i. 95th percentile, ii. 50th percentile, and iii. 5th percentile.



Figure 25. Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) muscle C:N values for a) 2004 b) 2005 c) 2006 and d) 2007. P-values refer to regressions for the i. 95th percentile, ii. 50th percentile, and iii. 5th percentile.



Figure 26. Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver δ^{13} C values for a) 2004 b) 2005 c) 2006 and d) 2007. P-values refer to regressions for the i. 95th percentile, ii. 50th percentile, and iii. 5th percentile.



Figure 27. Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) muscle δ^{13} C values for a) 2004 b) 2005 c) 2006 and d) 2007. P-values refer to regressions for the i. 95th percentile, ii. 50th percentile, and iii. 5th percentile.



Figure 28. Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) liver $\delta^{15}N$ values for a) 2004 b) 2005 c) 2006 and d) 2007. P-values refer to regressions for the i. 95th percentile, ii. 50th percentile, and iii. 5th percentile.



Figure 29. Quantile regressions for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) muscle δ^{15} N values for a) 2004 b) 2005 c) 2006 and d) 2007. P-values refer to regressions for the i. 95th percentile, ii. 50th percentile, and iii. 5th percentile.

Isotope values varied among season and condition groups for liver and muscle (Table 34). Liver δ^{15} N values from ELL fish were lower than LHL fish, with no differences in δ^{13} C. Liver samples were only available from two LLL fish, so statistical analyses were not performed for this group, but these fish had similar δ^{15} N values (12.8 ± 0.2 ‰) relative to LHL fish (12.6 ± 0.7 ‰) and similar δ^{13} C values (-18.0 ± 0.2 ‰) to

both groups. Late season high C:N muscle samples from LHL fish had significantly lower δ^{13} C and higher δ^{15} N than ELL and LLL groups, with no differences detected for either isotope between low C:N groups. Isotope differences between liver and muscle were significantly different for δ^{13} C but not δ^{15} N between ELL and LHL groups.

Discussion

Bluefin tuna had variable early and late season isotope values, indicative of different diets or residency times in the Gulf of Maine. Since the range of observed isotope values was similar for both seasons, residency cannot be assessed at a fine scale using multiple tissues as a migratory clock (Fry et al. 2003; Fry 2006). If early season fish had similar stable isotope values characteristic of past movements, comparisons of fast (i.e., liver) and slow (i.e., muscle) isotope values to these two end members could provide individual residency estimates (Fry et al. 2003). Since the range of isotope values measured for early season fish contained values characteristic of local Gulf of Maine food webs, isotopes alone cannot distinguish between long term local residency and recent immigration from regions with similar isotope values. However, general patterns can still be assessed since longer term residents in the Gulf of Maine would likely have less variable isotope values than recent migrants from different geographic regions. Variability in muscle isotope values for early and late season fish indicate that they had similar movement and feeding patterns.

While C:N values increased across seasons, individual ABFT with low lipid liver and muscle tissues were observed during all months. The presence of poor condition fish early in the season is not surprising, since they may have migrated long distances or recently spawned (Rivas 1955; Mather et al. 1995; Goldstein et al. 2007). In a historic

162

ζ

study, the weight of large bluefin tuna harvested in mid-summer varied by more than 45 kg (Crane 1936). More recently, variability in muscle condition and δ^{15} N values has been observed for fish sampled from early to mid-summer (Estrada et al. 2005). The presence of fish with limited lipid stores later in the season in September and October is less expected, as these fish are presumed to have spent the past several months foraging in productive local regions. Early and late season fish with poor somatic condition share common isotope values that differ from late season fish with elevated lipid stores, due to either differences in diet or local residency.

While diet segregation cannot be ruled out, stomach content analyses do not demonstrate individual variability in diet that would produce such isotope differences (Chase 2002). Dietary specialization for a generalist predator like the ABFT (Dragovich 1969; Dragovich 1970) would not be expected over the timescale (months) incorporated in muscle isotope values. Diet can vary spatially within the Gulf of Maine (Chase 2002), but ABFT traverse regional forage grounds on a daily basis (Lutcavage et al. 2000) and would not be expected to feed exclusively at a single local forage ground over the time scale of months. Also, while ABFT with elevated lipid stores had higher δ^{15} N values, their δ^{13} C values did not demonstrate a similar stepwise increase, but were instead slightly lower than poor condition fish. While increases in muscle δ^{15} N across trophic levels are greater than changes in δ^{13} C (DeNiro and Epstein 1978; DeNiro and Epstein 1981; Minagawa and Wada 1984), isotope changes caused by a local shift to higher trophic level prey should still cause increases in both isotopes in a consumer's tissue (Figure 18). A decoupling of tissue isotope values, in which δ^{15} N increases but δ^{13} C decreases, would be more consistent with spatial baseline shifts linked to previous

movements (Hobson 1999). This lack of agreement between isotopes suggests that isotopic differences between groups are not caused by trophic separation within the Gulf of Maine.

Observed isotope differences could instead be explained by variable arrival times to the Gulf of Maine, with the poor condition ABFT as recent migrants and individuals with elevated lipid stores being longer term residents. Given that ABFT are known to migrate throughout the north Atlantic across regions with differing isotope baselines (Graham et al. 2009), observed scatter in early season bluefin tuna is not surprising. This variability is likely due to fish arriving to the Gulf of Maine from regions with different isotope baselines (Estrada et al. 2005). Similar scatter in late season fish is less expected as it suggests that the assemblage of ABFT occupying the Gulf of Maine in September and October includes a similar proportion of recent migrants found in June and July.

Some amount of individual isotope variability is to be expected, as factors like feeding rate can affect the magnitude of tissue isotope discrimination (Barnes et al. 2007), and individual fish of the same species consuming the same diet still have a range of δ^{15} N values of ~ 1.4 ‰ (Barnes et al. 2008). The larger range of values observed for ABFT cannot be explained simply by inherent variability, but instead is likely due to variability in equilibration with local prey values. The ~ 4 ‰ range of δ^{15} N values is similar to the baseline shift observed across ocean basins between regions dominated by N₂ fixation and denitrification (Wallace et al. 2006), and matches observed spatial shifts in tuna isotope values between coastal and open ocean forage ground (Table 28).

Electronic tagging studies of ABFT have shown a diversity of movement patterns, with individual differences in migratory routes and arrival times to forage grounds (Block

et al. 2001; Wilson et al. 2005; Galuardi et al. submitted). A metapopulation structure has been proposed as a possible description of ABFT population dynamics, with the north Atlantic population characterized as a collection of sub-populations with unique migratory patterns (Fromentin and Powers 2005). The presence of groups of ABFT in the Gulf of Maine in late season with distinct somatic conditions and isotope values provides evidence for multiple migration schedules for fish occupying this northern forage ground. The presence of poor condition ABFT in late season is likely due to late arrival to Gulf of Maine forage grounds. The causes and implications of these different migration strategies cannot be determined from isotope data alone, but are discussed in the following paragraphs as testable hypotheses for future studies.

Past studies have shown highly variable reproductive states among individuals (Goldstein et al. 2007) and declines in somatic condition (Golet et al. 2007) in recent decades in the Gulf of Maine. These studies have suggested skipped spawning, both temporal and spatial asynchrony in spawning, and migrations from distant regions (e.g., Mediterranean Sea) as possible explanations of observed patterns in condition and reproductive status (Goldstein et al. 2007; Golet et al. 2007). Tunas in open ocean forage grounds in the eastern central Atlantic and western central Atlantic along the edge of the Gulf Stream and Sargasso Sea, as well as the Mediterranean Sea, have lower baseline δ^{15} N values than coastal forage grounds like the Gulf of Maine (Figure 19; Sara and Sara 2007). Recent migration from any of these regions to the Gulf of Maine would likely produce the lower δ^{15} N values observed in muscle samples from poor condition fish. The corresponding slight increase in δ^{13} C for poor condition fish also agrees with patterns of δ^{13} C elevation for tunas and billfishes in offshore regions of the central north Atlantic

near the Gulf Stream edge and Sargasso Sea (Figure 19). ABFT occupy offshore regions of the central north Atlantic near the edge of the Gulf Stream (Lutcavage et al. 1999), which could possibly represent an additional spawning ground (Mather et al. 1995). The Mediterranean Sea is the main spawning ground for ABFT in the eastern Atlantic (Mather et al. 1995), and late season poor condition fish could be crossing the Atlantic from this region.

ABFT harvested in the Gulf of Maine in poor condition as late as October would likely leave this region without the necessary lipid stores to fuel spawning and long distance migrations (Schaefer 2001). These ABFT may skip spawning during the following year (Lutcavage et al. 1999; Wilson et al. 2005; Goldstein et al. 2007). Many ABFT that occupy Gulf of Maine forage grounds in the fall travel to winter forage grounds in the Mid-Atlantic Bight (Block et al. 2001; Wilson et al. 2005) where they feed on aggregations of menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*) and portunid crabs (Butler 2007). Fish leaving the Gulf of Maine in poor condition could undergo the relatively short migration to shelf forage grounds in the Mid-Atlantic Bight and restore lipid reserves by exploiting this prey base. ABFT occupy this winter forage ground from mid-October through May, with peak activity from December to March (Walli et al. 2009). This residency period is of a similar duration to Gulf of Maine residency (Mather et al. 1995; Wilson et al. 2005; Walli et al. 2009), and some ABFT may rely more heavily on the Mid-Atlantic Bight as a feeding area with its dense aggregations of lipid-rich prey (Deegan 2006; Butler 2007).

Combined analysis of condition and isotope data provides quantitative support for historical observations of individual variability in ABFT condition in the Gulf of Maine

(Crane 1936). Commercial fishermen have documented variable condition in bluefin tuna landings (Golet et al. 2007), but causes of this observed variability had not previously been tested. Catch records, conventional and electronic tagging studies, and aerial surveys (Lutcavage and Kraus 1995; Mather et al. 1995; Wilson et al. 2005) have documented the residency of ABFT in the Gulf of Maine, and analysis of landings data has shown a declining trend in the condition of this Gulf of Maine assemblage (Golet et al. 2007). This study contributes to previous information by beginning to test for causality in observed condition trends. Using information reflecting both somatic condition (C:N) and arrival times (isotopes), results from this study support the theory that variable lipid content is related to differences in duration of residency in the Gulf of Maine.

Isotope and C:N data can provide information on an individual's condition at the time of sampling and some estimate of its past migrations, but to better understand relationships between ABFT movements and condition, electronic tagging should be combined with C:N and isotope analyses (Cunjak et al. 2005). Electronic tags and isotopes could provide information on ABFT movements pre- and post-arrival to Gulf of Maine forage grounds while C:N values could provide an index of somatic condition. Muscle tissue for both C:N and isotope analysis could easily be obtained via a non-lethal biopsy in the dorsal musculature during tagging. By gathering all of these data from individual fish, linkages among body condition and arrival times to the Gulf of Maine and subsequent movements could be better defined.
CONCLUSIONS

Tunas are "energy speculators" (Brill 1996) that gamble by expending energy on maintaining a high metabolism and migrating long distances with the expectation of eventual discovery and efficient exploitation of dense prey assemblages. Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) represent an extreme among large pelagic fishes in that they migrate throughout the north Atlantic (Mather et al. 1995) and warm their brain and eyes (Linthicum and Carey 1972), stomach (Carey et al. 1984), and swimming muscles (Carey and Teal 1966) to maximize feeding efficiency in cold, north Atlantic forage grounds. Predictable concentrations of energy-rich prey, such as Atlantic herring and sand lance in the Gulf of Maine and menhaden in the Mid-Atlantic Bight, provide vital fuel for migrations across more oliotrophic regions. Bluefin tuna migrate to regions of high productivity (Walli et al. 2009) to feed on these temporally and spatially ephemeral concentrations of prey.

Atlantic bluefin tuna are commonly described as top predators in the literature, but this classification is inaccurate given that they feed primarily on small schooling fishes and cephalopods. While stomach contents data reveal that many of these predators do consume higher trophic level prey (e.g., bluefish and spiny dogfish), their primary predatory influence is on mid-trophic level species. For both juvenile and adult bluefin tuna on shelf forage grounds, diet consists mainly of zooplanktivorous fishes with juveniles also consuming high proportions of crustaceans.

Across regions, stable isotope results reflect a lower trophic position (TP) than stomach content data. This consistent discrepancy could be due to biases associated with stomach content data, including differential prey digestion rates and inadequate sampling due to rapid gut evacuation rates. If isotope values are not in equilibrium with local prey sources, observed differences in trophic position could instead be biased by dietary information from past forage grounds. In the NW Atlantic, stomach content results show herring and menhaden (Butler 2007) as the major prey species in the Gulf of Maine and Mid-Atlantic Bight, respectively, while isotope results indicate large dietary contributions from sand lance (Gulf of Maine) and swimming crabs (Mid-Atlantic Bight). Stomach content data for juvenile bluefin tuna in the Mid-Atlantic Bight and Bay of Biscay showed a prevalence of schooling fishes while isotopes also reflect contributions from crustacean prey. Both isotopes and stomach content data demonstrate a primary reliance on mid-trophic level prey. Isotope results suggest that any supplements to this midtrophic level diet are provided by lower rather than higher TP prey.

Across forage grounds, bluefin tuna consistently target small prey that tend to form dense aggregations (e.g., herring, euphausiids, cephalopods). Tuna prey are generally small relative to their body sizes compared with many piscivorous predators (Scharf et al. 2000; Ménard et al. 2006). This disparity is evident in nitrogen isotope patterns among co-occuring species. In relative isotope comparisons among bluefin tuna and their higher TP prey, a surprising similarity emerges with select prey species feeding at a slightly higher average TP than their predators. Bluefish (Gulf of Maine) and cephalopods (Bay of Biscay) are among the largest prey species observed in bluefin tuna stomach contents and have higher δ^{15} N values than their predator. These smaller species

feed on large prey items by breaking them down into smaller pieces prior to ingestion (Nixon 1987; Scharf et al. 1997), thus increasing foraging efficiency relative to piscivores that must swallow prey whole (Scharf et al. 1997; Scharf et al. 2009). For tunas, a diet consisting of larger numbers of small prey found in dense aggregations may be more energetically favorable than selecting large individual prey items. Smaller prey are locally more abundant and require less handling time (Scharf et al. 1998). These prey aggregations may allow for relatively efficient ram feeding by tunas. These combined features would make a diet based on lower trophic level prey more energetically favorable for tunas.

Because tunas exploit seasonal aggregations of mid-trophic level prey, their evolutionary strategies have necessarily developed in such a way that allows tunas to exploit this resource most efficiently. Diet analyses reflect a stability to these prey aggregations in the NW Atlantic. Possible future changes in the availability of these resources, including spatial or temporal shifts of existing prey assemblages or regime shifts to other prey species, as a result of fishery removals, climate change, or other factors, could significantly impact these large pelagic species. Catastrophic changes in prey distribution could result in an ineffective gamble by bluefin tuna as they travel to historically rich forage grounds that no longer support high-energy prey aggregations. An example of a shift in feeding strategies as a result of changes in prey availability is observed in juvenile bluefin tuna in the Bay of Biscay. These bluefin tuna have altered their diet from anchovies to euphausiids, apparently shifting diet based on local prey abundance. In this case, movements do not appear to have been affected by ecosystem shifts, although possible energetic effects cannot be quantified without a better

understanding of the relative energetic value of these two prey resources. Future studies should examine the energy density of potential prey species (e.g., Lawson et al. 1998) and the relationship between predator and prey distributions (e.g., Schick and Lutcavage 2009). These additional data would allow the energetic consequences of prey species shifts to be quantified.

To predict effects of ecosystem perturbations on bluefin tuna, a better understanding of the relationship between tuna movement patterns and seasonal availability of prey resources is needed. Recent tagging results showing adult bluefin tuna returning to coastal forage grounds off Nova Scotia (Galuardi et al. submitted) lend support for the theory that individual fish have site fidelity to specific forage grounds. Over the same time period, many bluefin tuna migrate past adjacent Gulf of Maine forage grounds (Galuardi et al. submitted), despite the availability of a stable prey base of herring and sand lance in this location. This apparent discrepancy could in fact lend further support for learned movements, as this assemblage of fish may simply be following a schedule linked to Nova Scotia rather than Gulf of Maine forage grounds. If individual fish are in fact continually reliant on ephemeral prey patches in given regions and seasons, disturbances to such resources could have drastic effects on the condition, reproductive output, and potential survival of these individuals. If they are able to adapt and seek out prey resources in other regions, these individuals may then permanently abandon disrupted forage grounds, even if prey resources later return to such regions. The former scenario could have negative impacts for the tuna population while the latter scenario would affect regional ecosystem structure and supported fisheries.

For bluefin tuna, movement patterns among forage grounds actually appear to be even more complex. Adult bluefin tuna have high inter-individual variability in somatic condition for all sampled locations and dates (Figure 30), indicating variable usage of seasonal forage grounds. While most fish occupying Gulf of Mexico spawning grounds previously used food resources from shelf forage grounds, some individuals instead occupied offshore regions. More detailed comparisons in Gulf of Maine forage grounds suggest that variable condition is related to different migration schedules rather than differences in local diet. Bluefin tuna isotope values have a general periodicity, with δ^{15} N values increasing during summer and fall as tissues equilibrate with shelf forage grounds, followed by a decline during winter and spring residency in offshore regions. Based on this pattern, late season fish with lower $\delta^{15}N$ and C:N values would appear to be late arrivals to the Gulf of Maine. Further questions then remain regarding the status of these fish arriving late to shelf forage grounds. They could arguably have gambled poorly and missed most of the seasonally available prey resources of this region. Rather, they may simply have a completely different migration schedule from fish that arrive earlier in the season instead relying on other seasonal prey aggregations to sustain their migrations. Resolving these differential uses of regional forage grounds will help in understanding the complex interplay between movement, diet, and body condition for this highly migratory species.



Figure 30. Muscle C:N values across sampling dates for Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) sampled from a) the eastern central Atlantic b) Gulf of Maine c) Mid-Atlantic Bight d) Nova Scotia e) Prince Edward Island and f) Gulf of Mexico.

These complex patterns of movement and residency (Block et al. 2001; Wilson et al. 2005; Galuardi et al. submitted) could potentially be resolved with a joint chemical and electronic tagging approach. Stable isotopes are generally most useful as complements to other techniques (Peterson 1999; Fry 2006). Inclusion of additional chemical tracers (e.g., fatty acids and organochlorines (Iverson et al. 2004; Dickhut et al. 2009)), could further clarify feeding and movement history. During tagging operations, non-lethal samples of white muscle and possibly rapid-turnover mucus material (Church et al. 2009) could be collected to provide both recent and past information on diet and migrations through SIA. Analysis of muscle C:N would provide information on body condition at time of tagging, with electronic tagging data revealing subsequent movements, allowing aspects of diet, condition, and movement to be assessed for individual fish. This type of integrated approach would allow for better predictions of how tunas will respond to future perturbations to their environment and prey base.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abend AG, Smith TD (1997) Differences in stable isotope ratios of carbon and nitrogen between long-finned pilot whales (*Globicephala melas*) and their primary prey in the western north Atlantic. ICES Journal of Marine Science 54: 500-503
- Aberle N, Malzahn A (2007) Interspecific and nutrient-dependent variations in stable isotope fractionation: experimental studies simulating pelagic multitrophic systems. Oecologia 154: 291-303
- Adams TS, Sterner RW (2000) The effect of dietary nitrogen content on trophic level ¹⁵N enrichment. Limnology and Oceanography 45: 601-607
- Ahrenholz DW (1991) Population biology and life history of the North American menhadens, *Brevoortia* spp. Marine Fisheries Review 53: 3-19
- Albessard E, Mayzaud P, Cuzin-Roudy J (2001) Variation of lipid classes among organs of the northern krill *Meganyctiphanes norvegica*, with respect to reproduction. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 129: 373-390
- Aloncle H (1964) Note sur le thon rouge de la Baie Ibero-Marocaine. Bulletin de l'Institut des Pêches Maritimes du Maroc 12: 43-59
- Altabet MA (1988) Variations in nitrogen isotopic composition between sinking and suspended particles - implications for nitrogen cycling and particle transformation in the open ocean. Deep Sea Research Part A - Oceanographic Research Papers 35: 535-554
- Anonymous (2003) Report of the sixth GFCM-ICCAT meeting on stocks of large pelagic fishes in the Mediterranean. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 55: 1-84
- Arregui I, Arrizabalaga H, de la Serna JM (2006) Preliminary approach to the experimental design of tagging campaigns for movement rates estimation of east Atlantic bluefin tuna. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 59: 769-788
- Arrizabalaga H, Pereira J, Royer F, Galuardi B, Goñi N, Artetxe I, Arregi I, Lutcavage M (2008) Bigeye tuna (*Thunnus obesus*) vertical movements in the Azores Islands determined with pop-up satellite archival tags. Fisheries Oceanography 17: 74-83

- Arts MT, Ackman RG, Holub BJ (2001) "Essential fatty acids" in aquatic ecosystems: a crucial link between diet and human health and evolution. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58: 122-137
- Baduini CL, Hunt Jr. GL, Pinchuk AI, Coyle KO (2006) Patterns in diet reveal foraging site fidelity of short-tailed shearwaters in the southeastern Bering Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 320: 279-292
- Baglin RE (1982) Reproductive biology of western Atlantic bluefin tuna. Fishery Bulletin 80: 121-134
- Barnes C, Jennings S, Polunin N, Lancaster J (2008) The importance of quantifying inherent variability when interpreting stable isotope field data. Oecologia 155: 227-235
- Barnes C, Sweeting C, Jennings S, Barry J, Polunin N (2007) Effect of temperature and ration size on carbon and nitrogen stable isotope trophic fractionation. Functional Ecology 21: 356-362
- Barr CG (1991) Food and feeding of northern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) and yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*): a comparative study of the food and feeding habits of the northern bluefin tuna off the coast of Virginia. Master's Thesis. Virginia Institute of Marine Science, College of William and Mary
- Bearhop S, Teece MA, Waldron S, Furness RW (2000) Influence of lipid and uric acid on δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values of avian blood: implications for trophic studies. The Auk 117: 504-507
- Bearhop S, Thompson DR, Waldron S, Russell IC, Alexander G, Furness RW (1999) Stable isotopes indicate the extent of freshwater feeding by cormorants *Phalacrocorax carbo* shot at inland fisheries in England. Journal of Applied Ecology 36: 75-84
- Bearzi G, Politi E, Agazzi S, Azzellino A (2006) Prey depletion caused by overfishing and the decline of marine megafauna in eastern Ionian Sea coastal waters (central Mediterranean). Biological Conservation 127: 373-382
- Benson AJ, Trites AW (2002) Ecological effects of regime shifts in the Bering Sea and eastern North Pacific Ocean. Fish and Fisheries 3: 95-113

- Berg J (1979) Discussion of methods for investigating the food of fishes with reference to a preliminary study of the prey of *Gobiusculus havescens* (Gobiidae). Marine Biology 50: 263-273
- Bertrand A, Bard FX, Josse E (2002) Tuna food habits related to the micronekton distribution in French Polynesia. Marine Biology 140: 1023-1037
- Best PB, Schell DM (1996) Stable isotopes in southern right whale (*Eubalaena australis*) baleen as indicators of seasonal movements, feeding and growth. Marine Biology 124: 483-494
- Bigg MA, Fawcett I (1985) Two biases in diet determination of northern fur seals (*Callorhinus ursinus*). In: Beddington JR, Beverton RJH, Lavigne DM (eds) Marine mammals and fisheries. George Allen & Unwin, London, pp 284-291
- Bizzarro J, Robinson H, Rinewalt C, Ebert D (2007) Comparative feeding ecology of four sympatric skate species off central California, USA. Environmental Biology of Fishes 80: 197-220
- Bligh EG, Dyer WJ (1959) A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology 37: 911-917
- Block BA, Dewar H, Blackwell SB, Williams TD, Prince ED, Farwell CJ, Boustany A, Teo SLH, Seitz A, Walli A, Fudge D (2001) Migratory movements, depth preferences, and thermal biology of Atlantic bluefin tuna. Science 293: 1310-1314
- Block BA, Dewar H, Farwell C, Prince ED (1998a) A new satellite technology for tracking the movements of Atlantic bluefin tuna. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95: 9384-9389
- Block BA, Dewar H, Williams T, Prince ED, Farwell C, Fudge D (1998b) Archival tagging of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*). Marine Technology Society Journal 32: 37-46
- Block BA, Teo SLH, Walli A, Boustany A, Stokesbury MJW, Farwell CJ, Weng KC, Dewar H, Williams TD (2005) Electronic tagging and population structure of Atlantic bluefin tuna. Nature 434: 1121-1127

- Boag B, Neilson R, Scrimgeour C (2006) The effect of starvation on the planarian *Arthurdendyus triangulatus* (Tricladida: Terricola) as measured by stable isotopes. Biology and Fertility of Soils 43: 267-270
- Bochenek EA (1989) Virginia's pelagic recreational fishery for tunas and billfishes: biological, socioeconomic, and fishery components for 1983-1985 with comments on the 1986 season. Ph.D. Virginia Institute of Marine Science, College of William and Mary
- Bode A, Alvarez-Ossorio M, Carrera P, Lorenzo J (2004) Reconstruction of trophic pathways between plankton and the North Iberian sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) using stable isotopes. Scientia Marina 68: 165-178
- Bode A, Alvarez-Ossorio M, Cunha M, Garrido S, Peleteiro J, Porteiro C, Valdes L, Varela M (2007) Stable nitrogen isotope studies of the pelagic food web on the Atlantic shelf of the Iberian Peninsula. Progress in Oceanography 74: 115-131
- Bodin N, Le Loc'h F, Hily C (2007) Effect of lipid removal on carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios in crustacean tissues. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 341: 168-175
- Bowen SB (1983) Quantitative description of the diet. In: Nielsen LA, Johnson DL, Lampton SS (eds) Fisheries Techniques. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, pp 325-336
- Bowen WD, Harrison GD (1994) Offshore diet of grey seals, *Halichoerus grypus*, near Sable Island, Canada. Marine Ecology Progress Series 112: 1-11
- Bowman RE, Stillwell CE, Michaels WL, Grosslein MD (2000) Food of northwest Atlantic fishes and two common species of squid. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE-155. 138 pp
- Brand W (1996) High precision isotope ratio monitoring techniques in mass spectrometry. Journal of Mass Spectrometry 31: 225-235
- Brill RW (1996) Selective advantages conferred by the high performance physiology of tunas, billfishes, and dolphin fish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 113: 3-15

- Brown RGB, Barker SP, Gaskin DE (1979) Daytime surface swarming by Meganyctiphanes norvegica (M. Sars) (Crustacea, Euphausiacea) off Brier Island, Bay of Fundy. Canadian Journal of Zoology 57: 2285-2291
- Bucci J, Rebach S, DeMaster D, Showers W (2007) A comparison of blue crab and bivalve δ^{15} N tissue enrichment in two North Carolina estuaries. Environmental Pollution 145: 299-308
- Budge SM, Iverson SJ, Bowen WD, Ackman RG (2002) Among and within-species variability in fatty acid signatures of marine fish and invertebrates on the Scotian Shelf, Georges Bank, and southern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59: 886-898
- Bunn SE, Loneragan NR, Kempster MA (1995) Effects of acid washing on stable-isotope ratios of C and N in penaeid shrimp and seagrass - implications for food-web studies using multiple stable isotopes. Limnology and Oceanography 40: 622-625
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR (1998) Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. Springer, New York
- Burton R, Koch P (1999) Isotopic tracking of foraging and long-distance migration in northeastern Pacific pinnipeds. Oecologia 119: 578-585
- Butler CM (2007) Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) feeding ecology and potential ecosystem effects during winter in North Carolina. Master's Thesis. North Carolina State University
- Butler MJA, Mason JA (1978) Behavioural studies on impounded bluefin tuna. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 7: 379-382

Cade BS, Richards JD (2005) User Manual for Blossom Statistical Software, Reston, VA

- Cai Y, Rooker JR, Gill G, Turner JP (2007) Bioaccumulation of mercury in pelagic fishes from the Gulf of Mexico: evaluating links to dietary history and trophic position using stable isotopes and fatty acids. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 64: 458-469
- Campana SE (1999) Chemistry and composition of fish otoliths: pathways, mechanisms and applications. Marine Ecology Progress Series 188: 263-297

- Campana SE (2004) Photographic atlas of fish otoliths of the northwest Atlantic Ocean. NRC Research Press, Ottawa
- Carey FG, Kanwisher JW, Stevens ED (1984) Bluefin tuna warm their viscera during digestion. Journal of Experimental Biology 109: 1-20
- Carey FG, Lawson KD (1973) Temperature regulation in free-swimming bluefin tuna. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 44: 375-392
- Carey FG, Teal JM (1966) Heat conservation in tuna fish muscle. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 56: 1464-1469
- Carey FG, Teal JM (1969) Regulation of body temperature by bluefin tuna. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 28: 205-213
- Cartes J, Huguet C, Parra S, Sanchez F (2007) Trophic relationships in deep-water decapods of Le Danois bank (Cantabrian Sea, NE Atlantic): trends related with depth and seasonal changes in food quality and availability. Deep Sea Research 54: 1091-1110
- Chase B (2002) Differences in diet of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) at five seasonal feeding grounds on the New England continental shelf. Fishery Bulletin 100: 168-180
- Cherel Y, Hobson K, Bailleul F, Groscolas R (2005) Nutrition, physiology, and stable isotopes: new information from fasting and molting penguins. Ecology 86: 2881-2888
- Chipps SR, Garvey JE (2006) Assessment of food habits and feeding patterns. In: Guy C, Brown M (eds) Analysis and interpretation of freshwater fisheries data. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda
- Church M, Ebersole J, Rensmeyer K, Couture R, Barrows F, Noakes D (2009) Mucus: a new tissue fraction for rapid determination of fish diet switching using stable isotope analysis. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66: 1-5
- Church M, Ebersole JL, Miller B, Wigington C (2008) Patterns of δ^{18} O in fish tissues in two Oregon Coast range streams. Presented at 6th International Conference on

Applications of Stable Isotope Techniques to Ecological Studies, Honolulu, HI, August 25 - 29, 2008

- Clarke MR (1986) A handbook for the identification of cephalopod beaks. Oxford Science Publications, Oxford
- Collette BB, Klein-MacPhee G, editors (2002) Bigelow and Schroeder's Fishes of the Gulf of Maine. 3rd Edition. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C.
- Corriero A, Karakulak S, Santamaria N, Deflorio M, Spedicato D, Addis P, Desantis S, Cirillo F, Fenech-Farrugia A, Vassallo-Agius R, de la Serna J, Oray Y, Cau A, Megalofonou P, De Metrio G (2005) Size and age at sexual maturity of female bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus* L. 1758) from the Mediterranean Sea. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 21: 483-486
- Cort JL (1991) Age and growth of the bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus* (L.) of the Northeast Atlantic. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 35: 213-230
- Cortés E (1997) A critical review of methods of studying fish feeding based on analysis of stomach contents: application to elasmobranch fishes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54: 726-738
- Craig H (1953) The geochemistry of the stable carbon isotopes. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 3: 53-92
- Crane J (1936) Notes on the biology and ecology of giant tuna *Thunnus thynnus*, L., observed at Portland, Maine. Zoologica 212: 207-212
- Cunjak RA, Roussel JM, Gray MA, Dietrich JP, Cartwright DF, Munkittrick KR, Jardine TD (2005) Using stable isotope analysis with telemetry or mark-recapture data to identify fish movement and foraging. Oecologia 144: 1-11
- Das K, Lepoint G, Loizeau V, Debacker V, Dauby P, Bouquegneau JM (2000) Tuna and dolphin associations in the North-east Atlantic: Evidence of different ecological niches from stable isotope and heavy metal measurements. Marine Pollution Bulletin 40: 102-109
- De Boer J (1988) Chlorobiphenyls in bound and non-bound lipids of tissues; comparison of different extraction methods. Chemosphere 17: 1803-1810

- Deegan LA (1993) Nutrient and energy transport between estuaries and coastal marine ecosystems by fish migration. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 50: 74-79
- Deegan LA (2006) Changes in body composition and morphology of young-of-the-year gulf menhaden, *Brevoortia patronus* Goode, in Fourleague Bay, Louisiana. Journal of Fish Biology 29: 403-415
- DeNiro MJ, Epstein S (1977) Mechanism of carbon isotope fractionation associated with lipid synthesis. Science 197: 261-263
- DeNiro MJ, Epstein S (1978) Influence of diet on the distribution of carbon isotopes in animals. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 42: 495-506
- DeNiro MJ, Epstein S (1981) Influence of diet on the distribution of nitrogen isotopes in animals. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 45: 341-351
- Dickhut RM, Deshpande AD, Cincinelli A, Cochran MA, Corsolini S, Brill RW, Secor DH, Graves JE (2009) Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) population dynamics delineated by organochlorine tracers. Environmental Science & Technology ASAP Publication Date (Web): September 28, 2009
- Doucett RR, Booth RK, Power G, McKinley RS (1999) Effects of the spawning migration on the nutritional status of anadromous Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): insights from stable-isotope analysis. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56: 2172-2180
- Dragovich A (1969) Review of studies of tuna food in the Atlantic Ocean. United States Fish and Wildlife Service Special Scientific Report No. 593: 1-21
- Dragovich A (1970) The food of bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in the western North Atlantic Ocean. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 99: 726-731
- Eggleston DB, Bochenek EA (1990) Stomach contents and parasite infestation of school bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* collected from the Middle Atlantic Bight, Virginia. Fishery Bulletin 88: 389-395

- Estrada JA, Lutcavage M, Thorrold SR (2005) Diet and trophic position of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) inferred from stable carbon and nitrogen isotope analysis. Marine Biology 147: 37-45
- Estrada JA, Rice AN, Lutcavage ME, Skomal GB (2003) Predicting trophic position in sharks of the north-west Atlantic Ocean using stable isotope analysis. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 83: 1347-1350
- Fantle M, Dittel A, Schwalm S, Epifanio C, Fogel M (1999) A food web analysis of the juvenile blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus*, using stable isotopes in whole animals and individual amino acids. Oecologia 120: 416-426
- Ferry LA, Caillet GM (1996) Sample size and data analysis: are we characterizing and comparing diet properly? In: MacKinlay D, Shearer K (eds) Feeding ecology and nutrition in fish, Symposium Proceedings, San Francisco State University, pp 71-80
- Fisher LR, Goldie EH (1959) The food of *Meganyctiphanes norvegica* (M. Sars), with an assessment of the contributions of its components to the vitamin A reserves of the animal. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 38: 291-312
- Fisk AT, Hoekstra PF, Gagnon JM, Duffe J, Norstrom RJ, Hobson KA, Kwan M, Muir DCG (2003) Influence of habitat, trophic ecology and lipids on, and spatial trends of, organochlorine contaminants in Arctic marine invertebrates. Marine Ecology Progress Series 262: 201-214
- Fitzgibbon Q, Seymour R, Ellis D, Buchanan J (2007) The energetic consequence of specific dynamic action in southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*. Journal of Experimental Biology 210: 290-298
- Focken U (2004) Feeding fish with diets of different ratios of C3- and C4-plant-derived ingredients: a laboratory analysis with implications for the back-calculation of diet from stable isotope data. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 18: 2087-2092
- Folch J, Lees M, Stanley GHS (1957) A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipid from the animal tissues. Journal of Biological Chemistry 226: 497-509

- Fontán A, Valencia V, Borja Á, Goikoetxea N (2008) Oceano-meteorological conditions and coupling in the southeastern Bay of Biscay, for the period 2001-2005: a comparison with the past two decades. Journal of Marine Systems 72: 167-177
- Forero MG, Hobson KA, Bortolotti GR, Donazar JA, Bertellotti M, Blanco G (2002) Food resource utilisation by the Magellanic penguin evaluated through stableisotope analysis: segregation by sex and age and influence on offspring quality. Marine Ecology Progress Series 234: 289-299
- France RL (1995) Carbon-13 enrichment in benthic compared to planktonic algae: foodweb implications. Marine Ecology Progress Series 124: 307-312
- Froese R, Pauly D (2008) FishBase. World Wide Web electronic publication. www.fishbase.org, version (09/2008).
- Fromentin JM (2009) Lessons from the past: investigating historical data from bluefin tuna fisheries. Fish and Fisheries 10: 197-216
- Fromentin JM, Powers JE (2005) Atlantic bluefin tuna: population dynamics, ecology, fisheries and management. Fish and Fisheries 6: 281-306
- Fry B (2002) Stable isotope indicators of habitat use by Mississippi River fish. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 21: 676-685
- Fry B (2006) Stable isotope ecology. Springer, New York
- Fry B, Baltz DM, Benfield MC, Fleeger JW, Gace A, Haas HL, Quiñones-Rivera ZJ (2003) Stable isotope indicators of movement and residency for brown shrimp (*Farfantepenaeus aztecus*) in coastal Louisiana marshscapes. Estuaries 26: 82-97
- Fry B, Quiñones RB (1994) Biomass spectra and stable isotope indicators of trophic level in zooplankton of the northwest Atlantic. Marine Ecology Progress Series 112: 201-204
- Fry B, Sherr EB (1984) δ^{13} C measurements as indicators of carbon flow in marine and freshwater ecosystems. Contributions to Marine Science 27: 13-47

- Galuardi B, Royer F, Golet W, Logan J, Neilson J, Lutcavage M (submitted) Complex migration routes of Atlantic bluefin tuna question current population structure paradigm. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences
- Gannes LZ, Martínez del Rio C, Koch P (1998) Natural abundance variations in stable isotopes and their potential uses in animal physiological ecology. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 119: 725-737
- Gannes LZ, O'Brien DM, Martínez del Rio C (1997) Stable isotopes in animal ecology: assumptions, caveats, and a call for more laboratory experiments. Ecology 78: 1271-1276
- Gaye-Siessegger J, Focken U, Muetzel S, Abel H, Becker K (2004) Feeding level and individual metabolic rate affect δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values in carp: implications for food web studies. Oecologia 138: 175-183
- Geistdoerfer P (1983) Feeding habits of the blue whiting *Micromesistus poutassou* (Risso, 1826) (Teleostei, Gadidae) in the northeastern Atlantic Ocean. ICES Journal of Marine Science 41: 67-75
- Godley BJ, Thompson DR, Waldron S, Furness RW (1998) The trophic status of marine turtles as determined by stable isotope analysis. Marine Ecology Progress Series 166: 277-284
- Goldstein J, Heppell S, Cooper A, Brault S, Lutcavage M (2007) Reproductive status and body condition of Atlantic bluefin tuna in the Gulf of Maine, 2000-2002. Marine Biology 151: 2063-2075
- Golet W, Cooper A, Campbell R, Lutcavage M (2007) Decline in condition of northern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in the Gulf of Maine. Fishery Bulletin 105: 390-395
- Goñi N, Arrizabalaga H (*In press*) Seasonal and interannual variability of fat content of juvenile albacore (*Thunnus alalunga*) and bluefin (*Thunnus thynnus*) tuna during their feeding migration to the Bay of Biscay. Progress in Oceanography
- Goñi N, Logan JM, Arrizabalaga H, Jarry M, Lutcavage M (In Prep) Diet of albacore tuna (*Thunnus alalunga*) in the Bay of Biscay and Mediterranean Sea using stomach content and stable isotope analyses. Marine Biology

- Graham BS, Koch P, Newsome S, McMahon KW, Aurioles D (2009) Using isoscapes to trace the movements and foraging behavior of top predators in oceanic ecosystems. In: West JB, Bowen GJ, Dawson TE, Tu KP (eds) Isoscapes: understanding movement, pattern and processes on Earth through isotope mapping. Springer
- Graham BS, Popp BN, Fry B, Holland K (submitted) Tissue turnover rates calculated from captive and wild yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares*: implications for using chemical tags in migration studies. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology
- Guelinckx J, Maes J, Van Den Driessche P, Geysen B, Dehairs F, Ollevier F (2007) Changes in δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N in different tissues of juvenile sand goby *Pomatoschistus minutus*: a laboratory diet-switch experiment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 341: 205-215
- Guerra A, Rocha F (1994) The life history of *Loligo vulgaris* and *Loligo forbesi* (Cephalopoda, Loliginidae) in Galician waters (NW Spain). Fisheries Research 21: 43-69
- Gunn J, Block B (2001) Advances in acoustic, archival, and satellite tagging of tunas. In: Block BA, Stevens ED (eds) Tuna: physiology, ecology, and evolution. Academic Press, San Diego
- Haas H, Freeman C, Logan J, Deegan L, Gaines E (2009) Examining mummichog growth and movement: Are some individuals making intra-season migrations to optimize growth? Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 369: 8-16
- Hadwen WL, Arthington AH (2007) Food webs of two intermittently open estuaries receiving ¹⁵N-enriched sewage effluent. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 71: 347-358
- Hammer B, Fogel M, Hoering T (1998) Stable carbon isotope ratios of fatty acids in seagrass and redhead ducks. Chemical Geology 152: 29-41
- Hare PE, Estep MLF (1983) Carbon and nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids in modern and fossil collagens. Carnegie Institute of Washington Yearbook: 410-414

- Hebert CE, Shutt JL, Hobson KA, Weseloh DVC (1999) Spatial and temporal differences in the diet of Great Lakes herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*): evidence from stable isotope analysis. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56: 323-338
- Herzka SZ, Holt GJ (2000) Changes in isotopic composition of red drum (*Sciaenops* ocellatus) larvae in response to dietary shifts: potential applications to settlement studies. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57: 137-147
- Hesslein RH, Hallard KA, Ramlal P (1993) Replacement of sulfur, carbon, and nitrogen in tissue of growing broad whitefish (*Coregonus nasus*) in response to a change in diet traced by δ^{34} S, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 50: 2071-2076
- Hilton G, Houston D, Furness R (1998) Which components of diet quality affect retention time of digesta in seabirds? Functional Ecology 12: 929-939
- Hinke J, Kaplan I, Aydin K, Watters G, Olson R, Kitchell J (2004) Visualizing the foodweb effects of fishing for tunas in the Pacific Ocean. Ecology and Society 9: 10
- Hobson KA (1999) Tracing origins and migration of wildlife using stable isotopes: a review. Oecologia 120: 314-326
- Hobson KA (2007a) An isotopic exploration of the potential of avian tissues to track changes in terrestrial and marine ecosystems. In: Dawson TE, Siegwolf RTW (eds) Stable isotopes as indicators of ecological change. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Hobson KA (2007b) Isotopic tracking of migrant wildlife. In: Michener R, Lajtha K (eds) Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. Blackwell Publishing, Ltd, Malden, MA
- Hobson KA, Alisaiskas RT, Clark RG (1993) Stable nitrogen isotope enrichment in avian tissues due to fasting and nutritional stress: implications for isotopic analysis of diet. The Condor 95: 388-394
- Hobson KA, Gilchrist G, Falk K (2002) Isotopic investigations of seabirds of the North Water Polynia: contrasting trophic relationships between the Eastern and Western sectors. The Condor 104: 1-11

- Hobson KA, Piatt JF, Pitocchelli J (1994) Using stable isotopes to determine seabird trophic relationships. Journal of Animal Ecology 63: 786-798
- Hodum PJ, Hobson KA (2000) Trophic relationships among Antarctic fulmarine petrels: insights into dietary overlap and chick provisioning strategies inferred from stable-isotope (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) analyses. Marine Ecology Progress Series 198: 273-281
- Hoffman AD, Jenson CT, Lien GJ, McKim JM (1999) Individual tissue weight to total body weight relationships and total, polar, and nonpolar lipids in tissues of hatchery lake trout. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 128: 178-181
- Holm S (1979) A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics 6: 65-70
- Honeycutt ME, McFarland VA, McCant DD (1995) Comparison of three lipid extraction methods for fish. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 55: 469-472
- Horn HS (1966) Measurement of overlap in comparative ecological studies. American Naturalist 100: 419-424
- Hunt JJ (1992) Morphological characteristics of otoliths for selected fish in the Northwest Atlantic. Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Science 13: 63-75
- Hyslop EJ (1980) Stomach content analysis a review of methods and their application. Journal of Fish Biology 17: 411-429
- Ibaibarriaga L, Fernández C, Uriarte A, Roel BA (2008) A two-stage biomass dynamic model for Bay of Biscay anchovy: a Bayesian approach. ICES Journal of Marine Science 65: 191-205
- ICCAT (2009) Report of the standing committee on research and statistics (Madrid, Spain, October 5-9, 2009)
- ICES (2008) Report of the Working Group on the Anchovy, ICES Headquarters, 13-16 June 2008. ICES CM2008/ACOM:04

- Ingram T, Matthews B, Harrod C, Stephens T, Grey J, Markel R, Mazumder A (2007) Lipid extraction has little effect on the $\delta^{15}N$ of aquatic consumers. Limnology and Oceanography - Methods 5: 338-343
- Irigoien X, Fernandes J, Grosjean P, Denis K, Albaina A, Santos M (2009) Spring zooplankton distribution in the Bay of Biscay from 1998 to 2006 in relation with anchovy recruitment. Journal of Plankton Research 31: 1-17
- Iverson SJ, Field C, Bowen WD, Blanchard W (2004) Quantitative fatty acid signature analysis: a new method of estimating predator diets. Ecological Monographs 74: 211-235
- Iverson SJ, Frost KJ, Lang SLC (2002) Fat content and fatty acid composition of forage fish and invertebrates in Prince William Sound, Alaska: factors contributing to among and within species variability. Marine Ecology Progress Series 241: 161-181
- Iverson SJ, Lang SLC, Cooper MH (2001) Comparison of the Bligh and Dyer and Folch methods for total lipid determination in a broad range of marine tissue. Lipids 36: 1283-1287
- Jacob U, Mintenbeck K, Brey T, Knust R, Beyer K (2005) Stable isotope food web studies: a case for standardized sample treatment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 287: 251-253
- Jardine T, Cunjak R (2005) Analytical error in stable isotope ecology. Oecologia 144: 528-533
- Jenkins B, Kitching RL, Pimm SL (1992) Productivity, disturbance, and food web structure at a local spatial scale in experimental container habitats. Oikos 65: 249-255
- Jobling M, Breiby A (1986) The use and abuse of fish otoliths in studies of feeding habits of marine piscivores. Sarsia 71: 265-274
- Kaufman L, Brown B (2009) Final technical report to the Northeast Consortium: research on the biology of sand lance in Massachusetts Bay and Stellwagen Bank

- Kelly JF (2000) Stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen in the study of avian and mammalian trophic ecology. Canadian Journal of Zoology 78: 1-27
- Kelly M, Hagar W, Jardine T, Cunjak R (2006) Nonlethal sampling of sunfish and slimy sculpin for stable isotope analysis: How scale and fin tissue compare with muscle tissue. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 26: 921-925
- Kiljunen M, Grey J, Sinisalo T, Harrod C, Immonen H, Jones RI (2006) A revised model for lipid-normalizing δ^{13} C values from aquatic organisms, with implications for isotope mixing models. Journal of Applied Ecology 43: 1213-1222
- Korsmeyer K, Dewar H, Lai N, Graham J (1996) The aerobic capacity of tunas: adaptation for multiple metabolic demands. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 113: 17-24
- Korsmeyer KE, Dewar H (2001) Tuna metabolism and energetics. In: Block BA, Stevens ED (eds) Tuna: physiology, ecology, and evolution. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 35-78
- Koutsikopoulos C, LeCann B (1996) Physical processes and hydrological structures related to the Bay of Biscay anchovy. Scientia Marina 60: 9-19
- Krahn M, Herman D, Matkin C, Durban J, Barrett-Lennard L, Burrows D, Dahlheim M, Black N, LeDuc R, Wade P (2007) Use of chemical tracers in assessing the diet and foraging regions of eastern North Pacific killer whales. Marine Environmental Research 63: 91-114
- Krebs CJ (1998) Ecological Methodology, 2nd ed. Addison Wesley Longman, Inc, Menlo Park, CA
- Lawson J, Magalhaes A, Miller E (1998) Important prey species of marine vertebrate predators in the northwest Atlantic: proximate composition and energy density. Marine Ecology Progress Series 164: 13-20
- Lawson JW, Hobson KA (2000) Diet of harp seals (*Pagophilus groenlandicus*) in nearshore northeast Newfoundland: Inferences from stable-carbon (δ^{13} C) and nitrogen (δ^{15} N) isotope analyses. Marine Mammal Science 16: 578-591

- Lee RF, Polhemus JT, Cheng L (1975) Lipids of the water-strider *Gerris remigis* Say (Heteroptera: Gerridae). Seasonal and developmental variations. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 51: 451-456
- Lema L, Pérez N, Araujo H (2006) Discards of Spanish trawler fleets operating in the Bay of Biscay in 2000. Scientia Marina 70: 173-181
- Lezama A, Boyra G, Caballero A, Irigoien X, Sagarminaga Y (2008) Krill distribution in the Bay of Biscay by means of multifrequency acoustic techniques. International Symposium on Ecosystem Approach with Fisheries Acoustics and Complementary Technologies (SEAFACTS), Bergen, Norway
- Link JS, Almeida FP (2000) An overview and history of the food web dynamics program of the Northeast Fisheries Science Center, Woods Hole, Massachusetts. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE-159: 1-60
- Linthicum DS, Carey FG (1972) Regulation of brain and eye temperatures by bluefin tuna. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 43: 425-433
- Litzow M, Piatt J, Prichard A, Roby D (2002) Response of pigeon guillemots to variable abundance of high-lipid and low-lipid prey. Oecologia 132: 286-295
- Logan J, Haas H, Deegan L, Gaines E (2006) Turnover rates of nitrogen stable isotopes in the salt marsh mummichog, *Fundulus heteroclitus*, following a laboratory diet switch. Oecologia 147: 391-395
- Logan J, Jardine T, Miller T, Bunn S, Cunjak R, Lutcavage M (2008) Lipid corrections in carbon and nitrogen stable isotope analyses: comparison of chemical extraction and modelling methods. Journal of Animal Ecology 77: 838-846
- Logan J, Toppin R, Smith S, Porter J, Lutcavage M (2007a) Contribution of cephalopod prey to large pelagic fish diet in the central north Atlantic Ocean. GLOBEC report #24: The role of squid in open ocean ecosystems. Report of the GLOBEC-CLIOTOP/PFRP workshop, 16-17 November 2006, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA
- Logan JM, Toppin R, Smith S, Porter J, Lutcavage M (2007b) Food web dynamics of large pelagic fishes in the central North Atlantic Ocean. Presented at 1st CLIOTOP (Climate Impacts on Oceanic Top Predators) Symposium, La Paz, Mexico, December 3-7, 2007

- Lucas MC, Baras E (2000) Methods for studying spatial behaviour of freshwater fishes in the natural environment. Fish and Fisheries 1: 283-316
- Lutcavage M, Kraus S (1995) The feasibility of direct photographic assessment of giant bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, in New England waters. Fishery Bulletin 93: 495-503
- Lutcavage ME, Brill RW, Skomal GB, Chase BC, Goldstein JL, Tutein J (2000) Tracking adult North Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in the northwestern Atlantic using ultrasonic telemetry. Marine Biology 137: 347-358
- Lutcavage ME, Brill RW, Skomal GB, Chase BC, Howey PW (1999) Results of pop-up satellite tagging of spawning size class fish in the Gulf of Maine: do North Atlantic bluefin tuna spawn in the mid-Atlantic? Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56: 173-177
- MacAvoy SE, Macko SA, Garman GC (2001) Isotopic turnover in aquatic predators: quantifying the exploitation of migratory prey. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58: 923-932
- Macko SA, Helleur R, Hartley G, Jackman P (1990) Diagenesis of organic matter a study using stable isotopes of individual carbohydrates. Organic Geochemistry 16: 1129-1137
- Macko SA, Lee WY, Parker PL (1982) Nitrogen and carbon isotope fractionation by two species of marine amphipods - laboratory and field studies. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 63: 145-149
- MacNeil MA, Drouillard KG, Fisk AT (2006) Variable uptake and elimination of stable nitrogen isotopes between tissues in fish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63: 345-353
- MacNeill MA, Skomal GB, Fisk AT (2005) Stable isotopes from multiple tissues reveal diet switching in sharks. Marine Ecology Progress Series 302: 199-206
- Mahe K, Amara R, Bryckaert T, Kacher M, Brylinski J (2007) Ontogenetic and spatial variation in the diet of hake (*Merluccius merluccius*) in the Bay of Biscay and the Celtic Sea. ICES Journal of Marine Science 64: 1210-1219

- Martínez del Rio C, Wolf BO (2004) Mass-balance models for animal isotopic ecology. In: Starck JM, Wang T (eds) Physiological consequences of feeding. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York
- Mather FJ, Mason Jr. JM, Jones AC (1995) Historical document: life history and fisheries of Atlantic bluefin tuna. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SEFSC-370, Miami, Fla. 165 pp.
- Mathew S, Karthikeyan M, Shamasundar BA (2002) Effect of water washing of shark (*Scoliodon laticaudus*) meat on the properties of proteins with special reference to gelation. Nahrung/Food 46: 78-82
- Matthews FD, Damkaer DM, Knapp LW, Collette BB (1977) Food of western north Atlantic tunas (*Thunnus*) and lancetfishes (*Alepisaurus*). NOAA Technical Report NMFS SSRF-706
- Mauchline J, Fisher LR (1969) The biology of euphausiids. In: Russell FS, Yonge M (eds) Advances in Marine Biology Volume 7. Academic Press, New York
- Mayzaud P, Virtue P, Albessard E (1999) Seasonal variations in the lipid and fatty acid composition of the euphausiid *Meganyctiphanes norvegica* from the Ligurian Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 186: 199-210
- McClelland JW, Montoya JP (2002) Trophic relationships and the nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids in plankton. Ecology 83: 2173-2180
- McConnaughey T, McRoy CP (1979) Food-web structure and the fractionation of carbon isotopes in the Bering Sea. Marine Biology 53: 257-262
- McCutchan Jr JH, Lewis Jr WM, Kendall C, McGrath CC (2003) Variation in trophic shift for stable isotope ratios of carbon, nitrogen, and sulfur. Oikos 102: 378-390
- McMahon K, Johnson B, Ambrose W (2005) Diet and movement of the killifish, *Fundulus heteroclitus*, in a Maine salt marsh assessed using gut contents and stable isotope analyses. Estuaries 28: 966-973
- Meier S, Klungsoeyr J, Andersen TE, Svardal A (2000) Lipid content of stream macroinvertebrates. Archiv Fur Hydrobiologie 147: 447-463

- Ménard F, Labrune C, Shin Y, Asine A, Bard F (2006) Opportunistic predation in tuna: a size-based approach. Marine Ecology Progress Series 323: 223-231
- Mendes S, Newton J, Reid R, Zuur A, Pierce G (2007) Stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratio profiling of sperm whale teeth reveals ontogenetic movements and trophic ecology. Oecologia 151: 605-615
- Minagawa M, Wada E (1984) Stepwise enrichment of δ^{15} N along food chains: further evidence and the relation between δ^{15} N and animal age. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 48: 1135-1140
- Miyashita S, Tanaka Y, Sawada Y, Murata O, Hattori N, Takii K, Mukai Y, Kumai H (2000) Embryonic development and effects of water temperature on hatching of the bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*. Suisanzoshoku 48: 199-207
- Montoya JP (2007) Natural abundance of ¹⁵N in marine planktonic ecosystems. In: Michener R, Lajtha K (eds) Stable isotopes in ecology and Environmental science, Malden, MA, USA
- Montoya JP, Carpenter EJ, Capone DG (2002) Nitrogen fixation and nitrogen isotope abundances in zooplankton of the oligotrophic North Atlantic. Limnology and Oceanography 47: 1617-1628
- Moore JW, Semmens BX (2008) Incorporating uncertainty and prior information into stable isotope mixing models. Ecology Letters 11: 470-480
- Mourente G, Megina C, Díaz-Salvago E (2001) Lipids in female northern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus thynnus* L.) during sexual maturation. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry 24: 351-363
- Mouw C, Yoder J (2005) Primary production calculations in the Mid-Atlantic Bight, including effects of phytoplankton community size structure. Limnology and Oceanography 50: 1232-1243
- Murry BA, Farrell JM, Teece MA, Smyntek PM (2006) Effect of lipid extraction on the interpretation of fish community trophic relationships determined by stable carbon and nitrogen isotopes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63: 2167-2172

- Nakamura Y, Horinouchi M, Shibuno T, Tanaka Y, Miyajima T, Koike I, Kurokura H, Sano M (2008) Evidence of ontogenetic migration from mangroves to coral reefs by black-tail snapper *Lutjanus fulvus*: stable isotope approach. Marine Ecology Progress Series 355: 257-266
- Navarro J, Louzao M, Manuel Igual J, Oro D, Delgado A, Manuel Arcos J, Genovart M, Hobson KA, Forero MG (2009) Seasonal changes in the diet of a critically endangered seabird and the importance of trawling discards. Marine Biology 156: 2571-2578
- Neilson JD, Smith S, Ortiz M, Lester B (2007) Indices of stock status obtained from the Canadian bluefin tuna fishery. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 60: 976-1000
- Nelson GA, Ross MR (1991) Biology and population changes of northern sand lance (*Ammodytes dubius*) from the Gulf of Maine to the Middle Atlantic Bight. Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Science 11: 11-27
- Nixon M (1987) Cephalopod diets. In: Boyle PR (ed) Cephalopod life cycles volume II. Academic Press, London, pp 201-219
- Nizinski MS (2002) Sand Lances. Family Ammodytidae. In: Collette BB, Klein-MacPhee G (eds) Bigelow and Schroeder's Fishes of the Gulf of Maine. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington and London, pp 496-505
- Olaso I, Cendrero O, Abaunza P (1999) The diet of the horse mackerel, *Trachurus* trachurus (Linnaeus 1758), in the Cantabrian Sea (north of Spain). Journal of Applied Ichthyology 15: 193-198
- Olaso I, Velasco F, Perez N (1998) Importance of discarded blue whiting (*Micromesistius poutassou*) in the diet of lesser spotted dogfish (*Scyliorhinus canicula*) in the Cantabrian Sea. ICES Journal of Marine Science 55: 331-341
- Olaso T, Gutierrez J, Villamor B, Carrera P, Valdes L, Abaunza P (2005) Seasonal changes in the north-eastern Atlantic mackerel diet (*Scomber scombrus*) in the north of Spain (ICES Division VIIIc). Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 85: 415-418
- Orsi Relini L, Garibaldi F, Cima C, Palandri G (1995) Feeding of the swordfish, the bluefin and other pelagic nekton in the western Ligurian Sea. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 44: 283-286

- Ortiz de Zárate V (1987) Datos sobre la alimentación del atún blanco (*Thunnus alalunga* B.) juvenil capturado en el Golfo de Vizcaya. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 26: 243-247
- Ortiz de Zárate V, Cort JL (1986) Stomach contents study of immature bluefin tuna in the Bay of Biscay. ICES-CM H:26: 10 pp
- Ostrand WD, Gotthardt TA, Howlin S, Robards MD (2005) Habitat selection models for Pacific sand lance (*Ammodytes hexapterus*) in Prince William Sound, Alaska. Northwestern Naturalist 86: 131-143
- Overholtz WJ (2006) Estimates of consumption of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) by bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) during 1970-2002: an approach incorporating uncertainty. Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science 36: 55-63
- Paine T (1966) Food web complexity and species diversity. The American Naturalist 100: 65-75
- Parrack M, Phares P (1979) Aspects of the growth of Atlantic bluefin tuna determined from mark-recapture data. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 8: 356-266
- Pauly D, Christensen V, Dalsgaard J, Froese R, Torres F (1998) Fishing down marine food webs. Science 279: 860-863
- Pauly D, Froese R, Sa-a P, Palomares MLD, Christensen V, Rius J (2000) The TrophLab Manual (www.fishbase.org)
- Perga ME, Gerdeaux D (2005) 'Are fish what they eat' all year round? Oecologia 144: 598-606
- Perry A, Low P, Ellis J, Reynolds J (2005) Climate change and distribution shifts in marine fishes. Science 308: 1912-1915
- Peterson BJ (1999) Stable isotopes as tracers of organic matter input and transfer in benthic food webs: a review. Acta Oecologica 20: 479-487
- Peterson BJ, Fry B (1987) Stable isotopes in ecosystem studies. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 18: 293-320

- Peterson BJ, Howarth RW, Garritt RH (1985) Multiple stable isotopes used to trace the flow of organic matter in estuarine food webs. Science 227: 1361-1363
- Phillips D, Gregg J (2003) Source partitioning using stable isotopes: coping with too many sources. Oecologia 136: 261-269
- Phillips D, Newsome S, Gregg J (2005) Combining sources in stable isotope mixing models: alternative methods. Oecologia 144: 520-527
- Phillips DL, Gregg JW (2001) Uncertainty in source partitioning using stable isotopes. Oecologia 127: 171-179
- Pinnegar JK, Polunin NVC (1999) Differential fractionation of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N among fish tissues: implications for the study of trophic interactions. Functional Ecology 13: 225-231
- Polovina JJ (1996) Decadal variation in the trans-Pacific migration of northern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) coherent with climate-induced change in prey abundance. Fisheries Oceanography 5: 114-119
- Post DM (2002) Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods, and assumptions. Ecology 83: 703-718
- Post DM, Layman CA, Arrington DA, Takimoto G, Quattrochi J, Montaña CG (2007) Getting to the fat of the matter: models, methods and assumptions for dealing with lipids in stable isotope analyses. Oecologià 152: 179-189
- Poulard J, Blanchard F (2005) The impact of climate change on the fish community structure of the eastern continental shelf of the Bay of Biscay. ICES Journal of Marine Science 62: 1436-1443
- Preciado I, Velasco F, Olasa I (2008) The role of pelagic fish as forage for the demersal fish community in the southern Bay of Biscay. Journal of Marine Systems 72: 407-417
- Prince E, Cowen R, Orbesen E, Luthy S, Llopiz J, Richardson D, Serafy J (2005) Movements and spawning of white marlin (*Tetrapturus albidus*) and blue marlin (*Makaira nigricans*) off Punta Cana, Dominican Republic. Fishery Bulletin 103: 659-669

- Priol EP (1944) Observations sur les Germons et les Thons rouges capturés par les pècheurs bretons. Revue des Travaux de L'Office Scientifique et Tecnique des Pêches Maritimes 13: 387-439
- R Development Core Team (2008) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria
- Radtke RL, Williams DF, Hurley PCF (1987) The stable isotopic composition of bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) otoliths: evidence for physiological regulation. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 87A: 797-801
- Randall RC, Young DR, Lee H, Echols SF (1998) Lipid methodology and pollutant normalization relationships for neutral nonpolar organic pollutants. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 17: 788-791
- Rau GH, Sweeney RE, Kaplan IR (1982) Plankton ¹³C:¹²C ratio changes with latitude: Differences between northern and southern oceans. Deep Sea Research 29: 1035-1039
- Rau GH, Takahashi T, Marais DJD (1989) Latitudinal variations in plankton δ^{13} C: implications for CO₂ and productivity in past oceans. Nature 341: 516-518
- Reich KJ, Bjorndal KA, Bolten AB (2007) The 'lost years' of green turtles: using stable isotopes to study cryptic lifestages. Biology Letters 3: 712-714
- Richards CE (1965) Availability patterns of marine fishes caught by charter boats operating off Virginia's Eastern Shore, 1955-1962. Chesapeake Science 6: 96-108
- Rivas LR (1954) A preliminary report on the spawning of the western north Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in the Straits of Florida. Bulletin of Marine Science of the Gulf and Carribbean 4: 302-322
- Rivas LR (1955) A comparison between giant bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) from the straits of Florida and the Gulf of Maine with reference to migration and population identity. Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute Seventh Annual Session: 133-149

- Rodgers K, Wing S (2008) Spatial structure and movement of blue cod *Parapercis colias* in Doubtful Sound, New Zealand, inferred from δ¹³C and δ¹⁵N. Marine Ecology Progress Series 359: 239-248
- Rodríguez-Marín E, Arrizabalaga H, Ortiz M, Rodríguez-Cabello C, Moreno G, Kell LT (2003) Standardization of bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, catch per unit effort in the baitboat fishery of the Bay of Biscay (Eastern Atlantic). ICES Journal of Marine Science 60: 1216-1231
- Rodríguez-Marín E, Clear N, Cort JL, Megafonou P, Neilson JD, Neves dos Santos M, Olafsdottir D, Rodriguez-Cabello C, Ruiz M, Valeiras J (2007) Report of the 2006 ICCAT Workshop for bluefin tuna direct ageing. (Instituto Español de Oceanografia, Santander, Spain, 3-7 April 2006). Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 60: 1349-1392
- Roessig J, Woodley C, Cech J, Hansen L (2004) Effects of global climate change on marine and estuarine fishes and fisheries. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 14: 251-275
- Rooker J, Bremer J, Block B, Dewar H, De Metrio G, Corriero A, Kraus R, Prince E, Rodríguez-Marín E, Secor D (2007) Life history and stock structure of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*). Reviews in Fisheries Science 15: 265-310
- Rooker J, Secor D, Zdanowicz V, Itoh T (2001) Discrimination of northern bluefin tuna from nursery areas in the Pacific Ocean using otolith chemistry. Marine Ecology Progress Series 218: 275-282
- Rooker J, Turner J, Holt S (2006) Trophic ecology of *Sargassum*-associated fishes in the Gulf of Mexico determined from stable isotopes and fatty acids. Marine Ecology Progress Series 313: 249-259
- Rooker JR, Secor DH, DeMetrio G, Kaufman JA, Belmonte Rios A, Ticina A (2008a) Evidence of trans-Atlantic mixing and natal homing of bluefin tuna. Marine Ecology Progress Series 368: 231-239
- Rooker JR, Secor DH, DeMetrio G, Schloesser R, Block BA, Neilson JD (2008b) Natal homing and connectivity in Atlantic bluefin tuna populations. Science 322: 742-744

- Rosen D, Trites A (2000) Pollock and the decline of Steller sea lions: testing the junkfood hypothesis. Canadian Journal of Zoology 78: 1243-1250
- Rubenstein DR, Hobson KA (2004) From birds to butterflies: animal movement patterns and stable isotopes. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 19: 256-263

Safina C, Klinger D (2008) Collapse of bluefin tuna in the Western Atlantic. Conservation Biology 22: 243-246

- Sanz Brau A (1990) Sur la nourriture des jeunes thons rouges *Thunnus thynnus* (L. 1758) des côtes du Golfe de Valence. Rapports et Communications Internationales de la Mer Méditerranée 32: 274 pp.
- Sara G, Sara R (2007) Feeding habits and trophic levels of bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* of different size classes in the Mediterranean Sea. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 23: 122-127
- Schaefer K (1998) Reproductive biology of yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*) in the eastern Pacific Ocean. Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission Bulletin 21: 201-272
- Schaefer K (2001) Reproductive biology of tunas. In: Block BA, Stevens ED (eds) Tuna: physiology, ecology, and evolution. Academic Press, San Diego
- Scharf FS, Buckel JA, Juanes F (2009) Contrasting patterns of resource utilization between juvenile estuarine predators: the influence of relative prey size and foraging ability on the ontogeny of piscivory. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66: 790-801
- Scharf FS, Buckel JA, Juanes F, Conover DO (1997) Estimating piscine prey size from partial remains: testing for shifts in foraging mode by juvenile bluefish. Environmental Biology of Fishes 49: 377-388
- Scharf FS, Buckel JA, Juanes F, Conover DO (1998) Predation by juvenile piscivorous bluefish (*Pomatomus saltatrix*): the influence of prey to predator size ratio and prey type on predator capture success and prey profitability. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55: 1695-1703

- Scharf FS, Juanes F, Rountree RA (2000) Predator size prey size relationships of marine fish predators: interspecific variation and effects of ontogeny and body size on trophic-niche breadth. Marine Ecology Progress Series 208: 229-248
- Scheffer M, Carpenter S, de Young B (2005) Cascading effects of overfishing marine systems. Trends in ecology & evolution 20: 579-581
- Schick RS, Lutcavage ME (2009) Inclusion of prey data improves prediction of bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) distribution. Fisheries Oceanography 18: 77-81
- Schimmelmann A, DeNiro MJ (1988) Stable isotope studies on chitin. II. The ¹³C/¹²C and ¹⁵N/¹⁴N ratios in arthropod chitin. Contributions in Marine Science 29: 113-130
- Schlacher TA, Liddell B, Gaston TF, Schlacher-Hoenlinger M (2005) Fish track wastewater pollution to estuaries. Oecologia 144: 570-584
- Schlechtriem CH, Focken U, Becker K (2003) Effect of different lipid extraction methods on δ^{13} C of lipid and lipid-free fractions of fish and different fish feeds. Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies 39: 135-140
- Schmidt K, Atkinson A, Stubing D, McClelland JW, Montoya JP, Voss M (2003)
 Trophic relationships among Southern Ocean copepods and krill: some uses and limitations of a stable isotope approach. Limnology and Oceanography 48: 277-289
- Schmidt K, McClelland J, Mente E, Montoya J, Atkinson A, Voss M (2004) Trophiclevel interpretation based on δ^{15} N values: implications of tissue-specific fractionation and amino acid composition. Marine Ecology Progress Series 266: 43-58
- Secor DH, Zdanowicz VS (1998) Otolith microconstituent analysis of juvenile bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) from the Mediterranean Sea and Pacifc Ocean. Fisheries Research 36: 251-256
- Sharp ZD (2007) Principles of stable isotope geochemistry. Pearson Education, Inc., New Jersey

- Sherman K, Jones C, Sullivan L, Smith W, Berrien P, Ejsymont L (1981) Congruent shifts in sand eel abundance in western and eastern north Atlantic ecosystems. Nature 291: 486-489
- Signa G, Cartes JA, Solé M, Serrano A, Sánchez F (2008) Trophic ecology of the swimming crab *Polybius henslowii* Leach, 1820 in Galician and Cantabrian Seas: influences of natural variability and the Prestige oil spill. Continental Shelf Research 28: 2659-2667
- Sinopoli M, Pipitone C, Campagnuolo S, Campo D, Castriota L, Mostarda E, Andaloro F (2004) Diet of young-of-the-year bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus* (Linnaeus, 1758), in the southern Tyrrhenian (Mediterranean) Sea. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 20: 310-313
- Skomal G, Wood G, Caloyianis N (2004) Archival tagging of a basking shark, *Cetorhinus maximus*, in the western North Atlantic. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 84: 795-799
- Smedes F (1999) Determination of total lipid using non-chlorinated solvents. Analyst 124: 1711-1718
- Smith HS (1929) The composition of the body fluids of elasmobranchs. Journal of Biological Chemistry 81: 407-419
- Smith HS (1936) The retention and physiological role of urea in the Elasmobranchii. Biological Reviews 11: 49-82
- Søreide JE, Tamelander T, Hop H, Hobson KA, Johansen I (2006) Sample preparation effects on stable C and N isotope values: a comparison of methods in Arctic marine food web studies. Marine Ecology Progress Series 328: 17-28
- Soriguer F, Serna S, Valverde E, Hernando J, Martín-Reyes A, Soriguer M, Pareja A, Tinahones F, Esteva I (1997) Lipid, protein, and calorie content of different Atlantic and Mediterranean fish, shellfish, and molluscs commonly eaten in the south of Spain. European Journal of Epidemiology 13: 451-463
- Sotiropoulos MA, Tonn WM, Wassenaar LI (2004) Effects of lipid extraction on stable carbon and nitrogen isotope analyses of fish tissues: potential consequences for food web studies. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 13: 155-160
- -Spitz J, Richard E, Meynier L, Pusineri C, Ridoux V (2006) Dietary plasticity of the oceanic striped dolphin, *Stenella coeruleoalba*, in the neritic waters of the Bay of Biscay. Journal of Sea Research 55: 309-320
- Staudinger MD, Juanes F, Carlson S (2009) Reconstruction of original body size and estimation of allometric relationships for the longfin inshore squid (*Loligo pealeii*) and northern shortfin squid (*Illex illecebrosus*). Fishery Bulletin 107: 101-105
- Steele KW, Daniel RM (1978) Fractionation of nitrogen isotopes by animals a further complication to use of variations in natural abundance of ¹⁵N for tracer studies. Journal of Agricultural Science 90: 7-9
- Stefanescu C, Cartes JA (1992) Benthopelagic habits of adult specimens of *Lampanyctus* crocodilus (Risso, 1810) (Osteichthyes, Myctophidae) in the western Mediterranean deep slope. Scientia Marina 56: 69-74
- Stokesbury M, Cosgrove R, Boustany A, Browne D, Teo S, O'Dor R, Block B (2007) Results of satellite tagging of Atlantic bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, off the coast of Ireland. Hydrobiologia 582: 91-97
- Stokesbury MJW, Teo SLH, Seitz A, O'Dor RK, Block BA (2004) Movement of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) as determined by satellite tagging experiments initiated off New England. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61: 1976-1987
- Sulzman EW (2007) Stable isotope chemistry and measurement: a primer. In: Michener R, Lajtha K (eds) Stable isotopes in ecology and environmental science, 2nd edition, Malden, MA, pp 1-21
- Suzuki K, Kasai A, Nakayama K, Tanaka M (2005) Differential isotopic enrichment and half-life among tissues in Japanese temperate bass (*Lateolabrax japonicus*) juveniles: implications for analyzing migration. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62: 671-678
- Suzuki K, Kasai A, Ohta T, Nakayama K, Tanaka M (2008) Migration of Japanese temperate bass *Lateolabrax japonicus* juveniles within the Chikugo River estuary revealed by δ¹³C analysis. Marine Ecology Progress Series 358: 245-256

- Sweeting C, Barry J, Barnes C, Polunin N, Jennings S (2007a) Effects of body size and environment on diet-tissue δ^{15} N fractionation in fishes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 340: 1-10
- Sweeting C, Barry J, Polunin N, Jennings S (2007b) Effects of body size and environment on diet-tissue δ^{13} C fractionation in fishes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 352: 165-176
- Sweeting CJ, Polunin NVC, Jennings S (2006) Effects of chemical lipid extraction and arithmetic lipid correction on stable isotope ratios of fish tissues. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 20: 595-601
- Takai N, Onaka S, Ikeda Y, Yatsu A, Kidokoro H, Sakamoto W (2000) Geographical variations in carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios in squid. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 80: 675-684
- Tanaka Y, Mohri M, Yamada H (2007) Distribution, growth and hatch date of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* in the coastal area of the Sea of Japan. Fisheries Science 73: 534-542
- Taylor MH, Bascuñán C, Manning JP (2005) Description of the 2004 oceanographic conditions on the northeast continental shelf. US Dep Commer, Northeast Fish Sci Cent Ref Doc. 05-03
- Teo SLH, Boustany A, Dewar H, Stokesbury MJW, Weng KC, Beemer S, Seitz AC, Farwell CJ, Prince ED, Block BA (2007a) Annual migrations, diving behavior, and thermal biology of Atlantic bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, on their Gulf of Mexico breeding grounds. Marine Biology 151: 1-18
- Teo SLH, Boustany AM, Block BA (2007b) Oceanographic preferences of Atlantic bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, on their Gulf of Mexico breeding grounds. Marine Biology 152: 1105-1119
- Thompson DR, Lilliendahl K, Solmundsson J, Furness RW, Waldron S, Phillips RA (1999) Trophic relationships among six species of Icelandic seabirds as determined through stable isotope analysis. The Condor 101: 898-903
- Thomson JJ, Aston FW, Soddy F, Merton TR, Lindemann FA (1921) Discussion on isotopes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series A 99: 87-104

- Trueman C, McGill R, Guyard P (2005) The effect of growth rate on tissue-diet isotopic spacing in rapidly growing animals. An experimental study with Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 19: 3239-3247
- Uriarte A, Prouzet P, Villamor B (1996) Bay of Biscay and Ibero Atlantic anchovy populations and their fisheries. Scientia Marina 60: 237-255
- Van Heezik Y, Seddon P (1989) Stomach sampling in the yellow-eyed penguin: erosion of otoliths and squid beaks. Journal of Field Ornithology 60: 451-458
- Vanderklift MA, Ponsard S (2003) Sources of variation in consumer-diet $\delta^{15}N$ enrichment: a meta-analysis. Oecologia 136: 169-182
- Velasco F, Quintans M (2000) Feeding habits in pelagic longline fisheries: a new methodoligical approach applied to swordfish (*Xiphias gladius*) in central eastern Atlantic. Col. Vol. Sci. Pap. ICCAT 51: 1705-1716
- Wada E, Hattori A (1991) Nitrogen in the sea: forms, abundances, and rate processes. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- Wallace BP, Seminoff JA, Kilham SS, Spotila JR, Dutton PH (2006) Leatherback turtles as oceanographic indicators: stable isotope analyses reveal a trophic dichotomy between ocean basins. Marine Biology 149: 953-960
- Walli A, Teo SLH, Boustany A, Farwell CJ, Williams T, Dewar H, Prince E, Block BA (2009) Seasonal movements, aggregations and diving behavior of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) revealed with archival tags. PLoS ONE 4: e6151
- Webb S, Hedges R, Simpson S (1998) Diet quality influences the δ¹³C and δ¹⁵N of locusts and their biochemical components. Journal of Experimental Biology 201: 2903-2911
- Wilson SG, Lutcavage ME, Brill RW, Genovese MP, Cooper AB, Everly AW (2005) Movements of bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in the northwestern Atlantic Ocean recorded by pop-up satellite archival tags. Marine Biology 146: 409-423
- Wolf BO, Martínez del Rio C, Babson JY (2002) Stable isotopes reveal that saguaro fruit provides different resources to two desert dove species. Ecology 83: 1286-1293

- Young J, Drake A, Brickhill M, Farley J, Carter T (2003) Reproductive dynamics of broadbill swordfish, *Xiphias gladius*, in the domestic longline fishery off eastern Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 54: 315-332
- Young J, Lamb T, Le D, Bradford R, Whitelaw A (1997) Feeding ecology and interannual variations in diet of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, in relation to coastal and oceanic waters off eastern Tasmania, Australia. Environmental Biology of Fishes 50: 275-291

Zaret MR, Rand AS (1971) Competition in tropical stream fishes: support for the competitive exclusion principle. Ecology 52: 336-342